AtkinsRéalis
Teck

For the Environmental Management Area Surrounding Teck Trail Operations

Teck Metals Ltd. December 12, 2024 AtkinsRéalis Ref: 655246

# HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (Pb) - Draft

## **Signature Page**

Prepared By:

Tara Siemens Kennedy, MET, P.Chem, CSAP Senior Risk Assessor and Toxicologist/Technical Director – Risk Assessment

Environment Practice Engineering Services Canada Andrea McCormick, BSc, P.Ag. THEP Project Scientist

Environment Practice Engineering Services Canada

Reviewed By:

Tony Gillett, BASc, P.Eng., CSAP Director – Tailings, Water & Environment –West

Tailings, Water and Environment Metals and Minerals North America



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

## **Notice to Reader**

This document and its contents have been prepared by AtkinsRéalis for the sole benefit of Teck Metals Ltd. to support Teck Metals Ltd. in its submission of a Wide Area Remediation Plan related to contamination on off-site affected properties in the lower Columbia River valley around Trail, BC to the BC Ministry of Environment and Parks. This document is in draft and subject to revision following public consultation. Sections of this draft will be updated prior to any final submission by Teck Metals Ltd. to the BC Ministry of Environment and Parks. AtkinsRéalis assumes no responsibility to any other party in respect of or arising out of or in connection with this document and/or its contents.



**ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT** 

# Contents

Ackno	Acknowledgements9		
Execu	tive Su	mmary	10
1.	Introdu	uction	12
	1.1	Objectives	12
	1.2	Scope and Approach	12
	1.3	Regulatory Standards	13
2.	Projec	t History and Timeline	15
	2.1	Soil	19
	2.1.1	Soil Management Program	19
	2.1.2	Property Development	21
	2.2	Air	21
	2.2.1	Air Quality Program	22
	2.3	Health	23
	2.4	Built Environments	24
	2.4.1	Healthy Homes	25
	2.4.2	Residential Lead Inspection and Pb-Based Paint Screening	25
	2.4.3	Lead Safe Renovation	26
	2.5	Community Connection	26
3.	Previo	us HHRAs	27
	3.1	Phase 1: Problem Formulation	27
	3.2	Phase 2: Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculations	28
	3.3	Phase 3: Revised Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculation	29
	3.4	Phase 4: Additional Data Collection and Probabilistic Risk Calculations	29
	3.5	Evaluation of Trail Homegrown Produce Consumption	30
4.	Soil As	ssessment Approach and Soil, Dust and Air Results	31
	4.1	Soil Assessment Approach	31
	4.1.1	Residential Land	32
	4.1.2	Urban Parks	33
	4.1.3	Agricultural Land	33
	4.1.4	Commercial and Industrial Lands	33



	4.2	Assessment Results	. 33
	4.2.1	Soil	. 35
	4.2.2	Dust	. 38
	4.2.3	Air	. 49
5.	Proble	m Formulation	. 53
	5.1	Setting	. 53
	5.1.1	Climate	. 55
	5.2	COPC Screening	. 55
	5.3	Receptor Screening	. 57
	5.4	Exposure Pathway Analysis	. 57
	5.5	Conceptual Site Model	. 59
6.	Expos	ure Assessment	. 62
	6.1	Exposure Point Concentrations	. 62
	6.1.1	Soil	. 62
	6.1.2	Dust	. 63
	6.1.3	Air	. 64
	6.2	Receptor Characteristics	. 65
	6.2.1	Age Groups	. 65
	6.2.2	Body Weight (BW)	. 65
	6.2.3	Soil Ingestion Rate (SIR)	. 66
	6.2.4	Dust Ingestion and Inhalation Rates	. 67
	6.2.5	Air Inhalation Rates	. 68
	6.2.6	Time Spent Indoors and Outdoors	. 68
	6.3	Bioavailability Assessment	. 68
	6.3.1	Oral Bioaccessibility	. 68
	6.3.2	Inhalation Absorption	. 69
	6.4	Exposure Intake Equations	. 69
	6.4.1	Direct Contact with Soil and Dust	. 69
	6.4.2	Inhalation of Outdoor Air	. 70
7.	Toxicit	y Reference Values for Pb	. 72



8.	Risk	Characterization	. 73
	8.1	Risk Estimates for Residents	. 74
	8.2	Blood Pb Levels Predicted Based on the HHRA	. 77
	8.3	Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail BC	. 79
	8.4	Reconciling the Results of the HHRA with Measured BLLs	. 80
	8.5	Contributions to Overall Exposure	. 82
9.	Trail	Area Specific, Risk-Based Standard for Pb	. 85
10.	Unce	rtainty Analysis	. 88
	10.1	Data Gap	.89
	10.2	Toxicity Reference Values for Pb	89
	10.2	Trail Area Specific Risk-Based Standard	90
	10.0	Interior Health Soil Dh to Blood Dh Balatianahin	
	10.5.		. 90
	10.3.2	2 Background BLL	. 91
11.	Conc	Iusions and Recommendations	. 92
12.	Refe	ences	. 93
In Text	Figu	res	
Figure	2-1: 8	structure and Focus of THEC and THEP	. 16
Figure	2-2: k	Xey Milestones for the Trail Area Health and Environment Program (1990 to 2024)	. 18
Figure	4-1: 2 4-2: 2	015 Soli Prolite Analysis for PD	. 32 39
Figure	4-3·1	adoor Dust Pb Concentrations Compared to Soil Pb Concentrations	42
Figure	4-4: [	Dust Mat Pb Concentrations Compared to Soil Pb Concentrations	. 42
Figure	4-5: 1	eck Community Air Monitoring Stations	. 46
Figure	4-6: N	/lean Annual Dustfall Loading (mg/dm²/day) (2003 – 2023)	. 49
Figure	4-7: N	lean Annual TSP Pb Concentrations Measured at Butler Park and Birchbank (2010 – 202	3)
			. 50
Figure	4-8: N	Alean Annual PM <sub>10</sub> Pb Concentrations Measured at Butler Park, Birchbank, Warfield and Columbia Gardens (2010 – 2023)	.52
Figure	5-1: 1	The Trail Environmental Management Area Boundary and THEP Areas	. 54
Figure	5-2: 1	rend of Blood Pb Geomean by Area, Years 1991 to 2023 (From Interior Health, 2023)	. 56
Figure	5-3: H	luman Health Conceptual Site Model for Pb from the Teck Trail Smelter	. 60
Figure	5-4: H	luman Health Conceptual Site Model – Potential Pb Exposure Pathways in the Home	
<u> </u>	E	nvironment (THEP, 2022)	. 61
⊢ıgure	8-1: E	BLLS Predicted Based on the Results of the HHRA vs. Soil Pb Concentrations –	=-
Einen		oung Unid, Reasonable Maximum Scenario	. 78
rigure	ŏ-∠: Ŀ ∖	ound Child Central Tendency Scenario	79
		oung onita, contrai rendency ocenano	0



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 6

#### In Text Figures (Cont'd)

Figure 8-3:	BLLs Predicted Based on the Results of the HHRA (Young Child, RM and CT Scenarios)
	and Measured BLLs vs. Soil Pb Concentrations
Figure 8-4:	Estimated contribution of inhalation (indoor dust, dust from soil and TSP in current
	emissions) and ingestion (soil and outdoor dust, indoor dust) to overall exposure, based on
	the results of the HHRA
Figure 8-5:	Mean Annual BLLs (µg/dL), Stack Emissions (100s of tonnes Pb) and TSP (µg/m³)
-	(1991 to 2023)

#### **In-Text Tables**

Table 4-1:	Summary of SMP Activities by Year	34
Table 4-2:	Summary Statistics for Surface Soil Pb in Residential/Urban Park Areas by Neighbourhoo	d 37
Table 4-3:	2016 Dust Study Summary Findings for Dust Mats	39
Table 4-4:	2016 Dust Study Summary Findings for Indoor Dustfall	40
Table 4-5:	2016 Dust Study Summary Findings for Outdoor Dustfall	40
Table 4-6:	Comparison of 2016 Dust Study Data to 1990s Dust Data for Sentinel Homes	41
Table 4-7:	Air Monitoring Station Locations and Parameters Monitored	47
Table 4-8:	Mean Annual Dustfall Loading (mg/dm²/day) (2003-2023)	48
Table 4-9:	Mean Annual TSP Pb Concentrations (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (2010-2023)	50
Table 4-10:	Mean, Annual PM <sub>10</sub> Pb Concentrations (µg/m <sup>3</sup> ) (2010-2023)	51
Table 6-1:	Soil Pb EPCs by Neighbourhood	63
Table 6-2:	Modelled Indoor Dust Pb EPCs by Neighbourhood	64
Table 6-3:	Body Weights	65
Table 6-4:	Soil Ingestion Rates	66
Table 6-5:	Indoor Dust Ingestion Rates	67
Table 6-6:	Dust Inhalation Rates	68
Table 8-1:	Hazard Indices for Residential Receptors	75
Table 8-2:	Blood Pb Levels Predicted for Young Children Based on the HIs from the HHRA – RM	
	and CT Scenarios	77

#### Tables (Provided in Separate Excel File)

- 1. Soil Management Program Property Status 2007 to 2022
- 2. 2022 Family and Property Status Update
- 3. 2022 Summary of Soil Assessment and Ground Cover Evaluation
- 4. 2022 Summary of Soil Remediation Activities
- 5. 2023 Prioritization and Remediation Planning of P1 Properties
- 6. 2023 Secondary Prioritization of P2 Properties

#### Drawings (Provided in Separate File)

- Map Book 1 THEP Surface Soil Status
- Map Book 2 THEP Excavation Base Soil Status
- Map Book 3 THEP Remediation Priority Status



#### Appendices

- A: Risk Estimates for Central Tendency (CT), Reasonable Maximum (RM) and Protocol 1 Scenarios (Tables I-1 to I-60)
- B: ProUCL Outputs
- C: Worked Calculations



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

# Acknowledgements

AtkinsRéalis and Teck Metals Inc. (Teck) gratefully acknowledge the invaluable contributions of the members of the Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) Working Group to this report. The HHRA Working Group included the authors of the report, Pb risk assessment experts and representatives from Teck, the BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy (BC ENV), Interior Health, and the BC Ministry of Health. The members of the HHRA Working Group included:

- Dr. Karin Goodison, Medical Health Officer, Interior Health
- Dr. Ray Copes, Consultant to Interior Health
- Leanne Cusack, Public Health Epidemiologist, Epidemiology & Surveillance Unit, Interior Health
- Jenna Le Noble, Surveillance Analyst, Epidemiology & Surveillance Unit, Interior Health
- Anders Erickson, Human Health Risk Assessment Specialist, Health Protection Branch, BC Ministry of Health
- Jasen Nelson, Senior Risk Assessment Officer, BC ENV
- Lavinia Zanini, Senior Contaminated Sites Officer, BC ENV
- Alma Feldpausch, Principal, Health Sciences, Ramboll
- Dr. Rosalind Schoof, Principal, Ramboll
- Clare North, Superintendent, Environmental Remediation, Teck Metals Ltd.
- David Bell, Senior Environmental Specialist, Teck Metals Ltd.



# **Executive Summary**

On behalf of Teck Metals Ltd. (Teck), AtkinsRéalis Canada Inc. (AtkinsRéalis), formerly SNC-Lavalin Inc., has prepared this DRAFT Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) for lead (Pb) in the Trail, BC area. This report has been prepared for review by the HHRA Working Group<sup>1</sup>, including the BC Ministry of Environment and Parks (BC ENV). The HHRA Working Group, which includes the authors of the report, Pb risk assessment experts and representatives from Teck, the BC ENV, Interior Health, and the BC Ministry of Health, was established to guide the development of the HHRA for Pb and ensure it incorporates the most up-to-date science and is appropriate for the specific Trail area context.

The HHRA was conducted to assess human health risks associated with exposure to Pb from Teck Trail Operations<sup>2</sup> in the Environmental Management Area (EM Area)<sup>3</sup>. A simplified probabilistic approach was used, with three scenarios used to evaluate risks to residents in the EM Area, including a reasonable maximum (RM) scenario or worst-case scenario, a central tendency (CT) scenario which represents an average or more typical exposure scenario, and a Protocol 1 scenario which was included to comply with BC ENV's requirements for deterministic risk assessment. The characterization of residential receptors is protective of other receptor groups, with further information required to understand the Indigenous peoples' traditional use of plants in the EM Area.

The results of the HHRA predicted hazard indices (HIs) for infants exposed to Pb in indoor dust and air, as well as young children and older children exposed Pb in soil and dust on other outdoor surface, indoor dust and air, greater than the CSR risk-based standard of 1.0 in select neighbourhoods in the EM Area.

Given the conservatism in the HHRA model, which assumes a linear Pb exposure to blood Pb level (BLL) dose-response, compounded by the conservatism in the assumptions made, including that people would not wash their hands or take precautions to prevent ingestion or soil and dust, the RM scenario grossly overestimates exposures to Pb, and while the Protocol 1 scenario is moderately less conservative, it too overestimates exposures. These findings were supported by the blood Pb data that has been collected in the Trail area for the last 22 years, with the BLLs predicted by the HHRA for all three scenarios higher than the BLLs measured in the EM Area. While the CT scenario also overpredicts exposure and associated risk, the HIs estimated for this exposure scenario are more reasonable and more accurately reflect potential Pb exposures in the Trail area.

Given the conservatism in the estimates, where the CT scenario predicted risks were less than the CSR risk-based standard of an  $HI \leq 1$ , there is confidence that health risks are negligible. Using this approach, negligible human health risks are predicted for adolescents and adults across all neighbourhoods in the EM Area, as well as for all age groups in Montrose, Casino, Columbia Gardens, Warfield and Miral Heights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As defined in the ENV letter response on August 13, 2018, to the SNC-Lavalin document entitled: *Determination of Concentration Limits for Teck Trail WARP Boundary*, SNC-Lavalin July 23, 2018.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pb HHRA Working Group includes representatives from Teck, BC ENV, Interior Health, Ministry of Health, AtkinsRéalis and Ramboll.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Objective is to assess risks associated with Pb related to Teck Trail Operations; however, given the age of the community and housing stock, there are non-smelter sources (e.g., Pb in indoor dust from Pb paint) that cannot be partitioned from smelter related Pb, and thus, are inherently included in the evaluation. Further, risk management to reduce overall exposures to Pb from all sources is offered through the integrated nature of the Trail Area Health & Environment Program. Details are provided in this report.

Based on CT scenario HIs greater than the BC CSR risk-based standard for children in the neighbourhoods nearest the smelter, including Annable, Oasis, Waneta, Glenmerry, Shavers Bench, Sunningdale, East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac and West Trail, further assessment of the results of the HHRA was conducted, with the results of Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC (Interior Health, 2024) considered in the derivation of a Trail area specific, risk-based standard. Using the Interior Health estimated soil Pb to BLL relationship (Interior Health, 2024), along with the toxicological basis of the Health Canada TRV for Pb, a Trail area specific, risk-based standard of a soil Pb concentration of 400 mg/kg was developed. Under Sections 18 and 18.1 of the CSR, the Medical Health Officer (MHO) has recommended Trail area specific, risk-based standards for Pb, including the risk-based soil standard for Pb supported by the results of the HHRA. The Trail area specific risk-based soil standard will be used in the existing soil management program prioritization framework, which is described in the Wide Area Remediation Plan for the EM Area (AtkinsRéalis, 2024).

The BLL declines observed in the Trail area over the last two decades likely reflect the cumulative effect of the various components of the integrated management approach used in the Trail area to reduce Pb exposures, as well as operational improvements at the smelter and the effectiveness of the biomonitoring program. This is supported by studies conducted in other smelter communities where multifaceted Pb exposure reduction programs, including public health and education programs with home evaluations and support with addressing multiple sources of Pb exposure an important complement to soil remediation activities. Therefore, the integrative and adaptive management strategy used in the Trail area including the biomonitoring program, should continue, with further operational improvements to further reduce Pb in air, where possible.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

## 1. Introduction

On behalf of Teck Metals Ltd. (Teck), AtkinsRéalis, formerly SNC-Lavalin Inc., has prepared this FINAL DRAFT Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) for lead (Pb) in the Trail, BC area. This report has been prepared for review by the HHRA Working Group<sup>4</sup>, including the BC Ministry of Environment and Parks (BC ENV). The HHRA Working Group, which includes the authors of the report, Pb risk assessment experts and representatives from Teck, the BC ENV, Interior Health, and the BC Ministry of Health, was established to guide the development of the HHRA for Pb and ensure it incorporates the most up-to-date science and is appropriate for the specific Trail area context.

## 1.1 Objectives

The Pb HHRA is one component of the Wide Area Remediation Plan (WARP) (AtkinsRéalis, 2024) that has been prepared with the objective of managing risks associated with contamination from historical and contemporary aerial emissions from Teck Trail Operations through a risk-based approach. In this context, the objectives of the Pb HHRA are to:

- Assess human health risks associated with exposure to Pb from Teck Trail Operations<sup>5</sup> using standard BC Contaminated Sites Regulation (BC CSR) (BC ENV, 2023a) HHRA methods.
- Review the current risk management strategy<sup>6</sup> and identify any opportunities to further reduce human exposure to Pb from Teck Trail Operations.
- Support a recommendation for an alternative risk-based standard for Pb (per Sections 18 and 18.1 of the BC CSR).

## **1.2 Scope and Approach**

A summary of the scope and approach for the Pb HHRA is as follows:

- The Environmental Management Area (EM Area)<sup>7</sup> has been used to establish the HHRA Study Area. The geographic area is presented in Section 5, Figure 5-1.
- All available environmental quality data (e.g., for soil, groundwater, dust, air) were considered in the HHRA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As defined in the ENV letter response on August 13, 2018, to the SNC-Lavalin document entitled: *Determination of Concentration Limits for Teck Trail WARP Boundary*, SNC-Lavalin July 23, 2018.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Pb HHRA Working Group includes representatives from Teck, BC ENV, Interior Health, Ministry of Health, AtkinsRéalis and Ramboll.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Objective is to assess risks associated with Pb related to Teck Trail Operations; however, given the age of the community and housing stock, there are non-smelter sources (e.g., Pb in indoor dust from Pb paint) that cannot be partitioned from smelter related Pb, and thus, are inherently included in the evaluation. Further, risk management to reduce overall exposures to Pb from all sources is offered through the integrated nature of the Trail Area Health & Environment Program. Details are provided in this report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The HHRA is an important component of the risk management strategy.

- The HHRA has been conducted using an approach established based on input from the Pb HHRA Working Group and based on BC ENV and Health Canada methods and guidance, including:
  - A CSR HHRA has been conducted using the Health Canada provisional toxicity reference value (TRV) for Pb for toddlers, and a modified Health Canada TRV (to account for lower Pb absorption in adults) for adults (see Section 7).
  - Risks higher than the CSR risk-based standards were predicted at some properties that have not been remediated based on the measured soil Pb concentrations and the conservative approach taken in the HHRA, including conservative exposure and toxicokinetic assumptions.
  - Based on the results of the HHRA and the Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC (Interior Health, 2024), under Sections 18 and 18.1 of the CSR, the Medical Health Officer (MHO) has recommended Trail area specific, risk-based standards for Pb. The MHO's recommendation (Goodison, 2024) includes reducing children's Pb exposure such that we continue to narrow the gap between blood Pb levels in children in Trail and those elsewhere in Canada, as well as a risk-based soil standard for Pb supported by the results of the HHRA.
  - Based on the Trail area specific, risk-based soil standard for Pb, the existing risk management programs under the Trail Health and Environment Program (THEP), including the Prioritization Strategy for Soil Remediation (SNC-Lavalin, 2019), were reviewed in the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024).
  - Performance verification measures for risk management of contamination from Teck Trail Operations for the protection of human health have been developed and are included in the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024). The performance verification measures and how they relate to the THEP programs that form the adaptive management framework to reduce overall exposures to Pb in Trail are considered.

### **1.3 Regulatory Standards**

The primary regulation that governs soil assessment and remediation for the EM Area is the BC CSR, which was enacted under the *Environmental Management Act* (EMA) (BC, 2023) on April 1, 1997, and has since been amended several times to account for updates to scientific and policy information.

The CSR outlines requirements for site identification, assessment, and clean-up ("remediation") under the administration of the BC ENV Site Remediation Program.

Under the CSR, a site is contaminated if substances in the environment (soil, water, sediment, vapour) exceed the standards prescribed in the CSR which may be adjusted to account for elevated local background concentrations if applicable. The CSR numerical soil standards are provided based on land use and as the land use in the EM Area is varied, standards for all land uses are applicable. To date, most of the assessment and remediation has been focussed on residential and other child-occupied properties since children are known to be most sensitive to the effects from Pb.

The CSR provides numerical and risk-based standards to determine when remediation is needed and satisfactorily completed. The legislation and regulation provide a framework for two remediation strategies. Contamination may be:

- Removed or reduced so that it no longer remains at a site above applicable numerical standards contained in the regulation (or ENV approved background concentrations); or
- Managed on site to satisfy risk-based standards.



Because of the large geographic area affected by historical aerial emissions, Teck, supported by the THEP, employs a risk-based approach for the purposes of identifying, prioritizing, and remediating residential properties in the EM Area. This Pb HHRA is one component of the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024) for the EM Area which will be submitted to BC ENV in application for an Approval in Principle.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 14

# 2. **Project History and Timeline**

Trail is the home of Teck Trail Operations, one of the largest integrated zinc and Pb smelting and refining complexes in the world. F.A. Heinze built the original foundry in 1895 and a railway to Rossland and Red Mountain in 1896 (likely powered by coal-fired steam engines until the mid-twentieth century). In 1906 the smelter, along with several of the Rossland mines and a small Pb-silver mine in the East Kootenay joined together to form the Consolidated Mining and Smelter Company of Canada Limited (CM&S or Cominco). In 1916, CM&S developed an electrolytic zinc method and began zinc production. In the 1920s CM&S expanded and increased the production of Pb and zinc, which brought a need for more workers at the smelter, increasing the local population. In the 1930s CM&S expanded again with the construction of a chemical fertilizer plant and an increase in zinc and Pb production (Trail Historical Society, 2019). In July 2001, Cominco merged with Teck Corporation, thus forming Teck Cominco Limited. The name changed to Teck Metals Ltd. in 2009.

Due to the presence of metallurgical operations in Trail for over a century, there is a long history of environmental and health monitoring related to metals. In 1977, the Trail Modernization Program was announced and since then over \$1.7 billion has been invested to improve operational and environmental performance. The largest improvements were realized in the late 1990s through introduction of the KIVCET<sup>8</sup> smelter to improve efficiency and reduce emissions. Overall emissions to air and water have been reduced by over 99%. A summary of some of the major smelter operational improvements and management actions aimed at reducing emissions is presented in **Section 2.1**.

In response to concerns raised regarding Pb health risks to children, the Trail Pb Task Force (the Task Force) was formed in 1990 and comprised representatives from the provincial environment and health agencies, Teck, and the community, with the Mayor of Trail as Chair. The Task Force undertook comprehensive studies and risk assessment of Pb in the 1990s to evaluate sources, exposures and the health risks associated with Pb in the Trail Area and began monitoring blood Pb levels (BLL) in children in 1991. The Trail Lead Task Force concluded its work in 2001 (Hilts et al., 2001), and made the following recommendations:

- The Interior Health Authority should continue blood Pb testing of children 6 to 36 months of age, continue counseling and services for families with children who have elevated, or risk of elevated BLL, and continue community and pre-school education programs about preventing and reducing exposure to Pb.
- Teck should pursue further reductions in facility emissions with increased reporting to the public on plans and progress, continue greening around the smelter property and in the community, continue environmental monitoring of air and street dust, continue addressing soil on a case-by-case basis, and implement a new program to advise and assist people that are doing excavation, construction, demolition, or renovation.
- The City of Trail should continue to flush and sweep the streets, continue dust control on alleys and other unpaved areas, and continue greening of bare public areas.
- A Trail Area Health & Environment Committee (THEC) should be established to monitor, coordinate, and advise on the implementation of the Task Force's recommendations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> KIVCET is a Russian acronym for the oxygen flash cyclone thermal process



Each of these recommendations was implemented. In 2001, the Task Force concluded, and its work continued through the creation of the THEP and the THEC. The THEC is a platform for multi-stakeholder dialogue, collective decision-making, and community engagement with respect to the THEP. **Figure 2-1** provides a summary of the partners that comprise THEC, and an understanding of the focus areas of THEC and the THEP.



#### Figure 2-1: Structure and Focus of THEC and THEP

The THEP has evolved along with the emerging science and understanding of Pb exposures in the Trail area. The implementation of public health primary prevention programs (e.g., Family Health, Healthy Families Healthy Homes [HFHH]) targeted at young families have resulted in the lowest children's BLL ever documented in Trail. The comprehensive nature of the THEP includes the education of the community to understand and navigate ways to reduce exposure to Pb. The various programs under the THEP, including *Soil, Air, Health, Built Environment* (e.g., homes, daycares, civic buildings, etc.) and *Community Connection*, have existed for some time (although under various names and numerous sub-programs), as detailed in **Figure 2-2**. The timelines for some of the key programs related to reducing exposures to Pb include the following:

- In 2007 and 2008, Residential Soil Assessment and Remediation programs were formalized. The evolution and status of the Soil Assessment and Remediation program is detailed in Section 4.1.1.
- The Fugitive Dust Reduction Program (FDRP) began in 2012 and has achieved ongoing reductions in ambient air Pb through numerous initiatives to reduce dust generated on the smelter site. The FDRP is further described in Section 2.1.
- Primary prevention programs to promote health and support for families in Trail were initiated in 2013 through the HFHH Program. HFHH was further expanded to include the communities of Warfield and Annable in 2020. HFHH is described in **Section 2.3**.



Key milestones of the THEP between 1998 and 2022 are shown on the timeline in **Figure 2-2**. Many of the programs continue today and will be discussed throughout this report, with a summary of each of the existing programs presented below under Soil, Air, Health, Built Environment and Community Connection (**Sections 2.1** to **2.5**).

While the focus of the Pb HHRA is exposures and associated risks from Teck Trail Operations, it's not possible to evaluate smelter sources of Pb separately from other sources in the community. Given the age of the community and housing, there are non-smelter sources (e.g., Pb in indoor dust from Pb based paint) that cannot be partitioned from smelter related Pb in all media, and thus, exposures to these non-smelter sources are inherently included in the assessment.

The Pb HHRA and the proposed risk management measures included herein will focus on exposures from current contamination conditions associated with historical and contemporary releases from Teck Trail Operations. The remediation and risk management activities have and continue to play an important role in decreasing Pb exposure in Trail. Further, the integrated and comprehensive nature of the THEP has resulted in a reduction in Pb exposures from all sources, and significant reductions in childhood BLL.





Figure 2-2: Key Milestones for the Trail Area Health and Environment Program (1990 to 2024)



## 2.1 Soil

Through the 1990s and early 2000s, soil assessment and remediation was completed at select properties by the Task Force. Efforts were focussed on residences where children were at the greatest risk of exposure to Pb in soil. During that time programs were in place to support property owners disposing of soil from their properties or developing land in Trail. The intention was to help limit young child exposure to Pb in soil and ensure proper soil management and disposal of soil impacted by metals. Soil management was not the primary focus of the Task Force as importance was put on reducing Pb in air through source reduction at the smelter. With Pb in air significantly reduced through the 1990s, the THEP began offering soil assessment to residential property owners in 2007. In 2008 THEP commenced a remediation pilot project to provide soil replacement on residential properties. Details of the pilot project and the prioritization of residential properties for soil replacement during the period of 2008 to 2019 are summarized below, along with information of the Soil Management Program (SMP) that was implemented in 2019.

### 2.1.1 Soil Management Program

In 2018, the EM Area<sup>9</sup> was defined for the Trail area (SNC-Lavalin 2018). The EM Area associated with Teck Trail Operations is based on concentration limits determined for arsenic, cadmium, Pb, and zinc in surficial soils attributable to historical aerial emissions from the Trail smelter. The EM Area boundary is shown in **Section 5**, **Figure 5-1**. In 2019 the SMP was created and to date has been focussed on residential properties within the THEP Areas 1, 2, and 3 (**Figure 5-1**) which include the neighbourhoods nearest the smelter and where the highest soil Pb concentrations have been measured. Commercial and industrial properties, as well as properties undergoing development, are part of the ongoing Property Development Program (PDP) for the EM Area.

#### 2.1.1.1 Soil Assessment and Remediation

A standardized method for residential soil assessment began in 2007 and included yard soil assessment (grassed areas, bare soil and flower gardens) and vegetable garden soil assessment. This program was made available to Trail and Rivervale residents of THEP Areas 1, 2 and 3 on a voluntary basis to prevent and reduce health risks from exposure to metals that may be present in yard and garden soil. With an understanding of the highest potential risks from exposure to Pb, the following properties were prioritized for assessment:

- Expectant families, families<sup>10</sup> with children 36 months or younger, and families with children who have measured BLL above the Family Health case management thresholds;
- Residents requesting vegetable garden soil assessment; and
- Residents of city blocks in areas close to the smelter and where it was suspected that soil metal levels may exceed Remediation Action Levels (see below).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Families include extended families, caregivers, and other situations such as daycares where children 36 months of age or younger are present on the property for a significant amount of time.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> An EM Area was previously referred to as a wide area site as defined in ENV's Environmental Protection Division Procedure 8 – Definition of Acronyms for Contaminated Sites, November 1, 2017.

Remediation Action Levels (RAL) in 2007 corresponded to the Upper Cap Concentrations set out in the BC ENV's (formerly the BC Ministry of Environment) Protocol 11 (BC ENV, 2023c). For residential yards, the RAL in 2007 was 5,000 mg/kg Pb in soil which was lowered in February 2014 to 4,000 mg/kg and to 1,200 mg/kg in 2017 to reflect amendments to the CSR. For vegetable gardens, the RAL was 1,000 mg/kg.

A pilot project for soil replacement began in 2008 and was designed to manage risks related to soil on residential properties where concentrations of smelter metals were above RALs. The program was developed to focus on Pb, which was identified as the main health concern, and specifically for properties with young children and areas with bare soil. Residential yards and vegetable gardens were prioritized for remediation which included: soil replacement, improvement of ground cover and/or capping of bare soil areas.

From 2007 to 2018, residential properties qualified for soil replacement when Pb concentrations exceeded RALs. When Pb concentrations were less than the RALs, but young children were present and poor ground cover was observed, soil risk management in the form of capping and ground cover improvement work was offered.

In 2018, SNC-Lavalin developed an approach to identify the highest risk residential properties for remediation prioritization<sup>11</sup>. The objective of the prioritization strategy was to provide a scientifically defensible approach to identify and prioritize those properties for which remediation is most important, and therefore should occur soonest. The approach was based in part on the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (US HUD) (2012) methods and focuses on three key attributes of a given property:

- Presence of children in target age groups: <6 years old (i.e., "young children") and 6 to <12 years old ("older children");
- Quality of ground cover (primarily grass but also gravel or mulch cover); and
- Soil Pb concentration.

Further details on the current risk-based prioritization approach are provided in the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024).

In 2019, the regulatory requirement for an annual work plan led to the development of an annual SMP to outline tasks related to managing risks from soil within the EM Area such as outreach, communications, soil assessment, and remediation (i.e., by means of soil replacement or risk management activities), based on the 2018 prioritization approach. While soil assessment and remediation methods continued as they had since 2007 and 2008, respectively, the number of properties offered remediation increased significantly starting in 2019. The goals of the annual SMP are to identify and offer soil testing to all properties with children under 12 years of age, as well as remediate the highest priority properties through remediation measures within approximately 1 year<sup>12</sup> after they are identified.

Commercial, industrial, and agricultural properties within the EM Area are also part of the soil assessment and remediation programs. Typically, commercial and industrial property owners access soil management through the PDP described below in **Section 2.1.2**. A modified approach to soil assessment is used for agricultural properties, as described in **Section 4.1.3**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The timing of remediation can be extended due to circumstances including property access, homeowner needs, season, etc.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As presented in the SNC-Lavalin report *Prioritization Strategy for Remediation of Lead (Pb) in Residential Soil of Trail, British Columbia*, April 1, 2019.

As properties are sampled and remediated each year, the annual SMP is updated to address the next highest priority properties, including those newly identified high priority properties not addressed in the previous year, and to monitor conditions at properties where risk management measures are in place.

Further information on the soil assessment approach and results is provided in Section 4.

#### 2.1.1.2 Other Soil Management

Soil management within the EM Area also includes support for properties that are not participating in the residential soil assessment and remediation programs. For example, owners moving small amounts of soil or doing landscaping or construction projects on their property often require soil management. At a minimum, soil testing is provided which then facilitates proper soil handling, determines potential re-use options, and ensures proper soil disposal is carried out.

### 2.1.2 Property Development

The PDP works with property owners, developers, and builders to support the assessment and, if required, risk-based remediation of metal contaminated soil within the EM Area. This program is offered to:

- Manage metal contaminated soils during the development or re-development of properties within the EM Area.
- Prevent unnecessary costs, delay or stigma for proponents of development in the Trail area.
- Support sustainable development by assisting with the investigation and risk-based remediation of metal contaminated soils.
- Facilitate safe excavation, handling, and disposal of excavated metal contaminated soil through testing and risk management.

## 2.2 Air

As noted, since the 1970s Teck has invested in a modernization program to improve operational and environmental performance at Teck Trail Operations. Emission reductions were identified as the most effective way to reduce children's BLLs and thus, efforts have focussed on this. Operational changes in the 1980s and 1990s significantly reduced stack and fugitive dust emissions (including arsenic, Pb, zinc and sulphur dioxide). Environmental improvements over the past 25 years include the following major investments:

- Stack Emissions Management: Since the replacement of Pb Smelter blast furnaces with the KIVCET Pb furnace in 1997 and subsequent operations improvement, there has been a 99.5% reduction in stack Pb emissions, and a 75% reduction in stack sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) emissions. KIVCET has also had a significant carbon emissions benefit.
- FDRP: In recent years, major investments and operational improvements have been made to reduce fugitive dust including: construction of Smelter Recycle Building, close to the size of two Canadian football fields, in 2016 to enclose mixing and storage of process feed materials; installation of a ten-metre high wind fence reducing dusting where feed materials are mixed; installation of wheel washes and truck washes on site to help reduce tracking of materials onto roads; on-site street cleaning via street sweepers and water trucks; a year-round program of roadway sweeping and flushing; and, identification and reduction of fugitive dust sources from work activities inside operating plants.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 21

 In addition, two new acid plants were constructed in 2014 and 2019, resulting in improved operational reliability and environmental performance.

These operational changes have resulted in a 95% reduction in Pb in community air since the 1990s. The decreases in total suspended particulate (TSP) Pb and particulate matter (PM) particles less than 10  $\mu$ m in diameter (PM<sub>10</sub>) Pb since 2010 are further discussed in **Section 4.2**.

### 2.2.1 Air Quality Program

The goal of the Air Quality Program is continuous improvement in air quality, which included achieving and surpassing the 2018 THEP targets for Pb and arsenic levels in community air. The 2018 THEP targets included:

- An objective for Pb based on the 30-day Ontario Ambient Air Quality Criterion (OMOE, 2007) of 0.2 µg/m<sup>3</sup> for Pb and its compounds. This value was the most current and stringent guideline in Canada when the objective was set, and remains the criterion in Ontario (OMOE, 2012).
- An objective for arsenic based on the annual average Alberta Ambient Air Quality Objective (Alberta, 2005) of 0.01 µg/m<sup>3</sup> (0.0033 ppb). This value was the most current and stringent guideline in Canada when the objective was set.

By the 2000s, stack emissions had been reduced to very low levels, and while ambient air Pb and BLLs had initially tracked the stack emissions declines (related to KIVCET and subsequent improvements) they then plateaued. During this time, the Geological Survey of Canada identified fugitive emissions as a contributor to Pb. The THEC and Teck identified the influence of fugitive emissions as the reason for the plateau in BLLs and in 2012, and Teck initiated the FDRP.

The Air Quality Program includes four main approaches:

- Implementing technology to reduce emissions;
- Finding and reducing fugitive emissions of dust from sources other than stack emissions;
- Optimizing performance of emissions control equipment; and
- Suppressing dust in the community.

Teck monitors emissions from the smelter through sampling at major point sources (e.g., stacks), and monitors air quality in the community through the following:

- Measures of total airborne dust (TSP), as well as particulate Pb, arsenic and other metals in the air are taken at two testing locations in the Trail area: Butler Park and Birchbank. Readings are taken over 24-hour periods, twice a day.
- Total respirable dust (PM<sub>10</sub>) measurements are taken at four testing locations in the Trail area: Butler Park, Birchbank, Warfield, and Columbia Gardens. Readings are taken over 24-hour periods, every 6th day.
- Settled dust or dustfall measurements are taken at Birchbank, Downtown Trail, Columbia Avenue, Columbia Gardens, Tadanac, Trail Hospital, Glenmerry, Oasis, Stoney Creek, Waneta and Warfield. These are continuous samples analyzed monthly for total deposited particulate and metals.
- Sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) gas is monitored at four locations throughout the valley at Birchbank, Butler Park, Columbia Gardens and Warfield. These stations operate continuously, with real-time data transmitted back to Teck Trail Operations' process control systems. If the SO<sub>2</sub> levels begin to climb (such as during a weather inversion), the plants are automatically notified so that actions can be taken to reduce SO<sub>2</sub> emissions.



- In 2010, Teck added a real-time metals analyzer for ambient dust at Butler Park. A second real-time
  monitor was installed at Duncan Flats in 2013. These analyzers are linked back to operations. This
  allows operations to directly and immediately respond to any unexpected increase in ambient metals
  concentrations.
- This information is collected and analyzed by Teck's environment staff, with results for Pb, arsenic and SO<sub>2</sub> reported to the BC ENV and the THEC. Regular monitoring helps identify significant emissions sources, track the effectiveness of emissions and dust control efforts, and track progress on air quality objectives.

Further, Teck and the City of Trail collaborate on mitigation of dust in the community by performing additional dust control measures on an ongoing basis consistent with the Task Force recommendations. This includes street flushing and sweepings to control dust throughout the year in Trail and Rivervale and application of dust suppressant to unpaved alleys each June.

## 2.3 Health

Interior Health has supported Pb monitoring, education, and prevention programs in the Trail area since the early 1990s. The overall goal of the Health Program is to reduce health risks from exposure to Pb and smelter metals in the community. More recently, the Health Program also looks at other impacts from the smelter including SO<sub>2</sub>.

The Health Program not only looks at Pb exposure to children but also at the broader context of promoting children's healthy development and engaging the community in human health issues through the core services of voluntary blood Pb testing and education. Specific goals are:

- To prevent young children's and pregnant women's exposure to Pb.
- To inform the community, and particularly expectant families and families with young children, about potential health risks from exposure to Pb and other smelter metals.
- To engage the community, and particularly expectant families and families with young children, in addressing potential health risks.
- To help enhance the health and well-being of young children in the Trail area.

The Health Program uses a collaborative, relationship building approach wherever possible to encourage:

- Client (family) engagement, empowerment, and informed decision-making to promote children's healthy development and prevent Pb exposure.
- Parent/caregiver and community early childhood development service provider participation in the direction and governance of the THEP, and provision of advice on planning, program delivery, and continuous quality improvement.
- Collaborative education, engagement projects and activities with health, social service, and early learning providers.
- Seamless service provision to expectant families and families with young children by Interior Health Community Integrated Health Services, Promotion and Prevention.
- The work of multi-sectoral networks aimed at improving early childhood development outcomes in the Trail area, such as participation in The Greater Trail Early Years Table and the Family Action Network.



The Health Program is delivered by Interior Health Community Integrated Health Services, Promotion and Prevention. An Interior Health Public Health Registered Nurse (RN) delivers the program out of the Kiro Wellness Centre in Trail supported by management, a MHO, an epidemiologist, and Interior Health program supports such as communications, clerical, and laboratory services.

The Health Program includes the following components:

- Community Outreach: Family and Caregiver Education and Engagement, with education and engagement including presentations, distribution of information, educational events, handwashing displays, etc.
- Primary Prevention: Healthy Families Home Visits are offered to all families in Areas 1, 2 and 3 with a child 12 months of age or younger. The visits include education, advice, and provision of information to prevent Pb exposure, and referral to the Soil and Built Environment Program (i.e., for soil assessment and/or remediation). Educational information on topics including nutrition, handwashing, access to public health services for young children and families, early learning programs and effective measures to keep dust levels low in the home and yard. Referrals to other health or social services are also provided as needed. This program is described further in Section 2.4.1, below.
- Secondary Prevention: Voluntary blood Pb testing of children aged 6 36 months in Areas 1, 2 and 3 is the primary monitoring and evaluation methodology conducted twice a year to monitor progress in reaching THEC's goal to reduce children's Pb exposure and identify children and families requiring case management. An Interior Health MHO and epidemiologist reviews and confirms the results each year. The blood Pb testing clinics are also an opportunity for education and relationship building; Community Program Office (CPO) staff participates in the clinics as well as, on occasion, other public health and early learning professionals. The main clinic is the annual Fall Blood Pb Testing Clinic. It takes place over three weeks in September/October, after maximum summer exposure conditions. Parents of older children up to age 5 years living anywhere in Trail area may request testing and are welcome to attend. Children up to age 5 years who are new to the community or living in homes undergoing renovations or with recent renovations in the Trail area are encouraged to attend. A smaller clinic is held over 2 days in February for young babies that were not 6 months of age the previous Fall, and as follow-up for any children with elevated BLL results from the Fall clinic of the previous year.
- Case Management: Enhanced Support is offered to the families of children with BLLs elevated above the British Columbia Centre for Disease Control (BC CDC) Exposure Investigation Level of 5 µg/dL (or 0.24 µmol/L). Two in-home visits are offered, one by an Interior Health Public Health RN and one by the CPO Team to identify the most probable pathways by which the children may be exposed to Pb and determine the most appropriate support and follow-up actions. The Public Health RN visit includes a home visual review and assessment of possible sources of Pb exposure, as well as discussing the next steps for exposure reduction and retesting of BLLs. Ongoing support is offered to these families throughout the year on a case-by-case basis.

## 2.4 Built Environments

The built environments program looks at sources of Pb within home and other indoor environments. This includes many non-smelter sources of Pb such as paint and water that have the potential to be in homes, daycares and other places children visit. Dust in the built environment can contain Pb from historical smelter operations, as well as from deteriorating Pb-based paint. The built environment program looks at understanding and evaluating Pb sources, as well as communicating and supporting families and property owners to reduce exposure to Pb.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 24

#### 2.4.1 Healthy Homes

As introduced in the Health section above, the Healthy Homes component includes education, supports and actions to ensure a safe home environment for young children. Healthy Home visits are offered to expectant families, all families with children less than 36 months and new families to the area up to approximately 60 months of age. Education and information are available to everyone. The Health Homes program uses a holistic approach to home health and safety and is guided by information and best practices from various agencies including Health Canada, the US HUD, CDC, and US EPA. CPO staff meet with a family at their home to help them identify the best opportunities to prevent Pb exposure and keep their home healthy and safe. Visits are typically scheduled for a time when soil assessment results are available for the family's yard and include a visual review of the home and yard, a review of the soil assessment results (where available), education, information, and advice on home health and safety, as well as documentation and demonstration of exposure prevention strategies.

Educational topics include preventing health risks from Pb exposure, reducing dust in the home and yard, strategies for yard and garden improvement to prevent exposure, referrals to the Lead Safe Renovation Program and other home health topics, as appropriate. Visits end with a discussion of the family's top three opportunities to make a difference in reducing exposure to Pb. These opportunities are noted on the Healthy Families Healthy Homes poster that is left with the family.

Families may be offered a Dust Buster Kit, a Greening Your Garden Kit, a covered sandbox, a vacuum cleaner, yard remediation and/or home renovation supplies to support family actions to prevent Pb exposure.

A key part of education around Pb in built environments is the exposure pathways diagram as shown in **Section 5.4**, **Figure 5-4**.

#### 2.4.2 Residential Lead Inspection and Pb-Based Paint Screening

To better support our understanding of Pb exposures within the built environment, starting in 2020, a residential lead inspection (RLI) pilot project has been carried out at select homes in the Trail area. The RLI includes an evaluation of indoor dust, water, paint, and soil, if not already tested through the residential soil assessment. The goal of the RLI is to educate families about various sources of Pb in the home and highlight the best opportunities to limit Pb exposure to their children (e.g., management of deteriorating paint, regular clean up of dust in entranceways, etc.).

Starting in 2023, indoor and outdoor paint screening is offered to participants of Health Program (including expectant families, families with children less than 36 months and new families to the area with children up to 60 months of age) and the outdoor paint screening will be offered to participants of the Soil Assessment and Remediation programs. The goal is to better understand the prevalence of Pb-based paint in the Trail area as due to the age of housing, and based on the available literature on Pb exposures, Pb-based paint has the potential to contribute significantly to Pb exposures in the Trail area.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

#### 2.4.3 Lead Safe Renovation

The Lead Safe Renovation (LSR) Program is another program that helps to achieve the goal of reducing overall exposures to Pb from built environments. The LSR Program was initiated in 2000 in response to the recommendations from the Task Force (Hilts et al., 2001) and has evolved overtime into a comprehensive program for Pb-safe work practices. Supports are provided to homeowners and tenants doing home renovation and construction projects in Trail and Rivervale. In areas outside Trail and Rivervale, including the communities of Fruitvale, Rossland and Genelle, these supports are available for homeowners and tenants renovating homes built prior to 1976 (after which time manufacturers were regulated to phase out Pb in paint). This is done to foster Pb paint awareness and Pb-safe home renovation in the broader community. Supports include advice and information on Pb dust generated during renovation and construction projects, and supplies provided free of charge (including HEPA-filtered shop vacuum loans) to prevent Pb exposure during renovations.

## 2.5 Community Connection

The THEP Office opened in 2008, and later became the official CPO in 2010. The CPO is located conveniently in downtown Trail. The location and existence of the CPO creates an accessible space for Trail area residents to connect with THEP staff and offerings. At the CPO, regular office hours are available for residents to come in to ask questions, sign up, or receive program supports and other general inquires. Project and field staff for the THEP work out of this office year-round.

Outreach and communication with the community is ongoing. There is a website (www.thep) that is kept up-to-date with information about programs and supports as well as committee meetings and reports. There are two community newsletters sent to families in the Trail area each year as well as radio advertisements promoting Pb-safe lifestyle choices, as well as information on programs. CPO staff attend outreach events throughout the year such as having a booth at the local farmers market and attending the local Teddy Bear's picnic for outreach to young children. Clear and transparent communication and connection to the community is an integral part of the THEP.

In addition, as part of the Family Health Program, the following is conducted:

- Community Collaboration to Enhance Early Childhood Development involves the Public Health RN
  participating in a variety of collaborative strategies to improve children's healthy development. These
  community collaborations occur throughout Greater Trail and surrounding rural areas.
- Community Outreach and Communications includes the Public Health RN prioritizing communication and collaboration between Interior Health and other sectors of the community, including responding to requests for presentations and participating in collaborations to achieve goals. The Family Health Program is emphasized in all of the THEP main communications strategies, including the community newsletter, website, radio ads, brochures, displays, events, and media releases.



# 3. Previous HHRAs

Following the Task Force studies and risk assessment of Pb in the 1990s (Hilts et al., 2001), and while biomonitoring was underway to monitor exposures to Pb in the Trail Area, during the period of 1997 to 2014, phased HHRAs were undertaken to evaluate risks associated with other metals from the smelter. The HHRAs were completed in four phases (Exponent, 1997, 1998, 2000; Integral, 2008). An addendum to the HHRA was prepared (Environ, 2010) to respond to BC ENV comments on the Phase 4 HHRA and a supplemental evaluation of cadmium and thallium in homegrown produce was conducted in 2014 (Environ, 2014).

The results of the HHRAs are summarized below. Recommendations based on results of HHRAs for other metals (besides Pb) included:

- Continued air monitoring for arsenic, cadmium, and particulate matter less than 10 µm diameter (PM<sub>10</sub>), as well as Pb.
- Risk management measures to address this recommendation included continued air quality monitoring, ongoing improvements to air quality in Trail and the implementation of FDRP in 2012. Since there is strong correlation between Pb and other site-related metals, reductions in fugitive dust emissions, and remediation of Pb in soil reduce exposures not only to Pb but also to other metals, in particular arsenic.
- Given the reduction in emissions and the associated improvement in air quality in the Trail area, the
  results of the previous HHRAs, specifically arsenic inhalation exposures and associated risks, were
  reviewed in 2023. Ramboll (2023) conducted a review of air quality data for arsenic collected between
  2010 and 2022, and revisited inhalation exposure and risk estimates. Ramboll (2023) concluded the
  following:
  - Air concentrations of arsenic have steadily declined over time and approach background levels for the region as of 2021-2022.
  - A review of inhalation TRVs for arsenic identified unit risk factors (URFs) that consider new epidemiological data that addresses limitations present in the original URF established by the US EPA in 1984.
  - Using the more recent URFs (Erraguntla et al., 2012 and Lewis et al., 2015) cancer risks were estimated to be less than the Health Canada negligible cancer risk level of 1 x 10<sup>-5</sup> (which is equivalent to the BC CSR risk-based standard) for all years and locations since 2010.
  - Using URFs from the US EPA (1984) and WHO (2000), cancer risks are below 1 x 10<sup>-5</sup> at all locations by 2022.

### 3.1 Phase 1: Problem Formulation

Phase 1 of the HHRA was conducted in 1997 (Exponent, 1997). The report was intended to review the work previously completed and make recommendations to the Task Force based on the findings of the review. The report made recommendations for additional data collection and addresses strategic elements (toxicity, HHRA methodologies and input parameters) for consideration in future HHRA.

The report includes the development of a HHRA Problem Formulation and includes discussion on potential inputs and sources of data for the completion of a HHRA. A review was conducted for previous documents that included land use maps, pathway screening analysis, conceptual site model development and contaminant of potential concern (COPC) screening. Human populations that were believed to have



the potential for exposure to metals in soils were determined to include residential populations in the City of Trail neighbourhoods, workers employed in commercial areas of East or West Trail, and farm workers in the outlying agricultural areas in the wider EM Area. The document screened available data and refined the COPC list to include antimony, arsenic, cadmium, mercury, selenium, thallium, tin, and zinc. These eight metals were identified as those requiring evaluation in the HHRA. It was noted that five of the metals (mercury, selenium, thallium, tin, and zinc) were exceeding human health-based criteria at select location(s) and that there may be a potential that only arsenic, cadmium and antimony would be retained as COPCs in future HHRA work.

# 3.2 Phase 2: Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculations

Phase 2 of the HHRA was conducted in 1998 (Exponent, 1998). This phase presents screening-level deterministic risk calculations for non-Pb parameters which evaluated exposures for residential and commercial scenarios via incidental ingestion of soil and dust and inhalation of ambient air. This phase also evaluated exposures via ingestion of soil and inhalation of particulates for an agricultural scenario.

As a part of Phase 2, *in vitro* bio accessibility testing was conducted for cadmium and arsenic in soils to determine estimates of relative bioavailability. In vitro testing indicated that the relative bioavailability of arsenic was 55% and cadmium was 33%<sup>13</sup>. Screening was completed on newly collected data for non-Pb parameters which resulted in COPC refinement to arsenic, cadmium, and antimony. The results of this phase indicated that the consumption of homegrown produce could not be ruled out as a significant contributor to exposure for these metals and recommended the collection of site-specific data. Soil and home-dust data was evaluated; however, a clear regression relationship could not be established for indoor and outdoor concentrations for the metals measured (antimony, arsenic, and cadmium) which was hypothesized to be due to the lack of data from metal sources other than soil.

The findings of the risk assessment indicated that all non-carcinogenic exposures were less than a hazard index (HI) of 1 with carcinogenic risk estimates for arsenic ranging above and below  $1 \times 10^{-5}$  and up to  $3 \times 10^{-4}$ . The carcinogenic risks were driven by arsenic inhalation exposures ( $9 \times 10^{-7}$  to  $2 \times 10^{-4}$ ). Inhalation exposures were primarily found to be due to the emissions from the active smelter rather than resuspension of contaminated soil by wind. The KIVCET smelter was installed one year prior to the assessment, and thus, it was recommended that emissions be monitored over time, and that the risk estimates be revisited.

The overall findings of the HHRA indicated that there was no imminent (short-term) threat to human health in Trail area from the non-Pb metals based on the results of the HHRA. The potential for adverse health effects from long term residence in Trail was concluded to be limited. Although risks related to arsenic were in excess of the CSR risk-based standard, it was noted that consideration should be given to the uncertainty in the prediction of cancer risks from arsenic in soil and the relatively low exposure levels observed in Trail compared to studies of populations exposed to higher arsenic levels in drinking water.

As indicated above, it was recommended that ongoing work be focussed on continued air monitoring for arsenic and cadmium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Health Canada no longer recommends the use of in-vitro bioaccessibility testing for cadmium. The results of the Phase 2 HHRA (Exponent, 1998) were reviewed to confirm that the results would not change when 100% absorption (vs. 33%) is assumed. With this change, the results remain below the BC CSR risk-based standards.



## 3.3 Phase 3: Revised Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculation

The Phase 3 HHRA, Exponent (2000), built on the findings of Phase 2 with refinement of risk estimates using newly collected site-specific data on the levels of arsenic and cadmium in produce grown in the area, COPC levels in indoor house dust and updated air concentrations for arsenic and cadmium.

The methodology used was consistent with that of Phase 2. The assessment included soil data collected from between 1989 to 1997, air data collected following the initiation of the KIVCET smelter, and garden produce collected between 1998 and 1999 from a total of 13 neighbourhoods and 14 local retailers. The HHRA assessed potential ingestion of soil, dust and homegrown produce and inhalation of airborne particulates.

Produce and house dust data were incorporated to refine the Phase 2 results. The risk assessment results indicated excess risks from arsenic; however, points of uncertainty associated with the estimation of these risks were documented based on contribution from background soil conditions, the likely overestimation of ingestion of homegrown produce (estimated to be 7%) of total produce ingestion and the conservatism used in the derivation of the carcinogenic TRVs. Risks from air emissions decreased compared to the Phase 2 assessment with the findings being attributed to the KIVCET smelter and it was expected that risks would continue to decrease as further operational measures to reduce emissions were implemented.

Based on the above, contribution of inhalation and ingestion risks to arsenic and cadmium were expected to be lower than predicted in the Phase 3 HHRA and it was recommended that emissions continue to be monitored (specifically for arsenic, cadmium, and Pb) with measurement of the PM<sub>10</sub> fraction.

### 3.4 Phase 4: Additional Data Collection and Probabilistic Risk Calculations

Phase 4 of the HHRA was completed by Integral Consulting Inc. in 2008 (Integral, 2008). This phase included addressing data gaps identified by ENV comments from Phases 1 through 3, the consideration of the findings of the 2002 Trail urinary thallium survey and reporting risk estimates on a site wide basis to support a site wide remedial approach, in addition to reporting risk estimates for neighbourhoods that were anticipated to have the highest exposures (East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac, Waneta, and West Trail).

This phase of the HHRA assessed four scenarios, a residential scenario, a commercial and agricultural scenario, recreational all terrain vehicle (ATV)/bike scenario and a fish consumption scenario. Where applicable, risk pathways evaluated included ingestion of indoor dust, ingestion of soil, ingestion of outdoor dust, and ingestion of country foods. Risk estimates from these pathways were summed for an overall risk estimate. For the inhalation pathway, risks from ambient air inhalation were determined separately with risk estimates added to ingestion risks for neighbourhoods containing an air monitoring station. Fish consumption risks and risks from recreational uses (ATV/biking) were assessed separately from other pathways. The recreational scenario assessed exposures from beach sand and sediment, air, dust, and surface soil present in an area of known off-road recreation along the Columbia River.

Under the residential scenario, non-carcinogenic risks for thallium (via soil, dust, and homegrown produce) for a child receptor exceeded a HI of 1.0 (East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac and West Trail neighbourhoods) while arsenic exposures (combined child plus adult receptor) exceeded a HI of 1.0 for the Tadanac neighbourhood. For carcinogenic exposures, both neighbourhood and site wide risk



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 29

estimates (95<sup>th</sup> percentile) exceeded 1 in 100,000 (the CSR risk-based standard). Risks were driven by arsenic exposures. It was noted by Integral that none of the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile risk estimates exceeded 1 in 10,000, the risk level that corresponded to the US EPA response action at the time<sup>14</sup>.

Non-carcinogenic risks were below target risk levels for the commercial and agricultural exposure scenarios (antimony and cadmium exposures). Carcinogenic risks were limited to the inhalation route as carcinogenic COPCs were limited to those that are carcinogenic via the inhalation route of exposure. Risks in excess of 1 in 100,000 were predicted (based on the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile risk estimates) at all three air monitoring stations assessed. Risks for the commercial and agricultural scenario were below those predicted for the residential scenario.

Risks for off-road vehicle uses (ATV/bike user) due to soil exposures were found to be acceptable (below a HI of one) with no carcinogenic COPCs identified for this scenario.

Fish consumption risks in excess of an HQ of 1 were identified for mercury (based on the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile of risk estimates) and for cadmium, with risks being driven by a single suspect cadmium concentration. Non-carcinogenic risks were below an HQ of 1 for arsenic, selenium, thallium, and vanadium. While carcinogenic risks were considered acceptable (below 1 in 100,000) for average consumption of local fish, exceedances were predicted for mountain whitefish and rainbow trout. Integral noted conservatism in the estimation of the consumption patterns assumed in the assessment.

Concentrations of metals in fish tissues were further characterized as part of the Aquatic Effects Monitoring Program (AEMP). The results reported in the 2021 AEMP (Kelly et al., 2023) indicated that concentrations of most metals in large-bodied fish tissues had declined since 2000 and were below human health consumption guidelines, including for mercury. It is noted that while there is no human health consumption guideline for cadmium in fish, the 2021 cadmium tissue results from large-bodied fish were all below the Lower Columbia Tissue Residue Objective for wildlife (0.9 mg Cd/kg wet weight) and were lower than those measured in 2000.

### 3.5 Evaluation of Trail Homegrown Produce Consumption

In 2014, Environ conducted pathway specific risk assessment for potential risks associated with cadmium and thallium in homegrown garden produce in Trail (Environ, 2014). The objective of the evaluation was to update the produce ingestion risk estimates from Phase 4 for cadmium and thallium based on refined consumption rates for a variety of produce types and re-evaluate the contribution of the produce consumption pathway to overall risk estimates for each of these parameters. Risks were compared from remediated and un-remediated gardens as a part of the evaluation.

The findings of the report indicated that risks for ingestion and overall exposures using the refined produce ingestion findings were below the CSR risk-based standards; however, when the smoking of cigarettes was considered, cadmium risks exceeded targets. Recommendations of the report included continuing to remediate soil in gardens with Pb concentrations above 1,000 mg/kg and cadmium concentrations above 30 mg/kg through the THEP. Environ noted that concentrations (including those of cadmium and thallium) are expected to reduce over time with measures from the Trail Operations FDRP.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Health Canada (2021) defines a  $1 \times 10^{-5}$  (or 1 in 100,000) cancer risks as negligible risk.



# 4. Soil Assessment Approach and Soil, Dust and Air Results

The soil assessment approach is summarized in **Section 4.1**, with the soil Pb results discussed in **Section 4.2.1**. In addition, the results of a 2016 Dust Study, as well as dustfall data collected in Trail over the last 20 years are presented in **Section 4.2.2**, with the results of air monitoring presented in **Section 4.2.3** 

## 4.1 Soil Assessment Approach

The soil assessment approach for each land use is briefly described in the subsections below. In the case of City boulevards (i.e., grassy areas adjacent roadways and sidewalks), they are classified and managed according to the land use of the adjacent parcel (e.g., boulevards adjacent residential properties are assessed using the approach for residential lands).

Soil assessment has been conducted to characterize worst-case Pb concentrations within the EM Area, and thus has generally focussed on surface soil, and specifically the top 15 cm of the soil profile. Rationale for this focus includes the following:

- Historical and contemporary aerial and fugitive dust emissions from the smelter are the source of the Pb contamination. As Pb enters soil at surface, shallower soils have higher concentrations of contamination than deeper soils. As Pb is typically immobilized by the organic component of soil, Pb deposited from the air is generally retained in the upper 2-5 cm of undisturbed soil (CDC, 1992). Further, because soil development from annual organic matter input is a slow process, shallow soils are expected to reflect inputs from these aerial sources.
- The available soil data indicates that in undisturbed soils, higher Pb concentrations are present in the most surficial soils.
  - A 1990 study (Hilts et al., 2001) demonstrated that Pb concentrations were highest in the top 2 cm of soil.
  - In 2015, SNC-Lavalin conducted a soil profile analysis that demonstrated that the highest concentrations of Pb were in the top 15 cm of soil, relative to deeper fractions (15 cm 30 cm, 50-65 cm, 85 cm to 1 m). The results of the soil profile analysis for Pb are presented in Figure 4-1.





Figure 4-1: 2015 Soil Profile Analysis for Pb

It is widely accepted that human exposures to undisturbed soils is limited to surficial soils. US EPA (2014) indicates that human exposure is typically to the top couple of inches (assumed to be 2-3 inches, or approximately 5-8 cm), and indicates that when metals are a concern that soil samples for use in human health risk assessment exposure assessment should be collected from the top 3-4 inches (or approximately 8 cm - 10 cm). While there is the potential for exposure to deeper soils during activities that disturb soils (e.g., yard maintenance and gardening, construction), children are less likely to undertake these activities and given the community outreach and education programs offered in Trail, it is anticipated that homeowners undertaking these activities will contact the THEP Office.

#### 4.1.1 Residential Land

As noted, the soil assessment approach for residential properties focusses on surface soil (i.e., top 15 cm), which is the most accessible to residents. The soil assessment methods were formalized in 2007 and 2008 based on a review of the literature and programs developed elsewhere to assess Pb contamination and to reduce Pb exposures. At that time, programs were put in place to offer soil testing to residents on a voluntary basis (e.g., not only to properties with young children identified through the blood Pb clinics). In 2019, the SMP was developed with the goal to identify properties where Pb exposures represented the highest risk. The 2019 SMP methods for the assessment of residential and daycare properties include:

- Yard sample collection targeting soil in the top 15 cm across the yard and key areas that pose potential exposure risks to residents (e.g., play areas, gardens, bare soil areas, etc.);
- Flower and vegetable garden composite sample collection;
- Ground Cover Evaluation (GCE) to assess exposure risk; and



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 32

 Calculation of property 95% upper confidence limit of the mean Pb concentrations (95% UCLM) and maximum Pb concentrations (Max Pb).

Vertical delineation is not addressed on individual residential properties during initial soil assessment to determine soil remediation priority. The depth of metals present on the property is assessed and remediated during subsequent work phases on the property (e.g., soil replacement) and has been investigated on a neighbourhood scale, not at each individual property.

#### 4.1.2 Urban Parks

The procedures for the soil assessment of parks, greenspaces, and playgrounds follows the same general approach for sampling on residential yards with some modifications:

- Wider spacing in park and greenspace areas to account for the large area;
- Focussed sampling of playgrounds and areas where young children would be likely to return day after day (e.g., sandboxes, picnic tables, play equipment); and
- Includes GCE of all areas of the park and summarizes groundcover into two categories, greenspace, and primary play areas.

### 4.1.3 Agricultural Land

A modified soil assessment approach has been developed for large agricultural properties. It includes a combination of the methods used on residential land and urban parks. To summarize, the approach:

- Divides the property into areas of primary interest based on exposure risk (gardens, residences, barns, play areas, etc.) and secondary areas (crops, fields, woodland, etc.);
- Areas of primary interest follow the procedures as residential sampling; and
- Secondary areas follow the procedures for park and greenspace sampling.

### 4.1.4 Commercial and Industrial Lands

The approach to assess soil Pb (and other metals) on commercial properties is typically through the PDP. The PDP follows the CSR process where the assessment and remediation of commercial and industrial properties is triggered by soil disturbance, re-development, or change in use, which provides an opportunity for risk--based remediation. Each development is unique and site-specific risk-based soil assessment and remediation plans are created based on future land use. Management of non-smelter related contaminants, if present, is the responsibility of the property owner / project proponent.

## 4.2 Assessment Results

Soil assessments have been conducted since 2007, with a focus on residential properties and daycares, as well as parks, school yards and playgrounds. As on the January 2024, 2,251 properties have been assessed; Of those properties, (an estimated) 780 properties have received soil removal and/or risk management. All Priority 1 (P1) properties identified up to 2024 through the Prioritization Approach have had soil removed and/or have received risk management (e.g., ground cover improvement). A summary of these properties is included in **Table 5**, with details on the number of properties that received remediation or risk management each year since 2019 included below in **Table 4-1**. The number of properties that received GCEs each year are also included. GCEs are required to help identify highest priority properties for remediation and to confirm risk management measures remain in place, where applicable.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 33

Year	Remediation and Risk Management Activities
	GCEs were completed at 517 residential properties and 40 Parks.
	Remediation or risk management work was completed on 204 properties in 2019, including:
	<ul> <li>84 properties received full-yard soil replacement (25 properties included vegetable garden</li> </ul>
2010	remediation).
2019	<ul> <li>7 properties received partial soil replacement.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>6 vegetable garden remediations were completed.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>96 properties received lawn care to improve and maintain good ground cover.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>11 properties received other ground cover improvements.</li> </ul>
	GCEs were completed at 332 residential properties. 172 of these were follow-ups from 2019
	evaluation.
	<ul> <li>Remediation or risk management work was completed on 150 properties in 2020 including:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>66 properties received full-yard soil replacement (64 P1).</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>5 P1 properties received partial yard remediation.</li> </ul>
2020	<ul> <li>5 properties had vegetable garden remediation completed.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>another 14 vegetable gardens were remediated with the full yard.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>73 properties received lawn care to improve and maintain good ground cover.</li> </ul>
	- 22 of these properties received lawn care in the spring prior to full remediation later in the
	year.
	<ul> <li>23 properties received other types of ground cover improvement.</li> </ul>
	GCEs were completed at 375 residential properties. 168 of these were follow-up from previous
	Remediation or risk management work was completed on 138 properties in 2021 including:
	<ul> <li>61 properties received full-yard soil replacement (54 P1).</li> </ul>
2024	<ul> <li>5 properties received partial yard remediation.</li> <li>4 properties had very table good an approximation.</li> </ul>
2021	<ul> <li>4 properties had vegetable garden remediation completed.</li> </ul>
	- Another 21 vegetable gardens were remediated with the full of partial yard.
	<ul> <li>54 properties received lawn care to improve and maintain good ground cover.</li> <li>12 of these properties received lawn care in the apring prior to full remediation later in the</li> </ul>
	- 12 of these properties received fawir care in the spring prior to full remediation fater in the
	<ul> <li>26 properties received other types of around cover improvement</li> </ul>
	GCE were completed at 250 residential properties. 98 of these were follow-up to evaluate current
	around cover at vards assessed in previous years
	<ul> <li>Remediation or risk management work was completed on 112 properties in 2022 including:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>76 properties received full-vard soil replacement (54 P1)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>4 properties received partial vard remediation</li> </ul>
2022	<ul> <li>2 properties had vegetable garden remediation completed</li> </ul>
	- Another 10 vegetable gardens were remediated with the full or partial vard.
	<ul> <li>9 properties received lawn care to improve and maintain good ground cover.</li> </ul>
	- Some of these properties received lawn care as follow-up from full-vard remediation in
	2021.
	<ul> <li>21 properties received other types of ground cover improvement.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>GCEs were completed at 203 residential properties. 71 of these were follow-up to evaluate current</li> </ul>
	ground cover at yards assessed in previous years.
	Remediation or risk management work was completed on 120 properties in 2023 including:
	<ul> <li>86 properties received full-yard soil replacement (29 Priority 1).</li> </ul>
2023	<ul> <li>1 property received partial yard remediation.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>3 properties had vegetable garden only remediations completed.</li> </ul>
	- Another 21 vegetable gardens were remediated with the full or partial yard.
	16 properties received only lawn care to improve and maintain good ground cover.
	<ul> <li>14 properties received other types of ground cover improvement.</li> </ul>

Table 4-1: Summary of SMP Activities by Year



As of January 2024, a total of 2,251 parcels within the EM Area have had their soil tested, with a total of 483 properties having had full soil replacement completed and over 300 properties have been risk-managed through yard improvement strategies (e.g., lawn care and ground cover improvements, etc.).

Soil assessment results from residential properties and daycares, parks and school yards are summarized in **Section 4.2.1** and are presented in tables and drawings. The tables referred to herein are included as an excel file. They compile soil summary data for residential properties and other properties used frequently by children collected between 2007 and 2023. A compilation of drawings is provided to visually present the distribution of properties sampled and the 95% upper confidence limit of the mean Pb concentrations (95 UCLM) in surface soil (i.e., top 15 cm) across neighbourhoods in the Trail area.

While soil assessment has focussed on residential properties, the existing dataset allows for a comprehensive understanding of the distribution of Pb concentrations in surface soils across neighbourhoods and the overall EM Area, and thus, provides a good understanding of Pb concentrations on properties of all land uses (e.g., agricultural [AL], commercial [CL] and industrial [IL]).

The available dust and air data are also included in **Sections 4.2.2** and **4.2.3**. Groundwater data has not been included as previous studies have demonstrated that where groundwater impacts are found in the EM Area, there is no spatial trend consistent with soil impacts from historical aerial emissions. Groundwater continues to be monitored by Teck in areas of potential environmental concern.

#### 4.2.1 Soil

#### 4.2.1.1 Residential Land and Urban Parks

The soil assessment and remediation data collected to date is summarized in **Tables 1** to **6**, which are included as an excel file. These tables include the following information:

- Property information (neighbourhood, child occupancy, etc.);
- Soil assessment results and Pb concentrations;
- Results of the most recent GCE;
- Priority Status for the property;
- Remediation work completed on the property;
- Outstanding actions to be carried out on the property; and
- Dates/year work was completed.

Using the filters in **Table 1**, the user can obtain different summaries of up-to-date data. For example, filtering by the SA (Soil Assessment) Date or Rem (Remediation) Date by the year of interest will provide a list of all properties that received soil assessment or remediation services in the specified year. By further filtering by neighbourhood, one can then obtain a list of all properties within a given neighbourhood that received soil management program services. **Tables 2** to **4** include summaries of the 2023 work including family and child-occupied property information, soil assessment and ground cover evaluation, and remediation activities, respectively. **Table 5** summarizes the priorities for 2024 remediation planning and **Table 6** presents the P2 properties, some of which will be considered for remediation in 2024.



- Map Book 1 presents information from **Table 1** (all assessed properties) with the most up-to-date yard 95% UCLM soil Pb concentrations calculated using 10 or more discrete surface soil samples collected from the top 15 cm during soil assessment. Hatched properties indicate that the yard has been remediated and, in those cases, the soil Pb concentration of the backfill is shown on the drawings to show surface soil concentrations currently present on the property.
- Map Book 2 presents the properties that have received soil replacement and displays the associated 95% UCLM soil Pb concentration from the excavation base, below the geotextile demarcation fabric. The backfill materials and landscape features are placed above the demarcation fabric following excavation. Soil results collected from the newly placed backfill are presented in **Table 4** by filtering for "Year" and "Post Rem Pb".

**Table 4-2** presents summary statistics for the soil assessment results collected to 2023 for residential properties, daycares, parks and school yards, based on THEP Areas (see **Figure 5-1**), as well as the Trail area neighbourhoods.


THEP Assessment Area	Neighbourhood	Total # of properties	N* (# of samples)	95% UCLM Pb (mg/kg)	90 <sup>th</sup> Percentile Pb (mg/kg)	Mean Pb (mg/kg)	SD (mg/kg)	Max Pb (mg/kg)	Min Pb (mg/kg)	Median Pb (mg/kg)
0	Birchbank	1	20	415.6	576.4	296.8	239.2	965	55	247
0	Blueberry Creek	1	11	583.2	714	469.1	208.8	762	196	502
0	Genelle	2	20	198.9	285.4	157.5	107.2	452	13	136
0	Montrose	12	179	93.6	156.6	84.4	96.3	825	6	59
1	Annable	42	502	347.4	543.7	308.3	200.7	2420	1.4	275.5
1	Casino	5	53	367.6	517.8	169.9	330.2	1700	8.4	50.8
1	Columbia Gardens	3	38	397.8	320.5	212.4	262.2	1480	10	141.5
1	Oasis	12	139	422.4	735.2	383.8	281.5	2130	15	330
1	Waneta	28	353	281.5	538	260.2	250.5	2050	0.3	194
1	Warfield	145	1825	222.8	382.6	205.5	170.4	2020	0.05	164
2	Glenmerry	304	3722	487.3	887.9	461.2	364.9	3390	0.3	365
2	Miral Heights	26	326	120.2	214	106.9	88.12	745	3.8	85.8
2	Shavers Bench	147	1790	803.1	1453.2	747	543.7	4200	0.4	634
2	Sunningdale	136	1988	458.7	763.6	431.7	275.5	3400	0.3	395
3	East Trail	655	7511	1644	3291	1575	1376	24652	0.09	1220
3	Rivervale	42	545	610.4	1148.2	550.2	687.4	9920	2.1	363
3	Tadanac	64	1087	1754	3257.2	1535	1660	19500	0.3	1164
3	West Trail	469	5185	934.6	1637.4	897	622.3	6330	0.2	784

#### Table 4-2: Summary Statistics for Surface Soil Pb in Residential/Urban Park Areas by Neighbourhood

number of discrete surface soil samples collected from the top 15 cm during soil assessment across all properties investigated in the neighbourhood

## <u>Note:</u> N\*

95% UCLM

mg/kg SD

milligrams per kilogram, or parts per million (ppm) standard deviation

95 percent upper confidence limit of the mean soil Pb concentration



As noted, the number of properties samples in select neighbourhoods, and specifically Blueberry Creek (N=1), Birchbank (N=1) and Genelle (N=2), were limited. Given the distance of these areas from the smelter, it is anticipated that soil Pb concentrations at the neighbourhood level would be lower than those in neighbourhoods proximate the smelter. Despite this, based on the limited data set and the results to date that suggest the potential for elevated Pb concentrations, specifically in Blueberry Creek, further sampling is recommended.

### 4.2.1.2 Other Land Uses

As discussed, the current Pb soil dataset for residential properties provides a comprehensive understanding of the distribution of Pb surface soil concentrations across all land uses.

### 4.2.2 Dust

A summary of the results of a dust study conducted in 2016 and compared to the results of a study conducted in the 1990s, as well as mean, annual dustfall loadings measured in Trail since 2003, are presented in the following sections.

#### 4.2.2.1 Dust Studies

A dust study was conducted in 2016 to re-assess dust levels in Trail after the operation of the KIVCET smelter for 18 years, and 4 years following the initiation of the FDRP. The study included the collection of dust samples from 63 homes in the Trail area (including East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac, West Trail, Glenmerry, Shaver's Bench and Sunningdale). The locations of the homes sampled are presented on

. Dust samples were collected from a dust mat placed at the main entrance to the home, a dustfall jar in one of the primary living spaces and a dustfall jar in the yard of the home. The samples were collected over a 4-week period. Participants were instructed not to vacuum or shake out the mats or disturb the dust jars during this period. The results of the study, including for indoor and outdoor dustfall (IDF and ODF), are summarized in **Table 4-3** to **Table 4-5**. **Table 4-6** compares the 2016 results to dust data collected in the 1990s from 35 homes in Trail (i.e., the Sentinel homes). The data were collected from the Sentinel homes during the period of 1994-1996, prior to the new KIVCET smelter, and from 1997-1998, after the KIVCET smelter was operational.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024



Figure 4-2: 2016 Dust Study Sampling Locations

Table 4-3:	2016 Dust S	Study Summary	Findings fo	or Dust Mats
------------	-------------	---------------	-------------	--------------

	Total Mat Dust Weight (mg)	Mat Dust Loading Rate (mg/dm²/day)	Concentration of Pb in Mat Dust (mg/kg)	Mat Pb Loading Rate (mg Pb/dm²/day)	Total Mat Pb Weight (mg)
N			62		
Min	910	1.3	39	0.00007	0.0542
Max	105,890	139.38	2,500	0.0445	35.03
Mean ± SEM	6623 ± 1803	8.48 ± 2.36	502 ± 60	0.0042 ± 0.0010	3.293 ± 0.778
Median	3,260	4.2	340	0.0018	1.545
Geometric Mean	3241ª	4.17ª	361	0.0019	1.362
Marginal Distribution	Lognormal p>0.15	Lognormal p=0.1287	Lognormal p>0.15	Lognormal p>0.15	Lognormal p>0.15

Notes: SEM standard error of the mean milligrams mg mg/dm<sup>2</sup>/day milligrams per square decimeter per day mg/kg mg Pb/dm²/day milligrams per kilogram or parts per million (ppm) milligrams Pb per square decimeter per day <sup>a</sup> excludes 3 outliers



#### Table 4-4: 2016 Dust Study Summary Findings for Indoor Dustfall

	IDF Total Dust Weight (mg)	IDF Loading Rate (mg/dm²/day)	Concentration of Pb in IDF Dust (mg/kg)	IDF Pb Loading Rate (mg Pb/dm <sup>2</sup> /day)
N		6	63	
Min	5	0.29	47	0.000014
Max	82.7	2.9	2,665	0.01
Mean ± SEM	16.8 ± 1.3	0.73 ± 0.05	448 ± 49	0.0005
Median	14.8	0.68	414	0.0003
Geometric Mean	16.78	0.642	340	0.0002
Marginal Distribution	Normal <sup>a</sup> p=0.2079	Normal <sup>a</sup> p=0.7086	Normal <sup>ь</sup> p=0.1058	Bi-modal

#### Notes:

IDF	Indoor dustfall
SEM	standard error of the mean
mg	milligrams
mg/dm²/day	milligrams per square decimeter per day
mg/kg	milligrams per kilogram or parts per million (ppm)
mg Pb/dm²/day	milligrams Pb per square decimeter per day

<sup>a</sup> excludes 3 outliers <sup>b</sup> excludes 2 outliers

#### Table 4-5: 2016 Dust Study Summary Findings for Outdoor Dustfall

	ODF Total Dust Weight (mg)	ODF Loading Rate (mg/dm²/day)	Concentration of Pb in ODF Dust (mg/kg)	ODF Pb Loading Rate (mg Pb/dm <sup>2</sup> /day)
N		6	60 <sup>a</sup>	
Min	2.3	0.15	37	0.000049
Max	192	8.4	21,304	0.007
Mean	33.2 ± 3.7	1.47 ± 0.15	2,566 ± 373	0.003 ± 0.0002
Median	25.2	1.2	2,107	0.003
Geometric Mean	22.8	1.08	1,744	0.002
Marginal Distribution	Normal <sup>b</sup> p = 0.4436	None	None	None

Notes:

ODF Outdoor dustfall mg milligrams

mg/dm²/day milligrams per square decimeter per day

mg/kg milligrams per kilogram or parts per million (ppm)

mg Pb/dm<sup>2</sup>/day milligrams Pb per square decimeter per day

<sup>a</sup> 3 of the original jars were not recovered as 2 jars were missing and 1 jar was filled with nuts

<sup>b</sup> excludes 8 outliers



It is noted that the mean ODF rate is approximately two times the mean IDF rate, with the mean Pb concentration in outdoor dust and the ODF Pb loading rate (which is dependent on the total amount of dust collected, and the concentration of Pb in the dust) approximately six times the Pb concentration and loading rate in indoor dust. It is also noted that the ODF results are biased high by a ODF dust sample with a maximum concentration of Pb in dust of 21,304 mg/kg. The second highest Pb concentration in ODF dust is 6,604 mg/kg. While the source of the high Pb concentration at this location is unknown, the maximum concentration was measured at a home where the dustfall jar was attached to a pole used for the home's clothesline. While the pole itself was not tested for Pb based paints, the exterior paint on the house (which was the same colour as the pole) tested positive for Pb based paint. The home is located approximately 1 km from Butler Park, just south of Gyro Park in the East Trail North. This area typically has lower soil and dust concentrations than some of the other areas such as East Trail South and Tadanac and thus, it is likely that other sources, in addition to the smelter, contributed to the measured Pb concentration.

Data Set	Mat Dust Load	Mat [Pb]	Mat Pb Load	IDF Dust Load	IDF [Pb]	IDF Pb Load	ODF Dust Load	ODF [Pb]	ODF Pb Load
	mg/dm²/ day	mg/kg	mg/dm²/ day	mg/dm²/ day	mg/kg	mg/dm²/ day	mg/dm²/ day	mg/kg	mg/dm²/d ay
Sentinel Homes 94-96 Pre-KIVCET	4.88	753	0.00368		1,230	0.0005		21,235	0.1667
Sentinel Homes 97/98 Post- KIVCET					693	0.0002		11,528	0.093
2016 Dust study data	4.75	361	0.00175	0.6740	341	0.0002	1.211	1,745	0.0022

Table 4-6:	Comparison	of 2016 Dust	t Study Data t	o 1990s Dust	Data for \$	Sentinel Homes
	Companyon		L OLUMY DULU L		Dutu IOI	

Notes:

[Pb]	Pb concentration
IDF	Indoor dustfall
ODF	Outdoor dustfall
mg/dm²/day	milligrams per square decimeter per day
mg/kg	milligrams per kilogram or parts per million (ppm)
	data not available

As presented in **Table 4-6**, a comparison to data from before the KIVCET smelter upgrade indicates Pb concentrations in front entrances in 2016 were approximately half of what they were in the 1990s. The mat Pb loading per day had also decreased by approximately 50%. For indoor dust, the dust loading was approximately the same, but the Pb concentration was again reduced by approximately half. The outdoor dust loading was significantly lower, and dust Pb concentration was an order of magnitude less than it was in the 1990s. As shown in the table, notable differences were observed following the implementation of the KIVCET smelter, with further reductions observed in the 2016 study considered attributable to further operational improvements and the implementation of the FDRP in 2012.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 41 A review of the soil Pb concentrations at the properties, compared to the Pb concentrations in indoor dust indicated that there is no correlation (i.e., insignificant regression) as demonstrated in **Figure 4-3**; however, as presented in **Figure 4-4**, a comparison of soil Pb concentration to Pb concentrations measured in front door mats indicated a correlation.







Figure 4-4: Dust Mat Pb Concentrations Compared to Soil Pb Concentrations



Comparative statistics were used to analyze the data from the 2016 dust study to assess factors that may contribute to indoor dust loading and indoor dust Pb concentrations. The findings are summarized as follows:

- Comparison of the Pb loading rates from outdoor dustfall jars (ODF) to indoor dustfall jars (IDF) and entrance mats using analysis of variance (ANOVA) indicated that when controlling for the significant effect of the area from which samples were collected, the difference between mean ODF Pb loading rates and mean entrance mat Pb loading rates was not statistically significant, but both of these are higher than mean IDF Pb loading rates (p<0.0001). It is noted that loading rates depend directly on the total amount of dust collected, and the concentration of Pb in the dust.
- Using ANOVA and controlling for the significant effect of the area from which samples were collected, the mean Pb concentration is higher in ODF dust than in dust from either the entrance mat or IDF (p<0.0001). The difference between mean entrance mat and IDF dust Pb concentrations was not statistically significant.
- 3. To support the above, a regression analysis indicated that yard soil Pb concentration is a statistically significant predictor of the Pb concentration in the entrance mat dust, but that it is likely not the only factor (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.58, p<0.0001). As assessed yard soil Pb concentration increases, so did Pb concentration in entrance mat dust. The yard soil concentration was not a statistically significant predictor of the Pb concentration in IDF jar dust. Also, comparing IDF, entrance mat and yard Pb concentrations indicated that the indoor Pb concentrations on both mats and IDFs were lower than yard concentrations (p<0.0001).</p>
- 4. The data from the study provided no statistically significant evidence that indoor Pb concentrations are affected by percent ground cover of soil or yard condition.
- 5. Neighborhood Pb soil concentrations were estimated using the average 95% UCLM for Pb concentrations measured within a 250 metre or 500 metre radius of each individual property that participated in the study. These measures were correlated with the 95% UCLM for the individual yards (r = 0.81 and 0.78 respectively) and with one another (r = 0.98), so it is not surprising that they had a similar statistically significant effect on Pb concentration and loading on entrance mats (r2=0.48, p<0.0001, and r2=0.47, p<0.0001 respectively). The Pb concentrations of mat dust increase as the neighborhood Pb concentrations increase (as measured by these two variables). Pb concentrations in IDF dust appear to be independent of these neighborhood concentration measures. They do not have a statistically significant regression relationship with IDF Pb loading or concentrations.</p>
- 6. To determine if the age of the home and the paint condition had an affect on indoor dust Pb concentrations, mean Pb concentration of mat dust collected using was compared using ANOVA. The oldest homes in the study had a significantly greater mean Pb concentration than the pre-1976 homes, which in turn had significantly higher mean Pb concentration than the newest homes (p<0.0001). Analysis of Pb loading on the dust mat showed only that the oldest homes had significantly greater mean Pb loading on the mat than newer homes. There were no significant differences between mean Pb loading on the mat between older and pre-1976 homes or pre-1976 homes and newer homes. Neither Pb concentration nor Pb loading in the IDF showed statistically significant differences among the means for the three different house age categories.</p>



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 43

ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT

- 7. When all data were included, a comparison of mean dust loading on the entrance mat between households with pets versus households without pets, showed a slightly higher dust loading rate, but it was not a statistically significant difference from those households without pets. Both mean Pb concentration in mat dust (p=0.031) and mean Pb loading on entrance mats (p= 0.015) were significantly higher for households with pets than for households without pets. Upon closer examination of the data, it was found that the three properties with the lowest Pb concentration in mat dust in the study (all <70 ppm) all happened to have no pets. These properties may have had an undue influence on this analysis, and when these data were removed, the same analysis returned no statistically significant difference in mean Pb loading or mean Pb concentration due to the presence or absence of pets.</p>
- 8. There is no evidence from this study that the number of people living in each house is a factor determining the Pb concentration, Pb loading, total weight or total loading of entrance mat dust. The presence of children in the household was also not a statistically significant factor for Pb concentration, Pb loading, total weight or total loading of entrance mat dust.
- 9. Analyses comparing mean total mat dust weight, mean total mat dust loading, mean mat Pb, and mean mat loading were performed for 3 occupation related variables (DirtWork, DustJob, TeckEmp). There were no statistically significant differences in any of the four dependent variables tested between households with 1 or more people working in a 'dirty' job versus not working in a dirty job. There were no statistically significant differences in three of the four dependent variables tested between households with 1 or more people working in dusty jobs (DustJob) versus working in non-dusty jobs. There was a statistically significant greater mean Pb concentration in mat dust in households with 1 or more people working in a 'dusty' job versus households were nobody worked in a dusty job (p=0.036). There were no statistically significant differences in any of the four dependent variables tested between households with 1 or more people working in a 'dusty' job versus households were nobody worked in a dusty job (p=0.036). There were no statistically significant differences in any of the four dependent variables tested between households with 1 or more people working at Teck versus not working at Teck. There were no statistically significant differences in any of the four dependent variables tested between households with 'Pb hobbies' versus those without.

The lack of relationship between soil Pb and indoor dustfall Pb is inferred to be in part attributable to contributions of Pb in indoor dust from indoor sources. As noted, the oldest homes in the study had a significantly greater mean Pb concentration in IDF dust than the pre-1976 homes, which in turn had significantly higher mean Pb concentration than the newest homes. Given the age of the housing stock in the City of Trail and the associated prevalence of Pb-based paints, it is likely that Pb-based paints are contributing to Pb concentrations in indoor dust. This is consistent with the HHRAs conducted for other metals (Exponent, 1997 and 1998) which evaluated paired soil and house dust data collected from 60 homes around Trail. No clear relationship could be discerned between indoor and outdoor concentrations of metals, which was considered attributable to uncharacterized indoor sources of metals.

As noted, the dust mat Pb concentrations were correlated with the soil Pb concentrations, as depicted in **Figure 4-4**. The estimated regression coefficient of 0.2908 is consistent with that recommended by Tu et al. (2020). Tu et al. (2020) reviewed residential yard soil and indoor dust datasets from eight communities near historical mining, smelting and refining operations to quantify soil track-in. Using this data, they estimated a soil-to-dust transfer coefficient for Pb without internal sources (e.g., Pb-based paints) of 0.3-0.4. The data from the 2016 Dust Study further support a soil-to-dust transfer coefficient in this range and will be further discussed in **Section 6.1.2**.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 44 Of note, approximately half (32 of 63) of the properties that participated in the 2016 dust study had received some form of soil remediation (i.e., vegetable garden soil replacement, improvement in ground cover in bare areas and/or partial or full soil replacement) prior to the deployment of the dust mats and dustfall jars in August 2016. Of the 32 properties:

- 9 had received soil replacement (top 15 cm only) in their vegetable gardens only;
- 18 had received soil replacement (top 15 cm only) and ground cover improvement, 3 of which also received lawn care;
- 3 properties had received partial soil replacement to 30 cm, one of which also had ground cover improvements; and
- 2 properties had received full remediation to 30 cm, one had a vegetable garden, and one did not.

#### 4.2.2.2 Dustfall Monitoring

Dustfall measurements are taken at Birchbank, Downtown Trail, Columbia Avenue, Columbia Gardens, Tadanac, Trail Hospital, Glenmerry, Oasis, Stoney Creek, Waneta, and Warfield; the locations of the monitoring stations are identified on **Figure 4-5** and discussed in **Table 4-7**. The dustfall measurements are continuous samples analyzed monthly for total deposited particulate and metals. **Table 4-8** and **Figure 4-5** present the mean dustfall loadings from 2003 to 2022 at each of the monitoring locations.





Figure 4-5: Teck Community Air Monitoring Stations



Monitoring Station	Direction	Approx. Distance from Smelter Fenceline (m)	Latitude	Longitude	Dustfall	<b>PM</b> 10	TSP	Location Notes	Nearby Public Facilities / Sensitive Receptors
Columbia Avenue	East	400	49 5 57	117 42 17	Y	N	N	West edge of East Trail – residential area	Daycares
Downtown	South	400	49 5 43	117 42 30	Y	N	N	Downtown - Mixed-use commercial/residential area	Arena, Businesses, Restaurants
Glenmerry	East-southeast	2875	49 5 51	117 40 10	Y	N	N	West edge of Glenmerry – residential area	Glenmerry Elementary School
Tadanac	Northeast	30	49 6 38	117 43 22	Y	N	N	West edge of Tadanac – residential area	Park, playground
Trail Hospital	East-northeast	750	49 6 11	117 42 5	Y	N	N	East edge of East Trail - Higher elevation	Hospital, High School
Birchbank	North	7300	49 10 45	117 43 44	Y	Y	Y	Parkland / golf course	Golf Course and Park
Oasis	North	2800	49 7 59	117 44 45	Y	N	N	South edge of Oasis - rural residential area	
Stoney Creek	Northwest	300	49 6 36	117 43 56	Y	N	N	Located in Teck laydown area	
Warfield	West	1700	49 5 43	117 44 48	Y	Y	N	East edge of Warfield residential area	Elementary School, Outdoor Pool, Park
Warfield - Haley Park	West	1450	49 5 50	117 44 37	Y	Y	N	East edge of Warfield residential area - in a park	Elementary School, Outdoor Pool, Park
Columbia Gardens	Southeast	9500	49 2 42	117 36 26	Y	Y	N	Near an industrial area "Metal Tech Alley"	
Trimac (Waneta)	Southeast	10500	49 2 2	117 36 22	Y	N	N	Near Teck Waneta re-load facility and industrial area	
Sunningdale	Northeast	600	49 7 1	117 43 28	Y	N	N	East edge of Sunningdale residential area	Daycare, park
Butler Park	Southeast	950	49 5 46	117 41 52	Y (since2019)	Y	Y	East Trail residential area	Playing fields, Aquatic Centre

 Table 4-7: Air Monitoring Station Locations and Parameters Monitored

Notes:PM10particulate matter of 10 microns or less

TSP . total suspended particulate



Year	Columbia Ave	Downtown	Glenmerry	Tadanac	Trail Hospital	Birchbank	Oasis	Stoney Creek	Warfield
2003	0.010	0.006	0.005	0.014	0.007	0.001	0.002	0.007	0.002
2004	0.022	0.007	0.007	0.020	0.006	0.002	0.004	0.010	0.002
2005	0.021	0.006	0.006	0.017	0.005	0.003	0.002	0.006	0.001
2006	0.021	0.007	0.006	0.025	0.005	0.001	0.002	0.007	0.001
2007	0.019	0.006	0.005	0.028	0.005	0.001	0.003	0.009	0.001
2008	0.022	0.006	0.005	0.040	0.004	0.001	0.003	0.009	0.002
2009	0.019	0.008	0.007	0.034	0.006	0.000	0.003	0.009	0.001
2010	0.015	0.007	0.006	0.026	0.005	0.000	0.002	0.007	0.001
2011	0.012	0.006	0.006	0.045	0.007	0.001	0.003	0.010	0.001
2012	0.008	0.006	0.005	0.032	0.006	0.002	0.002	0.008	0.001
2013	0.011	0.006	0.006	0.025	0.006	0.001	0.003	0.011	0.001
2014	0.012	0.007	0.005	0.022	0.007	0.001	0.002	0.008	0.001
2015	0.010	0.006	0.004	0.018	0.006	0.001	0.002	0.007	0.001
2016	0.011	0.005	0.004	0.012	0.005	0.001	0.001	0.006	0.001
2017	0.007	0.004	0.004	0.010	0.004	0.001	0.002	0.004	0.001
2018	0.006	0.005	0.002	0.007	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.000
2019	0.004	0.004	0.002	0.006	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.001
2020	0.004	0.004	0.001	0.005	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.004	0.001
2021	0.005	0.004	0.002	0.005	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.000
2022	0.004	0.004	0.002	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.000
2023	0.006	0.006	0.001	0.004	0.002	0.000	0.001	0.003	0.001

 Table 4-8:
 Mean Annual Dustfall Loading (mg/dm²/day) (2003-2023)

<u>Notes:</u> mg/dm²/day

<sup>2</sup>/day milligrams per square decimetre per day





#### Figure 4-6: Mean Annual Dustfall Loading (mg/dm<sup>2</sup>/day) (2003 – 2023)

As presented in **Table 4-8** and in **Figure 4-6**, a declining trend in dustfall levels has been observed since the initiation of the Fugitive Dust Reduction Program. As presented, dustfall loadings have generally continued to decrease since the completion of the 2016 dust study, with the minor fluctuations seen in 2022-2023 influenced by an extended maintenance turnaround and the work to return to stable operations post-turnaround.

### 4.2.3 Air

Total suspended particulate (TSP) Pb and respirable dust (PM<sub>10</sub>) Pb data were reviewed and are summarized in **Section 4.2.3.1** and **4.2.3.2**, respectively. The monitoring stations where TSP and PM<sub>10</sub> are monitored are presented in **Figure 4-4** and in **Table 4-7**.

The TSP Pb data includes all of particle sizes, including particulate >10  $\mu$ m, or particles that are too large to penetrate beyond the larynx into the thoracic region of the respiratory tract, as well as smaller particles, such as PM<sub>10</sub> and PM<sub>2.5</sub>.

The  $PM_{10}$  Pb data represents the respirable dust Pb concentrations, or the fraction that has the potential to be inhaled and deposited in the lungs. Larger particles primarily deposit in the upper bronchial tubes and are transferred upwards and subsequently ingested. As there are no inhalation TRVs for Pb, the TSP data will be used in the HHRA to estimate exposures associated with inhalation of Pb in air, accounting for both inhaled and ingested fractions.



#### 4.2.3.1 Total Suspended Particulate Pb Concentrations

TSP is measured bi-daily, over 24-hour periods, at two stations, including a station located approximately 1 km southeast of the smelter, and another at Birchbank located approximately 8.5 km north of the smelter. **Table 4-9** and **Figure 4-7** present the mean, annual TSP Pb concentrations from 2010 to 2023 at Butler Park and Birchbank.

Year	Butler Park	Birchbank		
2010	0.464	0.143		
2011	0.360	0.260		
2012	0.392	0.134		
2013	0.346	0.171		
2014	0.325	0.123		
2015	0.305	0.102		
2016	0.250	0.095		
2017	0.163	0.074		
2018	0.133	0.056		
2019	0.111	0.051		
2020	0.070	0.044		
2021	0.068	0.037		
2022	0.057	0.033		
2023	0.079	0.045		

Table 4-9: Mean Annual TSP Pb Concentrations (µg/m<sup>3</sup>) (2010-2023)

#### Notes:

TSP total suspended particulate µg/m<sup>3</sup> micrograms per cubic metre



Figure 4-7: Mean Annual TSP Pb Concentrations Measured at Butler Park and Birchbank (2010 – 2023)



The mean, annual TSP Pb concentrations in 2022 at the two stations were 0.057  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> and 0.033  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> respectively and are approximately an order of magnitude lower than they were prior to the implementation of the FDRP in 2012. There was a slight increase in concentrations in 2023 due to an extended maintenance turnaround and the work to return to stable operations post-turnaround. Based on the data from these two monitoring stations, a declining trend in TSP Pb concentrations in community air has been observed since the initiation of the Fugitive Dust Reduction Program. Further, concentrations below the US EPA National Ambient Air Quality Standard (NAAQS) of 0.15  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> for a 3-month rolling average since 2020. It is noted that the US EPA NAAQS is used as there are no Canadian air quality guidelines for Pb, except for Ontario's, which is less stringent than the US EPA NAAQS.

#### 4.2.3.2 Respirable Dust Pb

Respirable dust Pb (PM<sub>10</sub> Pb) data collected from four stations in Trail (Butler Park, Birchbank, Warfield and Columbia Gardens) were reviewed. The PM<sub>10</sub> readings are taken over a 24-hour period every  $6^{th}$  day. The mean, annual PM<sub>10</sub> Pb concentrations at each of the stations from 2010 to 2023 are presented below in **Table 4-10** and **Figure 4-8**.

Year	Butler Park	Birchbank	Warfield	Haley Park**	Columbia Gardens
2010	0.175	0.103	0.046		0.104
2011	0.111	0.118	0.074		0.089
2012	0.159	0.077	0.057		0.069
2013	0.138	0.104	0.181		0.059
2014	0.162	0.057	0.049		0.070
2015	0.155	0.060	0.049		0.081
2016	0.107	0.042	0.036		0.055
2017	0.090	0.045	0.034		0.069
2018	0.070	0.034	0.024		0.058
2019	0.065	0.038	0.039		0.050
2020	0.040	0.033	0.032		0.030
2021	0.038	0.024	0.022		0.034
2022	0.031	0.023	0.020		0.033
2023	0.037	0.033	0.031*	0.042	0.028

Table 4-10: Mean, Annual PM<sub>10</sub> Pb Concentrations (µg/m<sup>3</sup>) (2010-2023)

#### Notes:

PM<sub>10</sub> particulate matter of 10 microns or less

μg/m<sup>3</sup> micrograms per cubic meter

Replacement station for Warfield, which was decommissioned in November 2023; operated for all of 2023.

\* Data collected from January to October. Station decommissioned in November 2023 and replaced by Haley Park station.





## Figure 4-8: Mean Annual PM<sub>10</sub> Pb Concentrations Measured at Butler Park, Birchbank, Warfield and Columbia Gardens (2010 – 2023)

The mean, annual PM<sub>10</sub> Pb concentrations in 2023 across the five monitoring stations range from 0.028  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> and 0.042  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. As with TSP, a steady decrease in PM<sub>10</sub> Pb concentrations has been observed overtime, with the largest improvements observed in the late 1990s, with the introduction of the KIVCET smelter. It is noted that in 2013 at Warfield and Birchbank monitoring locations, the mean annual PM<sub>10</sub> Pb concentrations were biased high by a single event in February due to an open vent at the KIVCET smelter and as with TSP, the minor fluctuations seen in 2022-2023 were influenced by an extended maintenance turnaround and the work to return to stable operations post-turnaround.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

52

**ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT** 

## 5. Problem Formulation

## 5.1 Setting

Trail was incorporated as a city in 1901, is in the Kootenay Region of BC and is a small, urban centre with a population of approximately 7,900 (Statistics Canada 2021). The City of Trail has an area of 34.78 km<sup>2</sup> and is located on both banks of the Columbia River within a relatively narrow valley between the Monashee Mountains to the west and the Selkirk Mountains to the east. Trail is situated on the traditional territory of the Sinixt, Ktunaxa, Secwepemc, and Syilx peoples.

Trail's history and growth occurred alongside the operating smelter, where the city centre spanned out from the smelter. This continues to be reflected in the present-day layout of commercial and residential properties within the city. Many of the first neighbourhoods were developed within walking distance of the smelter. The neighbourhoods found in Trail include Tadanac, East Trail, West Trail, Anable, Sunningdale, Glenmerry, Shavers Bench, Waneta, and Miral Heights, with these areas shown on **Figure 5-1**. Communities surrounding the City of Trail that are also part of the EM Area including Warfield, Rivervale, Oasis, Casino, and Columbia Gardens, as well as rural properties located in the Regional District Kootenay Boundary (RDKB) and Regional District Central Kootenay (RDCK).

Trail is a hub in the West Kootenay region and has many public facilities and community spaces. The Trail Memorial Centre and the Trail and District Public Library are in the downtown, commercial district. Parks, recreational facilities, and green spaces are present throughout the community, including Gyro Park, Jubilee Park, and Butler Park, to name a few. Two Secondary Schools and two Elementary Schools are in Trail and another Elementary School is present in Warfield. The Kootenay Boundary Regional Hospital is found in East Trail. Trail and the surrounding area are popular for outdoor recreational activities including biking, hiking, skiing, golfing, and fishing.

Teck's Trail Operations is the largest employer in Trail, providing 1,400 jobs. Due to the presence of metallurgical operations in Trail for over a century, there is a long history of environmental and health monitoring related to metals. Since the early 1990s, health and environmental monitoring, education and support programs have been available to residents in Trail and the surrounding area through the Task Force, followed by the THEP. In 2018, the EM Area associated with Teck Trail Operations was established based on concentration limits determined for arsenic, cadmium, Pb and zinc in surficial soils attributable to historical Trail smelter emissions. The EM Area boundary is shown below on **Figure 5-1**. Program efforts to date have been focussed within the THEP Areas 1, 2 and 3, which are show on the figure below. The THEP Areas were defined in the Trail Lead Study (Hertzman et al., 1990) prior to the establishment of the EM Area; THEP Area 1 extends outside of the EM Area near the community of Casino, BC.





Figure 5-1: The Trail Environmental Management Area Boundary and THEP Areas



## 5.1.1 Climate

Climate information for the Trail area was obtained from the Government of Canada Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources Climate Normals database available at https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate\_normals/index\_e.html. Data was obtained for the Warfield weather station, located approximately 3 km east of Teck Trail Operations at a slightly higher elevation of about 600 m asl, compared to Trail, which is at approximately 400 to 500 m asl. According to the referenced source, average daily temperatures in the area over the last two decades (1991 to 2020) range from -1.7 degrees Celsius in December and January to 21.2 degrees in July. The area receives approximately 785 mm of precipitation annually, with reported snow depths at the end of November, December, January and February 9, 28, 37 and 31 cm. Canada's weather stats for Trail, available at https://trail.weatherstats.ca/charts/count\_snow\_on\_ground-yearly.html reports that over the last six years, Trail has had over 100 days of snow cover (i.e., a minimum of 14.3 weeks of snow cover).

## 5.2 COPC Screening

Previous HHRAs (Exponent, 1997, 1998, 2000; Integral, 2008) have addressed other metals associated with the smelter operations, with the HHRA conducted by Hilts et al. (2001) assessing exposures and risks associated with Pb. Given the evolving science related to Pb toxicity, as well as the ongoing biomonitoring program, further Pb HHRA has not been conducted and thus, Pb is the contaminant of potential concern (COPC) of focus in this HHRA.

Pb was identified as a concern, specifically for young children, in Trail as early as the mid-1970s, when higher BLL were measured in children living in Trail, compared to a neighbouring community. Concerns were increased when a 1989 study found that approximately 39% of the children tested were above the US EPA's 'level of no concern' of 15 µg/L (Hilts et al., 2001), which prompted the formation of the Task Force in 1990. Since 1990, the Task Force, which became the THEC in 2001, has studied children's Pb exposure and developed actions based on the best and latest science, including the evolving science around Pb toxicity. Exposures to Pb in the children in the community have been measured through biomonitoring since 1991.

Teck has implemented various programs and operational improvements to continuously reduce exposures to Pb (and other contaminants) sourced from the smelter in the EM Area, resulting in a dramatic reduction in childhood BLL. In a 1992 Pb exposure pathway study involving 241 children living on 176 properties in Trail, the geomean BLL was 10.8  $\mu$ g/dL (Hilts et al., 1995; 2001), while in 2023 the BLL geomean in children in the areas of Trail nearest the smelter is 2.1  $\mu$ g/dL (Interior Health, 2023). **Figure 5-2** shows the decreasing trend in BLL geomeans by THEP Area (see **Figure 5-1**) over the period of 1991 to 2023.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024



Figure 5-2: Trend of Blood Pb Geomean by Area, Years 1991 to 2023 (From Interior Health, 2023)

Pb has been measured in soil across the Trail area at concentrations exceeding the BC CSR standards for various land uses (AL, RL, CL and IL), and thus, by definition, is a contaminant. The Pb concentrations are variable between the neighbourhoods in the Trail area, with higher concentrations present in neighbourhoods nearest the smelter, The Pb concentrations are summarized by THEP Area and neighbourhood in **Table 4-2**. Pb in exterior dust and soil is transported into houses and thus is present in indoor dust. Pb in indoor dust can also be sourced from other sources, such as Pb paint and cigarette smoke. Finally, based on the continued operation of the Trail smelter, Pb is also present in ambient air at low concentrations. Pb has therefore been retained as a COPC in these media.

It is noted that while historical smelter operations have contributed to Pb exposures in Trail, there is the potential for contributions from other sources such as Pb paint, historical Pb gasoline emissions and Pb from coal burning and coal ash (Ramboll, 2020), with many of the sources inter-correlated. Pb paint has been documented in homes in the Trail area by the THEP. Routine standardized paint screening (SPS) began in 2023 as part of the Healthy Homes visits and for properties receiving soil assessment and remediation. The SPS is being conducted to establish a dataset on the prevalence of Pb-based paint in the Trail area. To date, 82 properties have had the exterior of their homes tested, with Pb-based paint identified at 43 of the properties. Previous paint screening programs have indicated similar results, with approximately 50% of the properties tested (interior and exterior testing) having Pb-based paints. It is known that older home age and prevalence of Pb-based paints is associated with higher geomean BLLs (Schoof et al., 2015, Rabito et al., 2007, Etchevers et al., 2015), with increased prevalence of Pb paint in older houses, particularly those built before 1940. Older houses are also more likely to have deteriorated Pb paint surfaces. In addition, exterior Pb paint contributes to soil Pb concentrations, and thus to BLLs (Schoof et al., 2015).



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

## 5.3 Receptor Screening

It is widely accepted that children are more susceptible to Pb than older age groups (WHO, 2011; EFSA, 2013). As compared to older age groups, children are more susceptible to Pb for key reason that Pb toxicity affects their developing nervous system and brain, which can be measured as IQ effects, and thus they are more susceptible than adults to IQ effects (i.e., for adults, change in systolic blood pressure is the more sensitive endpoint).

Within the child age group, young children (less than 6 years of age) are more susceptible than older children (6 to less than 12 years of age) for key reasons that include: 1) although recent studies indicate they consume similar amounts of soil, young children weigh less; and 2) young children absorb more Pb than older children. The available data suggests that by the time a child reaches approximately six years of age, that they absorb Pb at a rate that is similar to an adult (Ziegler et al., 1978; Gulson et al., 1997; Mushak et al., 2011; Holstege et al., 2020).

Based on land use around the smelter, and as children are the most sensitive receptors, the residents of the Trail area are identified as the primary receptors of concern. Exposures and associated risks to all age groups will be evaluated.

There are parks and green spaces located within the Trail area. While children may be present at these locations, the HHRA predicts that Pb exposures are lower than those for the residential receptors, due to lower frequency and duration of exposures and similar Pb concentrations in Pb impacted media. Characterization of exposures and associated risks to residential receptors is therefore protective of park users.

There is the potential for agricultural workers and industrial workers whose work involves contact with soil to be more highly exposed to soil than other adult workers. On this basis, agricultural and industrial workers are retained as a receptor of concern in the HHRA and will be evaluated if risks in excess of the CSR risk-based standard are estimated for adolescent or adult residents (who are assumed to be exposed 24 hours a day, seven days a week, with Health Canada recommending the same soil ingestion rate across all groups). Commercial workers will also be evaluated separately where unacceptable risks to adolescent or adult residents are identified.

While there are no reserve lands in the EM Area, Indigenous peoples in the region are identified as receptors of concern based on the potential for exposure scenarios unique to Indigenous peoples.

## 5.4 Exposure Pathway Analysis

The literature indicates that while other exposure sources/pathways may be important for other age groups, in areas where Pb contaminated soils are present, soil and dust ingestion are the dominant exposure pathways for children 1 to 5 years old with elevated BLLs (ATSDR, 2020; Lanphear, 1997). While in some areas drinking water and diet may be significant contributors to exposure, these sources are not expected to be key contributors to exposure in the Trail area (see below discussion). Absorption of Pb through skin is negligible compared with uptake through ingestion and inhalation routes, with uptake via inhalation significantly lower than through ingestion of dust and soil, particularly for young children who exhibit frequent hand-to-mouth behaviour (ATSDR, 2020).



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 57 As detailed above, as stack and fugitive dust emissions have declined, community ambient air Pb concentrations have declined and thus, contributions from inhalation exposures will have decreased overtime. While this pathway will be carried forward for evaluation, contributions to overall exposures are expected to be low.

The following two pathways are not carried forward for evaluation: 1) soil leaching to groundwater used for drinking water or other domestic purposes; and 2) consumption of garden produce grown in impacted soils. The rationale for excluding these pathways is presented below. In the case of soil leaching to groundwater used for drinking water, previous studies have demonstrated that where groundwater impacts are found in the EM Area, there is no spatial trend consistent with soil impacts from historical aerial emissions. Groundwater continues to be monitored by Teck in areas of potential environmental concern. Domestic water in Trail is supplied via the municipal water distribution system. This includes the Bear Creek Well, which supplies domestic water to Upper and Lower Shavers Bench, Miral Heights, Glenmerry and Waneta. The Bear Creek well is completed at a depth of 42.5 m below ground surface and is noted by the City of Trail (2021) not to be influenced by contamination. Sampling conducted in 2021 (City of Trail, 2021) determined no Pb was present in the water source or the distribution system itself; however, it is noted that there is the potential for Pb solder and piping to be present in individual homes. Given that Pb from the smelter operations is not generally found in groundwater in the EM Area or the municipal drinking water, exposure to Pb through drinking water is not further evaluated.

Studies have indicated that Pb in homegrown produce does not translate into higher BLL for children that consume the produce (Brown et al., 2016; Hilts et al., 1995 and 2001). The following lines of evidence were considered in the determination of the potential for homegrown garden produce to contribute significantly to overall Pb exposures in Trail:

- The exposure pathway studies conducted in the 1990s (Hilts et al., 1995 and 2001) indicated no difference in BLL in children who reportedly consumed homegrown produce and those who did not (Hilts et al., 1995 and 2001).
- This finding is consistent with other studies that evaluated Pb exposures in mining and smelter communities, including in East Helena, Leadville, Midvale, Butte, and Silver Valley (Lewis & Clark County Health. Dept. et. al., 1983; Colorado Dept. of Health. et. al., 1989; Univ. of Cincinnati, 1990; Butte-Silver Bow Health. Dept. & Univ. of Cincinnati, 1992; Panhandle Dist. Health. Dept., 1986), as well as more recent studies that evaluate Pb exposures (Schoof et al., 2015; Brown et al., 2016).
- It is well documented that Pb absorption is lower in the presence of food (EFSA, 2013; Brown et al., 2016; ATSDR, 2020), with absorption of Pb with a meal varying from 3% to 21% (average of ~ 8%) (EFSA, 2013).
- As noted, the 1992 exposure pathway study identified that only approximately 2% of overall Pb exposure was from diet (total diet, of which a small fraction would be comprised of homegrown produce).
- Garden soil testing continues to be offered to home produce gardeners through THEP, with under the current prioritization program, all gardens greater than 400 mg/kg offered soil removal, or where areas may not be accessible for remediation, risk management (e.g., raised garden boxes with clean soil). Therefore, garden soils on these properties in excess of the prioritization target of 400 mg/kg have been replaced and/or are no longer used for gardening.



ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT

Based on the above lines of evidence, the consumption of garden produce was not further evaluated in this HHRA. As presented in **Section 9**, background BLLs, which would include contributions from diet, have been considered in the derivation of the Trail area specific, risk-based standard. Further, it is understood that biomonitoring, which provides a measure of Pb exposure from all sources, will continue in the community with an overall goal of continuous reduction in childhood Pb exposure to narrow the gap between BLLs of children in Trail compared to similar aged children in the rest of Canada.

To help identify exposure pathways that may be unique to Indigenous peoples living in the Trail area, Interior Health engaged with the Circle of Indigenous Nations (COINS) to obtain information on how Indigenous peoples in the Trail area are using the land and its resources. Representatives from COINs indicated that traditional plants such as berries, wild rose, cedar, dandelions, nettles, and willows may be harvested for consumption or for medicinal purposes (i.e., to make salves, tinctures or teas). No areas of specific concern where these plants may be harvested from were identified by COINs. Based on the above presented rationale for home grown produce, the consumption of traditional plants, either the plant itself, or medicines made from plants, is not expected to contribute significantly to exposures for Indigenous peoples. Additionally, given the limited dermal absorption of Pb, application of salves made from traditional plants are not expected to result in significant exposure; however, this assumption may need to be revisited if information becomes available that suggests that salves may enhance the absorption of Pb. Based on the limited available information on potential traditional uses of plants grown in the Trail area, as well as areas that may be used for harvesting, there is uncertainty in the significance of potential exposures to this receptor group. Further information is recommended to be collected from local Indigenous peoples during consultation scheduled for 2025.

In summary, the following Pb exposure pathways were carried forward for evaluation in the HHRA:

- Incidental ingestion of soil and outdoor dust (i.e., dust deposited on outdoor surfaces);
- Inhalation of soil particulate (i.e., dust generated from soils);
- Incidental ingestion of dust in-home environment;
- Inhalation of dust in the home environment; and
- Inhalation of Pb in ambient air (as TSP Pb concentrations).

Except for soil and outdoor dust ingestion which are identified as inoperable pathways for the infant age group and thus, will not be evaluated for infants, each of the above exposure pathways will be quantitatively evaluated for all age groups.

## 5.5 Conceptual Site Model

A preliminary conceptual site model has been developed based on the Problem Formulation and is presented as **Figure 5-3**. The potentially significant exposure pathways identified in the Conceptual Site Model (CSM) will be carried forward for quantitative evaluation in the future HHRA.

**Figure 5-4** provides a pictorial representation of potential Pb exposure pathways within the home and was developed by the THEP for educational purposes.





Figure 5-3: Human Health Conceptual Site Model for Pb from the Teck Trail Smelter





Figure 5-4: Human Health Conceptual Site Model – Potential Pb Exposure Pathways in the Home Environment (THEP, 2022)



**ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT** 

## 6. Exposure Assessment

The exposure point concentrations (EPCs), receptor characteristics, bioavailability estimates, and exposure equations used to estimate exposures via the operable exposure pathways carried forward for evaluation in the HHRA are presented in the following sections.

The Pb HHRA uses a simplified, probabilistic approach to provide both reasonable maximum (RM) estimates, and central tendency (CT) estimates of potential exposures and associated risks (see **Section 8** for Risk Characterization) at the neighbourhood level. This approach includes the use of both RM and CT EPCs and select RM and CT receptor characteristics, as described below. In addition, a third scenario, referred to throughout the remainder of the report at the Protocol 1 scenario, has been included based on the requirements for deterministic risk assessment included in BC ENV's Protocol 1 (BC ENV, 2023b).

The exposure (and risk) estimates are provided in **Appendix A, Tables I-1 to I-60** and are representative of pre-remediation or risk management conditions at properties across the various neighbourhoods in the Trail area. As discussed in earlier sections, while the focus of the SMP has been residential properties and community areas (e.g., parks and school grounds), the dataset provides a comprehensive understanding of surface soil concentrations across neighbourhoods, including agricultural, commercial, and industrial properties. On this basis and based on the rationale presented in **Section 5.4**, characterization of exposures and risks to residential receptors is protective of other receptor groups. Where risks that exceed the CSR risk-based standard are estimated for adolescent and adult residential receptors, characterization of exposures and risks to other receptor groups will be conducted.

## 6.1 **Exposure Point Concentrations**

The EPCs, or the estimated concentrations of Pb in the exposure media (i.e., soil, indoor dust, and air) that people in the Trail area have the potential to be exposed to, are summarized as follows.

## 6.1.1 Soil

A range of soil Pb concentrations measured across the RL and PL properties in the various neighbourhoods in the Trail area were used as soil EPCs. In the estimation of the RM and Protocol 1 scenario exposure estimates, the higher of the 95% UCLM and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile soil Pb concentration for each neighbourhood was selected as the EPC. In the estimation of the CT scenario estimates, the arithmetic mean neighbourhood soil Pb concentration was selected as the EPC. Summary statistics for all neighbourhoods are presented in **Table 4-2**.

Due to the limited number of properties sampled in Birchbank, Blueberry Creek and Genelle (as noted in **Section 4.2**), and the neighbourhood approach used in the HHRA, these neighbourhoods were not carried forward for evaluation in the HHRA but have been identified as areas where additional sampling should be conducted in the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024).

The mean and 95% UCLM Pb concentrations for each neighbourhood were calculated using US EPA's Statistical Software ProUCL Version 5.1, while the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile Pb concentrations were calculated in Microsoft Excel. The ProUCL outputs are provided in **Appendix B**. The soil EPCs for each neighbourhood are provided in **Table 6-1**, below.



THEP Assessment Area	Neighbourhood	RM and Protocol 1 Scenarios EPC (mg/kg)	CT Scenario EPC (mg/kg)
0	Montrose	156.6	84.4
1	Annable	543.7	308.3
1	Casino	517.8	169.9
1	Columbia Gardens	397.8	212.4
1	Oasis	735.2	383.8
1	Waneta	538	260.2
1	Warfield	382.6	205.5
2	Glenmerry	887.9	461.2
2	Miral Heights	214	106.9
2	Shavers Bench	1453.2	747
2	Sunningdale	763.6	431.7
3	East Trail	3291	1575
3	Rivervale	1148.2	550.2
3	Tadanac	3257.2	1535
3	West Trail	1637.4	897

#### Table 6-1: Soil Pb EPCs by Neighbourhood

Notes:

mg/kg RM

milligram per kilogram, or parts per million (ppm) Reasonable Maximum scenario Protocol 1 Protocol 1 scenario

Central Tendency scenario CT

FPC Exposure point concentration

#### 6.1.2 Dust

As discussed in Section 4, the indoor dust Pb concentrations measured in the 2016 Dust Study were not correlated with the soil Pb concentrations from the yards of the properties that participated in the study. As noted, participants in the study were instructed not to disturb the dust mats and jars used in the study, and thus, the lack of correlation is unlikely to be solely attributable to variability in cleaning practices in the homes. The lack of correlation is considered in part attributable to indoor sources of Pb, with contributions to indoor dust Pb from Pb-based paints, along with other potential indoor sources (e.g., smoking). Therefore, dust concentrations modelled from Pb soil concentrations are considered more representative of exposures associated with the smelter. This approach remains conservative as the soil Pb concentrations used to estimate the indoor dust concentrations include potential contributions from other exterior sources, including exterior Pb-based paints, the previous use of leaded fuels, etc.

Modelled concentrations were estimated based on the RM/Protocol 1 and CT scenario soil EPCs and soil-to-dust transfer coefficients for Pb from Tu et al. (2020). As noted, Tu et al. (2020) estimated a soil-todust transfer coefficient for Pb without internal sources based on data from eight communities near historical mining, smelting and refining operations. They estimated a soil-to-dust transfer coefficient of 0.3-0.4, which is supported by the dust mat data from the 2016 Dust Study, which estimated a coefficient of 0.291. A soil-to-dust transfer coefficient of 0.3 was used in the estimation of the CT scenario exposure estimates, while 0.4 was used in the estimation of the RM/Protocol 1 scenario exposure estimates.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 63

**ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT** 

**Table 6-2** presents the indoor dust Pb EPCs by neighbourhood, including both a RM/Protocol 1 scenario EPC based on the RM soil EPC (i.e., higher of the 95% UCLM and 90<sup>th</sup> percentile soil Pb concentration for each neighbourhood), and a CT EPC based on the CT soil EPC (i.e., arithmetic mean soil Pb concentration for each neighbourhood).

THEP Assessment Area	Neighbour- hood	Soil RM and Protocol 1 Scenarios EPC (mg/kg)	Indoor Dust RM and Protocol 1 Scenarios EPC <sup>a</sup> (mg/kg)	Soil CT Scenario EPC (mg/kg)	Indoor Dust CT Scenario EPC <sup>b</sup> (mg/kg)
0	Montrose	156.6	62.6	84.4	25.3
1	Annable	543.7	217.5	308.3	92.5
1	Casino	517.8	207.1	169.9	51
1	Columbia Gardens	397.8	159.1	212.4	63.7
1	Oasis	735.2	294.1	383.8	115.1
1	Waneta	538	215.2	260.2	78.1
1	Warfield	382.6	153	205.5	61.7
2	Glenmerry	887.9	355.2	461.2	138.4
2	Miral Heights	214	85.6	106.9	32.1
2	Shavers Bench	1453.2	581.3	747	224.1
2	Sunningdale	763.6	305.4	431.7	129.5
3	East Trail	3291	1316.4	1575	472.5
3	Rivervale	1148.2	459.3	550.2	165.1
3	Tadanac	3257.2	1302.9	1535	460.5
3	West Trail	1637.4	655	897	269.1

Table 6-2: Modelled Indoor Dust Pb EPCs by Neighbourhood

Notes:

<sup>a</sup> Estimated as Soil RM/Protocol 1 scenario EPC \* 0.4 (soil to indoor dust partition coefficient from Tu et al., 2020)

<sup>b</sup> Estimated as Soil CT scenario EPC \* 0.3 (soil to indoor dust partition coefficient from Tu et al., 2020)

mg/kg milligram per kilogram, or parts per million (ppm)

RM Reasonable Maximum scenario

Protocol 1 Protocol 1 scenario

CT Central Tendency scenario

EPC Exposure point concentration

## 6.1.3 Air

As summarized in **Section 4.2.3.1**, TSP is measured every second day, over 24-hour periods, at Butler Park in East Trail, located approximately 1 km southeast of the smelter, and at Birchbank located approximately 8.5 km north of the smelter. TSP Pb concentrations have steadily declined over the last decade since the implementation of the FDRP, with the minor fluctuations observed in 2022-2023 influenced by an extended maintenance turnaround and the work to return to stable operations post-turnaround. To be health protective, the average annual TSP concentration measured at Butler Park (the station nearest the smelter and with the higher concentrations of the two stations) over the last five years (2019 to 2023) of 0.077  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> has been used as the air EPC for to estimate exposures for all three scenarios.



## 6.2 **Receptor Characteristics**

Health Canada (2018 [for indoor dust] and 2024) receptor characteristics have been used in the estimation of exposures to Pb in soil, indoor dust, and air, with additional sources referenced as required. A summary of the receptor characteristics used to estimate exposures are summarized in the following sections.

## 6.2.1 Age Groups

Exposures have been estimated for all age groups, including:

- Infants (ages 0 to less than 6 months);
- Young children (ages 6 months to less than 5 years);
- Older children (ages 5 years to less than 12 years);
- Adolescents (ages 12 years for less than 19 years); and
- Adults (19 years and older).

### 6.2.2 Body Weight (BW)

Health Canada (2024) was used as the key source of information for body weight. Consistent with BC ENV and the Canadian Council for Ministers of the Environment (CCME) (2006) practice in the development of soil quality standards/guidelines, average body weights provided in Health Canada (2024), and adopted from Richardson (1997), have been used to estimate CT scenario exposures. These average body weights have also been used to estimate the Protocol 1 scenario estimates as recommended in Protocol 1 (BC ENV, 2023b). The source data used by Health Canada to estimate the average body weights was reviewed. Richardson (1997) presents a summary of the recommendations as the arithmetic mean body weights with standard deviation. To estimate the RM exposures, the lower end of the range (calculated as the standard deviation subtracted from the arithmetic mean) was used. The body weights used in the RM and CT estimates are summarized in **Table 6-3**.

	Body Weight (kg)		
Receptor Group	RM* Scenario	Protocol 1 and CT Scenarios	
Infant children (ages 0 to less than 6 months)	5.3	8.2	
Young children (ages 6 months to less than 5 years)	12	16.5	
Older children (ages 5 years to less than 12 years)	24	32.9	
Adolescents (ages 12 years for less than 19 years)	46.2	59.7	
Adults (19 years and older)	56.2	70.7	

#### Table 6-3: Body Weights

Note:

RM\* Scenario Reasonable Maximum; calculated based on data from Richardson, 1997 by subtracting the standard deviation from the arithmetic mean.

CT and Protocol 1 Scenarios Central Tendency; mean body weights provided by Health Canada, 2024.



## 6.2.3 Soil Ingestion Rate (SIR)

Upper bound soil ingestion rates used to estimate RM exposures for the various age groups were obtained to from Health Canada (2024). The Health Canada (2024) soil ingestion rate of 80 mg/day for young children (age 6 months to less than 5 years) was also used for older children as both Wilson et al. (2013) and US EPA (2017) have concluded that older children (5 to less than 12 years) incidentally ingest approximately the same amount of soil as young children. For adolescents and adults, the Health Canada (2024) soil ingestion rate of 20 mg/day was selected to estimate RM exposures both age groups. Incidental soil ingestion was not identified as an operable exposure pathway for infants and thus, no soil ingestion rate was identified for this age group. It is noted that exposures to indoor dust (via ingestion and inhalation) been estimated for infants, using the exposure rates presented in the following section.

The Health Canada (2024) upper-bound soil ingestion rates were also used to estimate Protocol 1 scenario exposures for the various age groups; however, the Health Canada (2024) soil ingestion rate of 20 mg/day for older children was used for this age group.

Mean soil ingestion rates were reviewed from Stanek et al. (2012), Wilson et al. (2013) and US EPA (2017). Stanek et al. (2012) and Wilson et al. (2013) estimated arithmetic mean soil ingestion rates for a young child in the range of 20 mg/day to 30 mg/day, while the US EPA (2017) estimated a rate of up to 40 mg/day. A mean rate of 30 mg/day was used to estimate CT exposures for both young and older children (5 to 11 years).

Both Wilson et al. (2013) and US EPA (2017) have concluded that soil ingestion rates are markedly reduced for adolescents and adults as compared to young and older children and estimated an arithmetic mean soil ingestion rate in the range of 5 mg/day to 10 mg/day. A soil ingestion rate of 7.5 mg/d was selected as the arithmetic mean rate to estimate CT exposures for adolescents and adults.

The soil ingestion rates used in the HHRA in the estimation of the RM and CT exposures are summarized in **Table 6-4**.

	Soil Ingestion Rate (mg/d)			
Receptor Group	RM Scenario Rate	CT Scenario Rate	Protocol 1 Scenario	
Infant children (ages 0 to less than 6 months)	-	-	-	
Young children (ages 6 months to less than 5 years)	80	30	80	
Older children (ages 5 years to less than 12 years)	80	30	20	
Adolescents (ages 12 years for less than 19 years)	20	7.5	20	
Adults (19 years and older)	20	7.5	20	

#### Table 6-4: Soil Ingestion Rates

<u>Note:</u> -RM

CT

Protocol 1

no operable soil exposure pathways were identified for infants, and therefore metric is not provided Reasonable Maximum scenario Protocol 1 scenario

Central Tendency scenario



#### **Dust Ingestion and Inhalation Rates** 6.2.4

Health Canada (2018) provides recommended dust ingestion rates and references several studies where additional information on dust ingestion can be found. The Health Canada (2018) rates were selected to estimate the CT and Protocol 1 scenario exposures, while Wilson et al. (2013) was reviewed to identify upper bound dust ingestion rates to estimate RM exposures.

Table 6-5 summarizes the indoor dust ingestion rates used to estimate the RM, CT and Protocol 1 scenario exposures.

	Dust Ingestion Rate (mg/d)		
Receptor Group	RM Rate	CT and Protocol 1 Scenario Rate	
Infant children (ages 0 to less than 6 months)*	38	38	
Young children (ages 6 months to less than 5 years)	54	41	
Older children (ages 5 years to less than 12 years)	41	31	
Adolescents (ages 12 years for less than 19 years)	2.8	2.2	
Adults (19 years and older)	3.3	2.5	

#### Table 6-5: Indoor Dust Ingestion Rates

Notes:

RM

CT

in the absence of a CT rate for infants, the RM rate for infants has been used Reasonable Maximum scenario Protocol 1 Protocol 1 scenario Central Tendency scenario

Given the uncertainty in estimating exposure via dust inhalation versus ingestion, health agencies often recommend using a single rate (g/day) to estimate exposures via both pathways. To ensure that upper bound exposures are considered, a literature review was conducted to identify dust specific inhalation rates. Dust inhalation rates were obtained from Oomen at al. (2008). Inhaled house dust, as estimated from particles in air  $(mq/m^3)$  is generally assumed to be 7.6 m<sup>3</sup>/d for children and 19.9 m<sup>3</sup>/d for adults. When assuming a constant concentration of suspended particles in air of 100  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, the amount of inhaled suspended particles is 0.8 mg/d and 2.0 mg/d for adults and children, respectively. These values were adopted for the estimation of exposures via the inhalation of indoor dust and were used to estimate exposures for all three scenarios. For infants, young children and older children, a value of 2.0 mg/d was assumed, while for adolescents and adults a dust inhalation rate of 0.8 mg/d was assumed.

In comparison and to demonstrate the conservatism in the use of the above dust ingestion rates based on a concentration of suspended particles in air of 100 µg/m<sup>3</sup>, concentrations of suspended particles in air (i.e., suspended dust) are typically observed to range from 13 µg/m<sup>3</sup> and 35 µg/m<sup>3</sup> inside homes, with higher concentrations found directly around persons (i.e., personal cloud) and a value of 60 µg/m<sup>3</sup> considered representative for moderately crowded places such as residences (Oomen and Lijzen., 2004).

Table 6-6 summarizes the indoor dust inhalation rates used to estimate exposures.



#### Table 6-6: Dust Inhalation Rates

Receptor Group	Dust Inhalation Rate All Scenarios (mg/d)
Infant children (ages 0 to less than 6 months)	2.0
Young children (ages 6 months to less than 5 years)	2.0
Older children (ages 5 years to less than 12 years)	2.0
Adolescents (ages 12 years for less than 19 years)	0.8
Adults (19 years and older)	0.8

### 6.2.5 Air Inhalation Rates

Health Canada (2024) recommended inhalation rates have been used for all age groups to estimate exposures for each of the exposure scenarios, including:

- Infants: 2.2 m<sup>3</sup>/d;
- Younger children: 8.3 m<sup>3</sup>/d;
- Older children: 14.5 m<sup>3</sup>/d;
- Adolescents: 15.6 m<sup>3</sup>/d; and
- Adults: 16.6 m<sup>3</sup>/d.

### 6.2.6 Time Spent Indoors and Outdoors

In accordance with Health Canada (2024) guidance, residential receptors were assumed to be present at home 24 hours per day, 7 days per week for 52 weeks per year. Based on the climate data for the region, snow cover is present for approximately 13 weeks of the year and thus exposures to soils would not occur during this period. However, to not underestimate exposures and associated risks, it has been assumed that residential receptors have the potential to be exposed year round. Additionally, it was assumed that outdoor air exposures to TSP Pb would occur for up to 8 hours per day, in addition to the assumed 24-hour exposure time for inhalation of Pb in indoor dust. Although these values exceed 24 hours in a day, this was assumed due to the potential for days with no outdoor time.

## 6.3 Bioavailability Assessment

Bioavailability factors considered for Pb for the oral and inhalation exposures are detailed below.

### 6.3.1 Oral Bioaccessibility

When soil containing Pb is ingested, Health Canada (2010 and 2021a) indicate that the *in vitro* bioaccessibility (IVBA) assay coupled with the US EPA (2007) regression equation can be used to estimate the relative absorption factor across the gastrointestinal tract. Royal Roads University (2017) completed the physiological-based extraction test (PBET) on 24 soil samples collected from Trail, BC. These data indicated an IVBA of 90.9% as the 95% upper confidence limit of the mean (UCLM).



Based on the above IVBA result, the relative oral bioaccessibility of Pb in soils from Trail, BC can be estimated using the following US EPA (2007) equation:

$$AF_{G} = 0.878 \text{ x IVBA} - 2.8$$

where:

AF<sub>G</sub> = relative oral bioavailability of Pb via soil ingestion route (as %)

IVBA = in vitro bioaccessibility assay result (as %)

Substituting the site-specific IVBA result of 90.9% into the equation above, the relative oral bioavailability in the 24 soil samples was estimated to be 77.0%.

An additional three soil samples from Trail, BC were included in the BC Environmental Laboratory Technical Advisory Committee's (BCELTAC) Round Robin Study titled In Vitro Bioaccessibility Round Robin II Testing for Lead and Arsenic in Soil Samples (BCELTAC, 2022). PBET was run on the three samples by four BC laboratories, with each reporting three replicate analyses per sample. These data indicated an IVBA of 95.2% as the 95% UCLM of the dataset (3 samples x 3 replicates x 4 labs = 36 results). Substituting the site-specific IVBA result of 95.2% into the equation above, the relative oral bioavailability of Pb in the 3 additional soil samples was estimated to be 80.8%, which is alignment with the estimate for the 24 initial samples.

The average of the 95% UCLMs for the two datasets of 78.9% (rounded to 79%) was used in the estimation of oral exposures to Pb in this HHRA.

### 6.3.2 Inhalation Absorption

As per Health Canada (2010, 2024) guidance, 100% absorption was assumed in the estimation of inhalation exposures.

## 6.4 Exposure Intake Equations

Health Canada (2018 and 2024) exposure intake equations have been used to estimate exposures to Pb via each of the operable exposure pathways identified. The equations are provided below.

### 6.4.1 Direct Contact with Soil and Dust

#### 6.4.1.1 Incidental Ingestion

Incidental soil and dust ingestion exposures were estimated according to the following Health Canada (2024) equation:

$$EIG = \frac{C \times IG \times RAF_{ORAL} \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EIG	=	exposure from the ingestion pathway ( $\mu$ g/kg body weight[bw]/day)
С	=	chemical concentration ( $\mu$ g/g) in soil or indoor dust
IG	=	ingestion rate of person (g/day)



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

RAFORAL	=	relative absorption factor from gastrointestinal tract (unitless, 0.79 or 79% used)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed/7 days (unitless)
D <sub>3</sub>	=	weeks per year exposed/52 weeks (unitless)
BW	=	body weight of person (kg)

#### 6.4.1.2 Inhalation of Soil Particulate

There is the potential for inhalation of soil particulate or dust originating from surface soils. The inhalation of soil particulate was evaluated through the calculation of a dose ( $\mu$ g/kg bw/d) due to the absence of an inhalation specific TRV for Pb.

As per Health Canada guidance (2024), an airborne particulate matter concentration of respirable particulate matter (i.e.,  $PM_{10}$ ) of 0.76 µg/m<sup>3</sup> was assumed.

Soil particulate inhalation exposure was estimated as per the following equation (Health Canada, 2024):

$$EIS = \frac{C_s \times P_{air} \times IR_A \times RAF_{INH} \times D_1 \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EIS	=	exposure from the inhalation pathway for soil (μg/kg bw/d)
Cs	=	soil chemical concentration (µg/g)
P <sub>Air</sub>	=	particulate concentration in air (g/m³)
IRA	=	air intake rate (m³/day)
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (unitless, 1.0 or 100% assumed)
D <sub>1</sub>	=	hours per day exposed/24 hours (unitless)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed/7 days (unitless)
D3	=	weeks per year exposed/52 weeks (unitless)
BW	=	body weight (kg)

### 6.4.2 Inhalation of Outdoor Air

Exposure to Pb in outdoor air (as TSP Pb) was estimated using the following Health Canada (2024) equation. Like the estimation of exposures to soil particulate, exposures were estimated as a dose in the absence of an inhalation TRV for Pb.

$$EIA = \frac{C_{air} \times IR_A \times RAF_{INH} \times D_1 \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EIA	=	exposure from the inhalation TSP Pb (μg/m³)
$C_{\text{air}}$	=	outdoor air concentration (µg/m³)
IRA	=	inhalation rate (m³/day)
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (unitless, 1.0 or 100% assumed)



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 70

D1	=	hours per day exposed/24 hours (unitless)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed/7 days (unitless)
D3	=	weeks per year exposed/52 weeks (unitless)
BW	=	body weight (kg)

#### 6.4.2.1 Inhalation of Indoor Dust

Dust inhalation exposure was estimated as per the following equation, which was modified from Health Canada (2024):

$$EID = \frac{C_{dust} \times IG \times RAF_{INH} \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EID	=	exposure from the indoor dust inhalation pathway (μg/kg bw/day)
Cdust	=	chemical concentration (μg/g) in indoor dust
IDR	=	indoor dust inhalation rate (g/day)
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (unitless, 1.0 or 100% assumed)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed/7 days (unitless)
D <sub>3</sub>	=	weeks per year exposed/52 weeks (unitless)
BW	=	body weight of person (kg)



# 7. Toxicity Reference Values for Pb

BC ENV requires that the Health Canada recommended provisional TRV for Pb of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day be used to estimate risks to children.

The basis of the Health Canada provisional TRV is a benchmark dose (lower confidence limit) for a 1% incremental risk (BMDL<sub>01</sub>) from European Food Safety Authority (EFSA, 2013), which is based on an estimated blood Pb level of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL for a 1 point IQ decrement in children. Similarly, the World Health Organization (WHO)/Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2011) estimated a blood Pb level of 2  $\mu$ g/dL for a 1 point IQ decrement in children. The pooled analysis of Lanphear et al. (2005) involving more than 1,300 children was selected as the basis of the EFSA (2013) and WHO (2011) analyses. Although EFSA (2013) arrived at conclusions that suggested Pb was approximately twice as potent as WHO (2011) when expressed as blood levels (i.e., for a 1 IQ point decrement, WHO concluded a blood Pb level of 2  $\mu$ g/dL versus the EFSA estimate of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL), the key difference was that EFSA was based on a 95% lower confidence limit approach while WHO (2011) concluded that a central estimate provided reasonable protection. Despite their differences in selecting BLLs, WHO (2011) and EFSA (2013) provided very similar potency estimates when expressed as intake rates associated with a 1 IQ point decrement: WHO (2011) concluded that 0.6  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d while EFSA (2013) concluded that 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d (primarily due to reliance of different toxicokinetic relationships).

The Health Canada TRV was adopted from EFSA (2013) and has been recommended across all age groups; however, it is widely accepted that the critical effect of Pb in children (IQ decrement) and adults (systolic blood pressure) differ. Although not documented, it is understood that Health Canada's application of the 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day TRV across all age groups is to protect women of childbearing age, and potential fetal exposure.

Wilson and Richardson (2013) developed risk specific doses (RSDs) for toddlers and adults of 0.6  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d and 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d, respectively, based on WHO (2011). The recommended TRVs were used by BC ENV in the derivation of the numerical soil standards for Pb and the TRVs are included in BC ENV's Protocol 28 (BC ENV, 2024). Wilson and Richardson (2013) considered women of childbearing age and the potential for fetal exposure. Based on lower Pb oral absorption for adults (40% of the rate of childbearing age (for 1 IQ point decrement) was estimated to be 1.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day. Wilson and Richardson (2013) indicated that the fetal (umbilical cord) to maternal blood Pb concentration ratio is approximately 0.9 (with reference to ATSDR, 2007), with a range of approximately 0.7 to 0.9.

- Using this approach, along with the Health Canada provisional TRV of 0.5 µg/kg bw/day, a TRV for an adult is calculated as:
  - 0.5 μg/kg bw/day ÷ 0.4 = 1.25 (rounded to 1.3) μg/kg bw/day

The calculated TRV of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day is equivalent to the RSD developed by Wilson and Richardson (2013) based on a 1 mmHg increase in systolic blood pressure. Therefore, a TRV for Pb of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day for adults is protective of both blood pressure effects and effects to the fetus for women who are pregnant or who could potentially become pregnant.

In summary, the following Pb TRVs will be used in the HHRA:

- Adults and adolescents (> 12 years of age to 19 years of age), including women of childbearing age:
   1.3 μg/kg bw/day; and
- Infants, toddlers and children (≤ 11 years of age): 0.5 µg/kg bw/day.


## 8. Risk Characterization

Risks for receptors of concern were estimated based on a comparison of RM, CT and Protocol 1 scenario exposure estimates (from **Section 6**, Exposure Assessment) to TRVs (from **Section 7**, Toxicity Assessment). As presented in **Section 7**, the TRV for children  $\leq$  11 years of age is expressed as a risk specific dose (µg/kg body weight/day) based on an estimated blood Pb level of 1.2 µg/dL for a 1 point IQ decrement in children. The TRV for adolescents (> 12 years of age) and adults is the TRV for children adjusted based on lower Pb oral absorption for adults (40% of the rate of children) and assuming a fetal cord: maternal BLL concentration ratio of 1.0. The adjusted TRV of 1.3 µg/kg bw/day is equivalent to the equivalent to the RSD developed by Wilson and Richardson (2013) based on a 1 mmHg increase in systolic blood pressure.

Risks associated with oral and inhalation exposures were estimated as hazard quotients (HQ) values according to the following formula:

A Hazard Index (HI) (the sum of the HQs for all routes of exposure) was estimated for exposure to Pb as the sum of the individual HQ for all applicable exposure pathways as follows:

Where:

HI = hazard index HQ = hazard quotient INGsoil = ingestion of soil INHsoil dust = inhalation of soil dust/soil particulate INGindoor dust = ingestion of indoor dust INHindoor dust = inhalation of indoor dust INHair = inhalation of air (as TSP Pb)

According to the BC CSR, total HIs were interpreted according to the following:

- < 1 = no unacceptable human health risks</p>
- > 1 = potential unacceptable risks which may require detailed analysis that considers the uncertainty in the risk estimates and/or risk management

In all cases, however, interpretation of HI values requires careful consideration of all uncertainties in the risk assessment before final conclusions can be made.

Given the compounded conservatism in the HHRA model, including the assumption of a linear soil Pb to BLL dose-response relationship, the HHRA model overpredicts exposures and associated risks. Given this, the estimated HIs are health protective, and where HIs  $\leq$  1 have been predicted for the CT scenario, there is confidence that there are no unacceptable human health risks. Where HQs > 1 have been predicted for this scenario, further consideration of the uncertainties in the risk estimates is required. The uncertainties in the HHRA are discussed in **Section 10**, along with the implications of those uncertainties on the results of the HHRA.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 73

## 8.1 **Risk Estimates for Residents**

As discussed, residential receptors were identified as the primary receptors of concern in the HHRA. While young children (ages 6 months to 5 years) were identified as the most sensitive age group, exposures and associated risks to all age groups were quantified. The characterization of risks to residential receptors in the Trail area is protective of other receptor groups including agricultural and industrial workers. While further information is required to understand Indigenous peoples' traditional use of plants in the EM Area, the characterization of exposures via the other media evaluated in the HHRA (i.e., soil, air, indoor and outdoor dust) for the residential receptors is protective of those potentially experienced by Indigenous peoples.

A summary of the HIs estimated for the residential receptor exposed to Pb in soil, air and indoor and outdoor dust in the Trail area is presented in **Table 8-1** and in **Appendix A**, with **Tables I-1** to **I-40** presenting the results for the RM and CT scenarios, and **Tables 1-41** to **I-60** presenting the results from the Protocol 1 scenario. The HQs are presented by THEP Assessment Area (i.e., 0. 1, 2 and 3), further broken down by neighbourhood. The HIs are presented for the RM, CT and Protocol 1 scenarios and for all age groups. Worked calculations for exposure and risk estimates are included in **Appendix C**.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 74

THEP Assessment Area	Neighbourbood	1	Infant		Young Child			Older Child			Adolescent			Adult		
	itterginocurricou	RM	СТ	<b>P1</b>	RM	СТ	P1	RM	СТ	P1	RM	СТ	P1	RM           0.2           0.1           0.1           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.1           0.2           0.3           0.8	СТ	P1
0	Montrose	0.8	0.2	0.5	2.2	0.4	<u>1.2</u>	1.1	0.2	0.3	0.06	0.02	0.05	0.2	0.02	0.1
1	Annable	2.7	0.8	<u>1.7</u>	7.5	<u>1.3</u>	<u>4.1</u>	3.6	0.7	0.8	0.2	0.04	0.1	0.1	0.04	0.1
1	Casino	2.6	0.4	<u>1.7</u>	7.1	0.8	<u>3.9</u>	3.4	0.4	0.8	0.2	0.03	0.1	0.1	0.03	0.1
1	Columbia Gardens	1.9	0.5	<u>1.3</u>	5.3	1.0	<u>3.0</u>	2.6	0.5	0.6	0.1	0.03	0.1	0.1	0.03	0.1
1	Oasis	3.6	0.9	<u>2.3</u>	10.0	<u>1.7</u>	<u>5.5</u>	4.8	0.8	1.1	0.2	0.05	0.2	0.2	0.04	0.1
1	Waneta	2.7	0.6	<u>1.7</u>	7.4	<u>1.2</u>	<u>4.1</u>	3.5	0.6	0.8	0.2	0.04	0.1	0.1	0.03	0.1
1	Warfield	1.9	0.5	<u>1.2</u>	5.3	0.9	<u>2.9</u>	2.5	0.5	0.6	0.1	0.03	0.1	0.1	0.03	0.1
2	Glenmerry	4.4	<u>1.1</u>	<u>2.8</u>	12.1	<u>2.0</u>	<u>6.7</u>	5.8	1.0	<u>1.3</u>	0.3	0.06	0.2	0.2	0.05	0.2
2	Miral Heights	1.1	0.3	0.7	3.0	0.5	<u>1.7</u>	1.5	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.02	0.1	0.1	0.02	0.1
2	Shavers Bench	7.1	<u>1.8</u>	<u>4.6</u>	19.7	<u>3.2</u>	<u>10.9</u>	9.4	<u>1.5</u>	<u>2.1</u>	0.4	0.08	0.3	0.4	0.07	0.3
2	Sunningdale	3.8	1.1	<u>2.4</u>	10.4	<u>1.9</u>	<u>5.7</u>	5.0	0.8	<u>1.1</u>	0.2	0.05	0.2	0.2	0.05	0.2
3	East Trail	15.4	<u>3.6</u>	<u>9.9</u>	44.6	<u>6.6</u>	<u>24.5</u>	21.2	<u>3.1</u>	<u>4.6</u>	1.0	0.2	0.7	0.8	0.1	0.6
3	Rivervale	5.4	<u>1.2</u>	<u>3.5</u>	15.6	<u>2.3</u>	<u>8.6</u>	7.5	<u>1.1</u>	<u>1.6</u>	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2
3	Tadanac	15.3	<u>3.5</u>	<u>9.8</u>	44.1	<u>6.4</u>	<u>24.2</u>	21.0	<u>3.0</u>	<u>4.5</u>	0.9	0.1	0.7	0.8	0.1	0.6
3	West Trail	7.7	<u>2.0</u>	<u>5.0</u>	22.2	<u>3.8</u>	<u>12.2</u>	10.6	<u>1.8</u>	<u>2.3</u>	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.3

#### Table 8-1: Hazard Indices for Residential Receptors

#### Notes:

RM Reasonable Maximum Scenario

CT Central Tendency Scenario

P1 Protocol 1 Scenario

Bold RM or CT Scenario HI greater than 1.0, the CSR risk-based standard

Underline CT Scenario HI greater than 1.0, the CSR risk-based standard

Double underline Protocol 1 Scenario HI greater than 1.0, the CSR risk-based standard



As presented, the HHRA predicted HIs for infants exposed to Pb in indoor dust and air, as well as young children and older children exposed Pb in soil and dust on other outdoor surface, indoor dust and air, were greater than the CSR risk-based standard of 1.0 in select neighbourhoods across assessment areas 1, 2 and 3. Higher HIs were predicted for the RM scenario and for neighbourhoods nearest the smelter, with maximum HIs predicted for East Trail and Tadanac. No HIs > 1 were predicted for adolescents and adults across all neighbourhoods and scenarios. As noted, the characterization of residential receptors is protective of other receptor groups, with further information required to understand the Indigenous peoples' traditional use of plants in the EM Area.

As described in earlier sections of this report, the RM scenario represents a worst-case scenario, while the CT scenario represents an average or more typical exposure scenario. The Protocol 1 scenario was included to comply with BC ENV's Protocol 1 (BC ENV, 2023b) requirements for deterministic risk assessment.

Given the conservatism in the HHRA model, which assumes a linear Pb exposure to BLL dose-response, compounded by the conservatism in the assumptions made, including that people would not wash their hands or take precautions to prevent ingestion or soil and dust, the RM scenario grossly overestimates exposures to Pb, and while the Protocol 1 scenario is moderately less conservative, it too overestimates exposures. As discussed in the following sections, this is supported by the blood Pb data that has been collected in the Trail area for the last 22 years. As noted in **Section 8.2**, BLLs predicted by the HHRA for the RM scenario are as high as 53  $\mu$ g/dL for East Trail, with the BLLs predicted for select neighbourhoods higher than those that have ever been measured in the community, including in the 1990s when geomean BLLs were approximately five times what they are today. The BLLs predicted for the Protocol 1 scenario were also in some cases higher than those that have been measured, with levels as high as 29  $\mu$ g/dL for East Trail and Tadanac. While the CT scenario also overpredicts exposure and associated risk, the HIs estimated for this exposure scenario are more reasonable and more accurately reflect potential Pb exposures in the Trail area. For example, the BLL predicted by the HHRA for the CT scenario for East Trail is 7.8  $\mu$ g/dL, which is still higher than the measured BLLs, but more reasonable than the RM and Protocol 1 scenario BLLs of 53  $\mu$ g/dL and 29  $\mu$ g/dL, respectively.

Based on the above discussion and the Health Canada provisional TRV, where CT HIs  $\leq$  1 have been predicted, there is confidence that human health risks are negligible. Where CT HIs > 1 have been predicted, further assessment of the potential for health risks has been conducted based on the Interior Health blood lead (Pb) data.

Central tendency scenario HQs less than the BC CSR risk-based standard of  $\leq$  1.0 have been predicted for all age groups in Montrose, Casino, Columbia Gardens, Warfield and Miral Heights<sup>15</sup>. Central tendency scenario HQs were greater than the BC CSR risk-based standard for children in the neighbourhoods nearest the smelter, including Annable, Oasis, Waneta, Glenmerry, Shavers Bench, Sunningdale, East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac and West Trail. Further assessment of the results of the HHRA for these neighbourhoods was conducted using the results of Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail BC (Interior Health, 2024) (see **Sections 8.3** and **8.4**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> While Miral Heights is located nearer the smelter than select neighbourhoods where HQs > 1 have been predicted, it is geographically separated due to topography, which has likely affected the transport and deposition of aerial emissions in this neighbourhood.



# 8.2 Blood Pb Levels Predicted Based on the HHRA

The range of HIs predicted by the HHRA, as represented by the RM and CT scenarios, were used, along with the basis of the Health Canada TRV for Pb, to predict BLLs. The Health Canada TRV of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day is based on a 1 IQ point decrement associated with a 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL BLL; in other words, an exposure dose of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day has the potential to result in a 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL BLL, which has been associated with a 1 IQ point decrement. Using this relationship, a HI of 1 (i.e., dose of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day / TRV of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day) equates to a 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL BLL. Therefore, to predict BLLs from the HIs estimated in the HHRA, the HIs were multiplied by a factor of 1.2. A summary of the BLLs predicted for young children based on the results of the HHRA is presented in **Table 8-2**.

The geomean BLL for Canadian children 3 to 5 years of age is 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL (Health Canada, 2021) and is considered representative of potential background exposures for this age group in the general Canadian population. As the HHRA predicted BLLs were estimated based on exposures from Teck Trail Operations (i.e., from air, soil and dust), the background BLL of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL has been added to the predicted BLLs to estimate total BLL (including from background exposures). The RM and CT BLLs, with the addition of background BLL, are also presented in **Table 8-2**.

THEP Assessment Area	Neighbourhood	RM HI	RM BLL* (µg/dL)	RM BLL + BG BLL of 0.5 (µg/dL)	СТ НІ	CT BLL*	CT BLL + BG BLL of 0.5 (μg/dL)
0	Montrose	2.2	2.6	3.1	0.4	0.5	1.0
1	Annable	7.5	9.0	9.5	1.3	1.6	2.1
1	Casino	7.1	8.5	9.0	0.8	1.0	1.5
1	Columbia Gardens	5.3	6.4	6.9	1.0	1.2	1.7
1	Oasis	10.0	12.0	12.5	1.7	2.0	2.5
1	Waneta	7.4	8.9	9.4	1.2	1.4	1.9
1	Warfield	5.3	6.4	6.9	0.9	1.1	1.6
2	Glenmerry	12.1	14.5	15.0	2.0	2.4	2.9
2	Miral Heights	3.0	3.6	4.1	0.5	0.6	1.1
2	Shavers Bench	19.7	23.6	24.1	3.2	3.8	4.3
2	Sunningdale	10.4	12.5	13.0	1.9	2.3	2.8
3	East Trail	44.6	53.5	54.0	6.6	7.9	8.4
3	Rivervale	15.6	18.7	19.2	2.3	2.8	3.3
3	Tadanac	44.1	52.9	53.4	6.4	7.7	8.2
3	West Trail	22.2	26.6	27.1	3.8	4.6	5.1

Table 8-2:	<b>Blood Pb Levels Predicted for</b>	Young Children	Based on the HIs	from the HHRA – RM
	and CT Scenarios			

#### Notes:

RM Reasonable Maximum Scenario

CT Central Tendency Scenario

BLL Blood Pb Level predicted based on the HQ

\* BLL estimated by HQ \* 1.2 (based on the following: HC TRV of 0.5 μg/kg bw/day = 1 IQ decrement = 1.2 μg/dL BLL)



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

HI Hazard Index

The following figures present the predicted BLLs, with the addition of background BLL, based on the results of the HHRA plotted against soil Pb concentrations. **Figure 8-1** presents the predicted BLLs for a young child for the RM scenario, and **Figure 8-2** presents the BLLs for a young child for the CT scenario.



Figure 8-1: BLLs Predicted Based on the Results of the HHRA vs. Soil Pb Concentrations – Young Child, Reasonable Maximum Scenario



Figure 8-2: BLLs Predicted Based on the Results of the HHRA vs. Soil Pb Concentrations – Young Child, Central Tendency Scenario



As presented in **Table 8-2** and in **Figure 8-1** and **Figure 8-2**, BLLs predicted based on the results of the HHRA (including background BLL) for the RM are as high as 53.9  $\mu$ g/dL at a soil Pb concentration of 3,291 mg/kg, the soil exposure point concentration for the RM estimates for East Trail. The BLLs predicted based on the HHRA for the CT scenario include a predicted BLL of 8.3  $\mu$ g/dL at a Pb soil concentration of 1,575 mg/kg, the mean soil Pb concentration in East Trail, which was used as the soil exposure point concentration for the CT estimates.

Based on the data presented in Figure 8-1 and Figure 8-2, the following was predicted:

- RM Scenario: for every 100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil, there is a 1.6 µg/dL increase in BLL; and
- CT Scenario: for every 100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil, there is a 0.5 μg/dL increase in BLL.

These relationships are further discussed in **Section 8.3** and are compared to the soil Pb to BLL relationship estimated based on the measured BLLs in the EM Area.

## 8.3 Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail BC

Interior Health conducted an analysis of the blood Pb data collected from the Trail area during the period of 2007 to 2023 to explore the relationship between soil Pb concentrations, other environmental Pb data and household level variables on child BLLs in the Trail area (Interior Health, 2024). The work was conducted with the objective to answer the following primary questions, with additional factors such as household income and home age also considered:

- 1. What is the association between soil Pb concentrations and child BLLs?
- 2. What is the association between pre- and post-remediation soil Pb concentrations and pre- and post-remediation child BLLs?
- 3. What is the impact Pb in air (as TSP) on child BLLs in East Trail and Shavers Bench, near the smelter where TSP concentrations are measured?

The methods used in the analyses are detailed in the Interior Health report summarizing the results (Interior Health, 2024). Briefly, the analyses involved matching each blood Pb sample collected from children ages 6 to 36 months from the Trail area during the period of 2007 to 2023 (maximum of 3 samples per child) with the THEP family ID to determine soil Pb concentrations, and other factors considered in the analyses. Soil exposures for children with blood Pb data were calculated as the percentage of time spent at a property (for children that spend time at more than one property) multiplied by the soil Pb 95% UCLM, which was then summed over each child's family IDs. A total of 1,233 unique blood Pb samples with associated soil data were considered; of those samples, 997 were taken before soil remediation.

The results of the analysis indicated the following, with additional details provided in Interior Health (2024):

- A weak to moderate linear relationship between soil Pb concentrations child BLLs, conservatively estimated (i.e., based on a univariate analysis) as a 0.1 µg/dL increase in BLL for every100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil.
- A moderate linear relationship between TSP Pb concentrations and child BLLs.
- A weak to moderate linear relationship between median household income and child BLLs.
- A weak to moderate linear relationship between house age and child BLLs.



- A moderate to strong relationship between someone in the household working in a Pb based industry and child BLLs.
- Inconclusive results regarding the impact of soil remediation on child BLLs.

## 8.4 Reconciling the Results of the HHRA with Measured BLLs

As demonstrated in **Sections 8.2** and **8.3**, the BLLs predicted based on the results of the HHRA tend to exceed measured BLLs. This discrepancy is due, at least in part, to the HHRA model which assumes a linear relationship between soil Pb and BLL; however, the empirical blood Pb data in the Trail area (and elsewhere as indicated in the literature) does not support this at the range of soil Pb concentrations in the Trail area.

This linear relationship is not supported by the measured blood Pb data at the range of soil Pb concentrations in the Trail area. As discussed in **Section 8.2**, using the results of the HHRA and the basis of the Health Canada TRV for Pb (i.e., 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day = 1 IQ decrement = 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL BLL) the following is predicted:

- RM Scenario: for every 100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil, there is a 1.6 μg/dL increase in BLL.
- CT Scenario: for every 100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil, there is a 0.5 μg/dL increase in BLL.

As noted, Interior Health's univariate analysis of the blood Pb data that has been collected in Trail for over the last two decades indicated a weak-moderate positive relationship between soil Pb and measured BLL (Interior Health, 2024). It is noted that the univariate analysis does not consider exposures to Pb in non-soil sources, and thus, overpredicts the relationship between soil Pb and BLL. When the measured BLLs were plotted against the soil Pb concentrations at the propert(ies) where the child resides/spends time (N = 997), the line of best fit suggests the following:

Interior Health (2024): for every 100 mg/kg increase in Pb in soil, there is a 0.1 μg/dL increase in BLL.

**Figure 8-3** presents the predicted BLLs for a young child based for the CT and RM scenarios from the HHRA and the measured BLLs (analysis conducted by Interior Health and presented in Interior Health, 2024) plotted against soil Pb concentrations.





Figure 8-3: BLLs Predicted Based on the Results of the HHRA (Young Child, RM and CT Scenarios) and Measured BLLs vs. Soil Pb Concentrations

As presented in the above figure, the HHRA underpredicts BLLs at soil concentrations of approximately 100 mg/kg for the RM scenario, and at approximately 800 mg/kg for the CT scenario. This underprediction suggests that other sources of Pb, or exposures via media not evaluated in the HHRA, are influencing measured BLLs. Despite the conservatism in the HHRA model and assumptions and the overprediction of exposures from soil and dust, below these soil concentrations the BLLs are underpredicted, emphasizing the importance of other sources of Pb in the Trail area. This is further supported by the results of Interior Health's analysis (Interior Health, 2024), which demonstrated that Pb in TSP, household income, home age and having a person in the home working in a Pb based industry are equally or more strongly correlated with child BLLs as soil Pb.

Studies conducted in other smelter and mining communities have predicted a similar soil Pb to BLL relationship. Dong et al. (2020) evaluated the relationship between soil Pb and BLL using an individual house level model in Broken Hill, the oldest silver-zinc-Pb mining community in Australia. A multivariate regression analysis including demographic parameters was used, with the BLL measured for children in a home each year over 25 years regressed against the mean soil Pb of the same home. The results indicated that a soil Pb increase of 100 mg/kg is associated with a 0.12  $\mu$ g/dL increase in BLL.

von Lindern et al. (2003) used data from the Bunker Hill Superfund Site in Idaho, which includes an abandoned Pb/zinc mining and smelting complex, as well as waste deposits. The von Lindern et al. (2003) linear regression approach used data from after the smelter closed in 1981. The results indicated that a soil Pb concentration of 1,000 mg/kg was associated with a mean BLL of near 4  $\mu$ g/dL (von Lindern et al., 2003). von Lindern et al. (2003) also found that the specific contribution of a child's own yard soil to blood Pb was about 0.6  $\mu$ g/dL to 1  $\mu$ g/dL per 1,000 mg/kg, with community-wide soil concentrations having a greater effect (1.5  $\mu$ g/dL to 2.5  $\mu$ g/dL per 1,000 mg/kg). It is noted that based on the finding of von Lindern et al. (2003) and other studies (Sheldrake and Stifelman, 2003; Laidlaw et al., 2014; von Lindern et al., 2016; Lyle et al., 2021) that indicate the potential for community-wide soil Pb to contribute more than individual yards to exposure to Pb in soil and dust, THEP has included parks and other community spaces in the SMP, and in 2023 implemented the block program whereby entire blocks with 95% UCLM Pb soil concentrations greater than 1,200 mg/kg are remediated.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 81

Studies indicate that soil Pb to BLL is a nonlinear relationship and that Pb absorption may be a capacity-limited process (ATSDR, 2020; Mielke et al., 2007; Mielke et al., 2011, Gulson and Taylor, 2017). Mielke et al (2007) observed that below a soil Pb concentration of 100 mg/kg there is a steep BLL exposure response in children, while above 300 mg/kg the BLL exposure response is gradual, resulting is a curvilinear relationship. This nonlinear relationship cannot be accounted for using the available information and standard CSR risk assessment methods, and thus, the resulting exposure and risk estimates are overpredicted.

## 8.5 Contributions to Overall Exposure

The results of the HHRA suggest that Pb in soil is the primary contributor to estimated exposure (as well as associated risks and BLLs) for children in the Trail area. The following schematic presents the estimated contribution from the various exposure pathways to overall Pb exposure, with contributions from soil and outdoor dust, indoor dust, and TSP in current emissions to exposure based on the results of the HHRA.



# Figure 8-4: Estimated contribution of inhalation (indoor dust, dust from soil and TSP in current emissions) and ingestion (soil and outdoor dust, indoor dust) to overall exposure, based on the results of the HHRA

As presented, the results of the HHRA indicate that ingestion of soil (including outdoor dust) contributes most significantly to overall exposure, with ~73% of the overall exposure coming from this pathway. The ingestion of indoor dust is the second highest contributor, at ~26% of the overall exposure. The inhalation of indoor dust, airborne dust from current emissions (as TSP) and dust generated from soil contribute the remaining ~1.2%.

This finding is inconsistent with studies of exposures in mining and smelting communities. In the last two decades, studies conducted in the USA, Australia, and Canada, including in Trail, have found that atmospheric Pb dust is likely the dominant source of elevated BLL in children (Hilts, 2003; Gulson et al., 2013). Closures of a Pb-zinc smelter in Boolaroo, Australia, a Pb smelter in Noyelles-Godault, France, and the metallurgical complex in Flin Flon, Manitoba, all resulted in decreased children's BLLs after the closures, with no change in soil concentrations (i.e., no remediation) (Dalton and Bates, 2005; Declercq et al., 2006; Intrinsik, 2019).



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 82

Consistent with the literature, the 2003 Trail study (Hilts, 2003) and more recent air and blood Pb data collected in the Trail area indicate that decreasing Pb in air emissions results in a concurrent decrease in mean BLLs. When the new smelter technology (i.e., KIVCET) was implemented in 1997, a dramatic decrease in mean BLLs was observed, with mean levels decreasing from 11.5  $\mu$ g/dL in 1996 to 5.9  $\mu$ g/dL in 1999 (Hilts, 2003) with no change in soil Pb concentrations. In the summer of 2001, smelting and refining operations in Trail were shut down for three months, and the average BLL decreased to 4.7  $\mu$ g/dL. This finding is also supported by Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC , which indicated that Pb in TSP was more strongly correlated with BLLs than Pb in soil (Interior Health, 2024). Further, BLLs have continued to decrease overtime, including following the implementation of the FDRP in 2012, to the 2023 BLL geomean of 2.1  $\mu$ g/dL for areas in Trail nearest the smelter. As presented in **Figure 8-5**, a strong correlation is observed between geomean BLLs in the Trail area and TSP Pb concentrations.



## Figure 8-5: Mean Annual BLLs (µg/dL), Stack Emissions (100s of tonnes Pb) and TSP (µg/m<sup>3</sup>) (1991 to 2023)

As observed in **Figure 8-5**, the decreases in geomean BLLs observed over the last two decades are closely aligned with decreases in TSP Pb. With the initiation of the SMP in 2019, most of the young child occupied properties with Pb soil concentrations > 400 mg/kg have been remediated, but prior to 2019 most residential properties in the Trail area had not been remediated. Despite this, a steady decline in BLLs has been observed as Pb in TSP decreased.



There is limited evidence available that soil remediation efforts alone reduce BLLs (Schoof et al., 2015; Dobrescu et al., 2022). Where there has been no significant ongoing source of Pb, studies (Aschengrau et al., 1994; Weitzman et al., 1993) have shown that there may be a modest reduction in BLLs after soil remediation, but that no benefit was found when dust was the main exposure pathway (e.g. homes with persistently elevated dust Pb loadings). A 2009 detailed evaluation (meta-analysis) conducted to determine the effectiveness of soil remediation alone in reducing BLL was inconclusive due to insufficient evidence (Yeoh et al., 2009). Dobrescu et al. (2022) also conducted a comprehensive review of previous studies to evaluate the effectiveness of soil remediation to prevent or reduce Pb exposure. Their review identified five studies (four in the US and one in Canada) that met their criteria (i.e., primary risk management of replacement of the upper layer of the soil column with clean soil, with the measured outcomes of BLL in children aged 6 months up to 12 years, dust Pb levels and soil Pb levels). Only one of the studies (Gagne, 1994) identified was conducted in an active smelter community, and the results of that study were inconclusive due to concomitant Pb reduction programs, including a ban of leaded fuel during the study and a reduction in smelter emissions, that were not controlled for. Based on the remaining four studies, Dobrescu et al. (2022) concluded that soil remediation appears to reduce BLL in children when used as a single intervention; however, the studies reviewed implemented soil replacement at soil Pb concentrations > 500 mg/kg (Lanphear et al., 2003), with the largest study replacing soils > 1,000 mg/kg (von Lindern et al., 2003) (N=1425). The authors also concluded that the incremental benefit of soil remediation is limited when other interventions are also implemented.



# 9. Trail Area Specific, Risk-Based Standard for Pb

As presented in **Section 8**, The HHRA has overpredicted exposures and associated risks from Pb in soil and indoor dust due to:

- The HHRA model assumes a linear relationship between soil Pb and BLL; however, the empirical blood Pb data in the Trail area (and elsewhere as indicated in the literature) does not support this at the range of soil Pb concentrations in the Trail area.
- The HHRA model predicted that soil contributes most significantly to overall exposures, however, studies indicate that Pb settled from airborne dust is likely the dominant source of elevated BLL in children.

Given this overprediction, the estimated HIs are health protective, with the HIs for the CT scenario more representative of potential Pb exposures in the Trail area. As discussed in the HHRA, exposures and risks were overpredicted for all scenarios; however, the CT scenario provides more realistic estimates. On this basis and based on the Health Canada provisional TRV, as CT HIs  $\leq$  1 have been predicted for all groups in Montrose, Casino, Columbia Gardens, Warfield and Miral Heights, the probability of adverse health risks is considered negligible. While uncertainty exists in this conclusion, the uncertainty is reduced by the comparison of the HHRA results with measured BLLs.

Where CT HQs > 1 have been predicted, further consideration of the uncertainties, including further assessment of the predicted risks based on the results of Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC (Interior Health, 2024), has been conducted. The results Interior Health (2024) have been considered in the derivation of a Trail area specific, risk-based standard to be applied to the EM Area.

The results of Interior Health (2024) suggest that soil Pb contributes approximately 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL BLL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil, comparable to the literature from other smelter and mining communities. In Broken Hill, Australia, a multivariate regression analysis conducted by Dong et al. (2020) indicated that a soil Pb increase of 100 mg/kg is associated with a 0.12  $\mu$ g/dL increase in BLL. von Lindern et al. (2003) used data from the Bunker Hill and a linear regression approach and found that a child's own yard soil to blood Pb was about 0.6  $\mu$ g/dL to 1  $\mu$ g/dL per 1,000 mg/kg Pb in soil (or 0.06  $\mu$ g/dL to 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL per 100 mg/kg), with community-wide soil concentrations having a greater effect.

Health Canada (2010, 2024) recommends the consideration of background exposures (including exposures from consumer products, food, air, and water that are not related to the contamination source that is being assessed) in the estimation of risks. While this approach is not required by BC ENV for risk assessments conducted under the CSR, it has been considered here. Using this approach, background Pb exposures are summed with Pb exposures from the smelter and compared to the Health Canada TRV for Pb.

The geomean BLL for Canadian children 3 to 5 years of age is  $0.5 \mu g/dL$  (Health Canada, 2021) and is considered representative of potential background exposures for this age group in the general Canadian population. The blood Pb monitoring program in the Trail area targets children 6 months to 3 years old as based on hand-mouth behaviours, this is the age group with the highest potential exposures. There are currently no data for a comparable age-range in the general Canadian population (no age-comparable background dataset), so the Health Canada (2021) value of 0.5  $\mu g/dL$  has been considered.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 85

As discussed, the Health Canada TRV is derived based on a BLL of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL resulting in a 1 IQ point decrement. While it is recognized that Pb is a non-threshold substance and that there is the potential for effects at any level of exposure, Health Canada's recommendation of a TRV for Pb of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day suggests that they do not consider the associated BLL of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL and resulting 1 IQ point decrement as an appreciable health effect. Using the background BLL for Canadian children of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL, a further 0.7  $\mu$ g/dL would not result in appreciable health effects. To be health protective and to account for potentially higher background BLLs in the Trail area (see following discussion), only a portion of this 0.7  $\mu$ g/dL will be apportioned to Pb sourced from the Teck Trail operations.

There are several non-smelter related factors with the potential to result in the background BLL for Trail being higher than the Canadian value, including:

- Hand to mouth behaviours in the 6- to 36-month age group are greater than in older age groups, which would yield higher potential exposures, and higher background BLLs.
- Sociodemographic factors (e.g., house age) in Trail. Ramboll (2020) indicates that based on information from Statistics Canada (2016), about 63% of occupied private dwellings in Trail were constructed before 1960 and further notes that based on the population history, it is likely that many of the dwellings in Trail were built by 1920. In comparison, the average age of dwellings in Canada is 39.7 years, and in BC is 34.1 years (NRCAN, available at: https://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/corporate/statistics/neud/dpa/showTable.cfm?type=SHCMA&sector=aaa&juris =ca&year=2019&rn=7&page=1&wbdisable=true).
- Higher geogenic Pb in Trail. The 95<sup>th</sup> percentile geogenic Pb concentration in the Trail area was reported by Goodarzi et al. (2001) to be 37.9 mg/kg. Health Canada (2013, citing Rencz et al. 2006) indicates that in Canada, background Pb concentrations in glacial till (representing unmineralized soil unaffected by anthropogenic activities) were reported to range from 1 mg/kg to 152 mg/kg, with an arithmetic mean concentration of 9.65 mg/kg and a 90th percentile of 16 mg/kg, based on 7,398 samples collected throughout Canada for the particle size fraction < 63 µm.</p>

Schoof et al. (2015) examined BLL trends in children ages 1 to 5 in Butte, Montana from 2003 to 2010 as compared to a reference dataset matched for child age, dates and demographic factors including poverty-to-income ratio<sup>16</sup>, house age and race/ethnicity. Geomean BLLs for the reference population have been compared to geomean BLLs for the general US population to assess the potential influence of demographic factors on BLL. Geomean BLLs for the reference population were 2.05 µg/dL (2003-2004), 1.80 µg/dL (2005-2006), 1.72 µg/dL (2007-2008) and 1.51 µg/dL (2009-2010). In comparison, geomeans for the general US population based on NHANES survey cycles for children ages 1 to 5, ranged from 1.61 (2003-2006) to 1.33 (2007-2010) (Ruckart et al., 2021). The geomean BLLs for the reference population from Schoof et al. (2015) ranged from 1.1 to 1.3 times those for the general US population. Further, Ruckart et al. (2021) provided weighted geomean BLLs by select sociodemographic factors including income-to-poverty ratios. At an income-to-poverty ratio < 1.3, the geomean BLLs were approximately 1.2 times the unweighted values (for the 2003-2006 and 2007 to 2010 NHANES survey cycles).

As reported by Schoof et al. (2015) and Ruckart et al. (2021) weighting for demographic factors results in an approximate 1.2 times increase in geomean BLLs. Applying this factor to the geomean BLL for Canadian children of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL would result in a value of 0.6  $\mu$ g/dL. To account for the influence of the younger age group represented by the Trail blood Pb dataset, as well as potential contributions from geogenic sources, an additional 0.2  $\mu$ g/dL has conservatively been assumed. The resulting 0.3  $\mu$ g/dL has been subtracted from the 0.7  $\mu$ g/dL, resulting in a remaining 0.4  $\mu$ g/dL (of the 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Calculated as total family income divided by poverty threshold.



As noted, Interior Health (2024) estimated a soil Pb to BLL relationship based on the Trail area blood Pb data of 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil. As this estimate is substantiated by similar estimates from data in other smelting and mining communities that range from 0.06  $\mu$ g/dL to 0.12  $\mu$ g/dL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil, it has been used to estimate a soil Pb concentration contribution which would maintain Pb exposure within a BLL of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL. Using the Interior Health estimated relationship (from Interior Health, 2024), a soil Pb concentration of 400 mg/kg equates to 0.4  $\mu$ g/dL. When combined with the Canadian background BLL of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL, along with the additional 0.3  $\mu$ g/dL allocated based on the potential for a higher background BLL in the Trail area, would yield a BLL of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL.

Based on the above, a Trail area specific, risk-based standard of 400 mg/kg Pb in soil is recommended to protect children at residential properties in the EM Area. As noted, this soil Pb concentration is conservatively estimated to contribute approximately  $0.4 \mu g/dL$  to BLLs.

The BLL declines observed in the Trail area over the last two decades reflect the cumulative effect of the various components of the integrated management approach used in the Trail area to reduce Pb exposures, as well as operational improvements at the smelter and the effectiveness of the biomonitoring program. The integrated management approach, including the biomonitoring program, should continue, with further operational improvements to further reduce Pb in air, where possible.



# **10. Uncertainty Analysis**

Uncertainty is inherent the risk assessment process. To be health protective yet provide a range of potential exposures, the HHRA has been conducted to assess both a RM scenario and a CT scenario, as well as a Protocol 1 scenario to comply with BC ENV requirements for deterministic risk assessment. To estimate RM exposures, a series of conservative assumptions intended to reflect reasonable worst-case conditions were used; some of these assumptions were more conservative than those recommended by Health Canada (2024), including the use of lower body weights and a higher soil ingestion rate for older children. These conservative, worst-case assumptions were compounded by the HHRA model assumed linear dose response relationship between Pb exposures and BLLs. As a result, the risks estimated for the RM scenario were grossly overestimated, as evidenced by the BLLs predicted by the HHRA compared to the measured BLLs in the Trail area. As discussed, while the CT scenario also overpredicted exposures and risks from soil and dust, the CT exposure and risk estimates reflect more realistic potential exposures and risks in the Trail area. As such, the CT risk estimates were retained to identify neighbourhoods in the Trail area where the results of the HHRA required further analysis and are the focus on the below discussion.

As noted throughout this report, the HHRA model and assumptions have overpredicted exposures to Pb in soil and dust, as well as associated health risks. This has been confirmed through comparison of the HHRA predicted BLLs to the BLLs measured in the Trail area over the last two decades. As presented in Section 8, the highest BLLs for the RM scenario are higher than those ever measured in Trail, including in the 1990s. Further, while the HHRA predicted BLLs for the CT scenario were considered more reasonable, the soil Pb to BLL relationship predicted by the HHRA for this scenario was five times the soil Pb to BLL relationship determined by the empirical data (Interior Health, 2024). The overall uncertainty in the HHRA is high but confirmed by the measured BLLs to be conservative and health protective (i.e., predictions are biased high / overestimates).

As noted in Section 8.3, at soil concentrations less than approximately 100 mg/kg for the RM scenario, and 800 mg/kg for the CT scenario, the BLLs predicted by the HHRA are lower than those measured in the Trail area. This suggests that other sources of Pb, or exposures via media not evaluated in the HHRA, are influencing BLLs. Despite the conservatism in the HHRA model and the overprediction of exposures from soil and dust, below these soil concentrations the BLLs are underpredicted, emphasizing the importance of other sources of Pb in the Trail area. This is further supported by the results of Interior Health (2024), which demonstrated that Pb in TSP, household income, home age and having a person in the home working in a Pb based industry are equally or more strongly correlated with child BLLs as soil Pb. This is also confirmed by the TSP Pb to blood Pb relationship demonstrated by air and blood Pb data collected in the Trail area, as depicted on Figure 8-5. It is noted that the TSP data has been collected from two stations located within the EM Area. These locations were selected based on a review of available data and were approved by the BC ENV. As TSP concentrations in the EM area are variable, and as data is only available from two fixed locations, there is uncertainty in the levels of TSP throughout the EM area and whether the concentrations used in the HHRA are representative. The HHRA used data from the station nearest the smelter to estimate exposures and associated risks, thus, there is some certainty that this approach is protective.

The importance of the measured blood Pb data to the HHRA conclusions must be emphasized. The HHRA has been completed per guidance and protocols required by the BC ENV, and as one component of the WARP (AtkinsRéalis, 2024). The HHRA model is inherently conservative, and while it is one tool that can be used to assess exposures and health risks, with some consideration of site-specific conditions (e.g., bioaccessibility estimates), the blood Pb data provides a true measure of exposure and related health risks that inherently incorporates all site specific conditions, as well as the behaviour of individuals and their influence on BLLs that cannot be accounted for using the HHRA model.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

Typically, the uncertainty analysis of an HHRA identifies areas of uncertainty and their influence on the results of the HHRA to estimate the degree of confidence that can be placed in the risk estimates. As the empirical blood Pb data collected in the Trail area since the 1990s confirms that the HHRA has overpredicted risks associated with exposures to soil and dust, there is a high degree of confidence that the risk estimates from the HHRA are biased high and are therefore health protective. The below discussion is therefore focused on the identified data gap related to Indigenous peoples in the EM area, the uncertainty in the Pb TRV and in the derivation of the Trail area specific, risk-based standard for Pb, as well as the reliance on Interior Health's Analysis of Variable Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail BC (Interior Health, 2024).

## 10.1 Data Gap

The primary data gap identified during the completion of the HHRA is uncertainty related to how Indigenous peoples in the Trail area are using plants for traditional purposes. As discussed in **Section 5.4**, Interior Health engaged with COINS to obtain information on how Indigenous peoples in the Trail area are using the land and its resources. Representatives from COINs indicated that traditional plants such as berries, wild rose, cedar, dandelions, nettles, and willows may be harvested for consumption or for medicinal purposes (i.e., to make salves, tinctures or teas). No areas of specific concern where these plants may be harvested from were identified by COINs. Based on rationale presented in **Section 5.4** for home grown produce, the consumption of traditional plants, either the plant itself, or medicines made from plants, is not expected to contribute significantly to exposures for Indigenous peoples. Additionally, given the limited dermal absorption of Pb, application of salves made from traditional plants is not expected to result in significant exposure; however, this pathway and the potential for salves to increase dermal absorption of Pb requires further consideration.

Despite the above, based on the limited available information on potential traditional uses of plants grown in the Trail area, as well as areas that may be used for harvesting, there is uncertainty in the significance of potential exposures to this receptor group. Further information is recommended to be collected from local Indigenous peoples during consultation scheduled for 2025.

## **10.2 Toxicity Reference Values for Pb**

The TRVs used for Pb in the HHRA are a primary source of uncertainty. The Health Canada provisional TRV for Pb of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day was used in the HHRA to quantify risks to children (up to 11 years old). This provisional TRV was recommended by Health Canada in 2021 (Health Canada, 2021a) and is based on the EFSA (2013) BMDL01, which is based on an estimated blood Pb level of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL for a 1 point IQ decrement in children. Similarly, the WHO FAO (2011) estimated a blood Pb level of 2  $\mu$ g/dL for a 1 point IQ decrement in children. The relationships determined by EFSA (2013) and WHO (2011) were based on Lanphear et al. (2005) involving more than 1,300 children. While the EFSA (2013) estimated BLL of 1.2  $\mu$ g/dL for 1IQ point is almost half of the 2  $\mu$ g/dL estimated by WHO (2011), the key difference was that EFSA was based on a 95% lower confidence limit approach while WHO (2011) concluded that a central estimate provided reasonable protection. Despite their differences the RSDs of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day and 0.6  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day provided by EFSA (2013) and WHO (2011), respectively, are similar. Given this, and that the lower of the two values has been used in the current assessment, there is confidence that the TRV used for children in the assessment is health protective and based on the best available science.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

89

While WHO (2011) and EFSA (2013) are specific to Pb in food, Health Canada's adoption of the TRV and recommended use at contaminated sites indicates that the agency has identified a 1 IQ decrement as an appropriate target in HHRAs for contaminated sites. While the threshold below which Pb is no longer associated with adverse neurodevelopmental effects has not been identified, in an IQ test, 1 IQ point is within the margin or error of 5 IQ points, is not measurable and is not reproducible (Whitaker, 2010).

Health Canada has recommended the provisional TRV of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day for all age groups; however, it is widely accepted that the critical effect in adults is increase in systolic blood pressure. Although not documented, it is understood that Health Canada's application of the 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day TRV across all age groups is to protect women of childbearing age, and potential fetal exposure.

Wilson and Richardson (2013) developed RSDs for toddlers and adults of 0.6  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d and 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/d, respectively, based on WHO (2011). Wilson and Richardson (2013) considered women of childbearing age and the potential for fetal exposure. Based on lower Pb oral absorption for adults (40% of the rate of children) and assuming a fetal cord:maternal BLL concentration ratio of 1.0, an RSD for women of childbearing age (for 1 IQ point decrement) was estimated to be 1.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day. Using this approach, along with the Health Canada provisional TRV of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day, a TRV for an adult of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day was calculated for use in the HHRA. The HHRA Working Group reviewed this TRV and supported the use of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day in the HHRA for the characterization of risks to adolescents and adults. The calculated TRV of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day is equivalent to the RSD developed by Wilson and Richardson (2013) based on a 1 mmHg increase in systolic blood pressure. Therefore, a TRV for Pb of 1.3  $\mu$ g/kg bw/day for adults is protective of both blood pressure effects and effects to the fetus for women who are pregnant or who could potentially become pregnant. On this basis, there is confidence that the TRV used for adolescents and adults in the HHRA is health protective and is most appropriate for use based on the currently available science.

## 10.3 Trail Area Specific, Risk-Based Standard

As discussed in **Section 9**, the Trail area specific, risk-based standard for Pb was developed based on the three primary factors, including:

- The Interior Health (Interior Health, 2024) estimated soil Pb to blood Pb relationship of 0.1 µg/dL BLL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil.
- The Health Canada TRV that is based on a 1.2 μg/dL resulting in a 1 IQ point decrement.
- The Health Canada (2021b) geomean BLL for Canadian children of 0.5 μg/dL, with consideration of a
  potentially higher background BLL in the Trail area.

The uncertainty in the Health Canada TRV is discussed in **Section 10.1**. The uncertainty the remaining two these factors is discussed in the following sections.

## 10.3.1 Interior Health Soil Pb to Blood Pb Relationship

The results of Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC (Interior Health, 2024) on the relationship between soil Pb and blood Pb estimated that soil Pb contributes approximately 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL BLL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil. This relationship was estimated based on a univariate analysis, which examined the effect of a single variable (soil Pb) on blood Pb. Other components of Interior Health (2024) demonstrated that other variables, including household income, Pb in TSP, house age and someone in the home working in a Pb based industry, are equally as well correlated, if not more so, to BLLs. The results of the univariate analysis do not consider the influence of these other variables, and thus, overpredicts the soil Pb to blood Pb relationship.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024 90

Further, as discussed in **Section 9**, the estimated soil Pb to BLL relationship from Interior Health (2024) is comparable to those reported in the literature for other smelter and mining communities, which range from 0.06  $\mu$ g/dL to 0.12  $\mu$ g/dL BLL per 100 mg/kg Pb in soil (Dong et al., 2020; von Lindern et al., 2003).

Based on the above, it is considered unlikely that the soil Pb to blood Pb relationship has been underestimated. Therefore, the use of this relationship to support the development of the Trail area specific, risk-based standard is considered conservative and protective of human health.

## 10.3.2 Background BLL

The geomean BLL for Canadian children 3 to 5 years of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL (Health Canada, 2021b) was considered in the development of the Trail area specific, risk-based standard. The blood Pb monitoring program in the Trail area targets children 6 months to 3 years old as based on hand-mouth behaviours, this is the age group with the highest potential exposures. There is currently no age-comparable background dataset for the Canadian population.

As noted, non-smelter related factors with the potential to result in the background BLL for the Trail area being higher than the Canadian geomean include increased hand-mouth behaviours in the 6 - 36 month age group, sociodemographic factors, including house age, and geogenic Pb in the Trail area.

Other studies (Schoof et al., 2015; Ruckart et al., 2021) indicate that weighting for demographic factors results in an approximate 1.2 times increase in geomean BLLs compared to overall population geomeans. Consideration of this factor and the geomean BLL for Canadian children of 0.5  $\mu$ g/dL would result in a value of 0.6  $\mu$ g/dL. To account for the influence of the younger age group represented by the Trail blood Pb dataset, as well as potential contributions from geogenic sources, an additional 0.2  $\mu$ g/dL has conservatively been assumed, with an estimated Trail area background BLL of 0.8  $\mu$ g/dL.

While there is uncertainty in the potential influence of child age, sociodemographic factors and geogenic Pb on BLL, studies indicate that home age (i.e., a sociodemographic factor) is an important predictor of BLL (Schoof et al., 2015, Rabito et al., 2007, Etchevers et al., 2015) due to the increased prevalence of Pb paint in older houses. The BC government (HealthLink BC, 2024) indicates that Pb based paint is the most common source of Pb exposure. Given this, and the data from other studies that support a 1.2 times increase in geomean BLL (or a 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL increase above the Canadian geomean BLL), the allocation of a 0.1  $\mu$ g/dL increase in background BLL for age differences and potential geogenic sources is considered reasonable and protective. On this basis, it is unlikely that the potential higher background geomean BLL in the Trail area has been underestimated and thus use of the background concentration in the development of the Trail area specific, risk-based standard for Pb is considered to be conservative and health protective.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

# **11. Conclusions and Recommendations**

This HHRA was completed using Health Canada and BC ENV guidance, and with input from the HHRA Working Group, to ensure the most up-to-date science on Pb toxicity was incorporated, and that the assessment is appropriate for the specific Trail area context.

The comparison of the HHRA predicted BLLs to the BLLs measured in the Trail area over the last two decades confirms that the HHRA has overpredicted exposures and associated risks. Given the conservatism in the estimates, where the CT scenario predicted risks were less than the CSR risk-based standard of an HI  $\leq$  1, there is confidence that health risks are negligible. Using this approach, negligible human health risks are predicted for adolescents and adults across all neighbourhoods in the EM Area, as well as for all age groups in Montrose, Casino, Columbia Gardens, Warfield and Miral Heights.

Based on CT scenario HIs greater than the BC CSR risk-based standard for children in the neighbourhoods nearest the smelter, including Annable, Oasis, Waneta, Glenmerry, Shavers Bench, Sunningdale, East Trail, Rivervale, Tadanac and West Trail, further assessment of the results of the HHRA was conducted, with the results of Interior Health's Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail, BC (Interior Health, 2024) considered in the derivation of a Trail area specific, risk-based standard. Using the Interior Health estimated soil Pb to BLL relationship (Interior Health, 2024), along with the toxicological basis of the Health Canada TRV for Pb, a Trail area specific, risk-based standard of a soil Pb concentration of 400 mg/kg was developed. Under Sections 18 and 18.1 of the CSR, the Medical Health Officer has recommended Trail area specific, risk-based standards for Pb, including the risk-based soil standard for Pb supported by the results of the HHRA. The Trail area specific risk-based soil standard will be used in the existing soil management program prioritization framework, which is described in the Wide Area Remediation Plan for the EM Area (AtkinsRéalis, 2024).

The BLL declines observed in the Trail area over the last two decades likely reflect the cumulative effect of the various components of the integrated management approach used in the Trail area to reduce Pb exposures, as well as operational improvements at the smelter and the effectiveness of the biomonitoring program. This is supported by studies conducted in other smelter communities where multifaceted Pb exposure reduction programs, including public health and education programs (Dobrescu et al., 2022; Lyle et al., 2021; Schoof et al., 2015; Boreland et al., 2008), with home evaluations and support with addressing multiple sources of Pb exposure an important complement to soil remediation activities (Schoof et al., 2015). Therefore, the integrative and adaptive management strategy used in the Trail area including the biomonitoring program, should continue, with further operational improvements to further reduce Pb in air, where possible.



HUMAN HEALTH RISK ASSESSMENT FOR LEAD (PB) - DRAFT 655246 December 12, 2024

## 12. References

- ACCLPP. 2012. Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Low Level Lead Exposure Harms Children: A Renewed Call for Primary Prevention. January 4<sup>th</sup>, 2012.
- Alberta. 2005. Alberta Ambient Air Quality Objectives. Arsenic. Effective May 1, 2005. Available at: http://environment.alberta.ca/01025.html
- Aschengrau et al., 1994. The Impact of Soil Lead Abatement on Urban Children's Blood Lead Levels: Phase II Results from the Boston Lead-In-Soil Demonstration Project. Environmental Research. Volume 67, Issue 2, November 1994. https://doi.org/10.1006/enrs.1994.1069
- AtkinsRéalis, 2024. Draft Wide Area Remediation Plan for the Environmental Management Area related to Historical Aerial Emissions from Teck Trail Operations. Prepared for Teck Metals. December 12, 2024.
- ATSDR. 2020. Toxicological Profile for Lead (Draft for Public Comment). Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, GA. Available at: https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp.asp?id=96&tid=22
- BC, 2023. Environmental Management Act (EMA), B.C. Reg. 133/2022 / effective March 1, 2023.
- BC ENV, 2023a. Contaminated Sites Regulation (CSR), B.C. Reg. 375/96, includes amendments up to B.C. Reg. 133/2022, March 1, 2023.
- BC ENV, 2023b. Protocol 1 for Contaminated Sites, Detailed Risk Assessment, Version 4. March 20, 2023 (current version).
- BC ENV, 2023c. Protocol 11 for Contaminated Sites, Upper Cap Concentrations for Substances Listed in the Contaminated Sites Regulation, Version 5. March 20, 2023 (current version).
- BC ENV, 2024. Protocol 28 for Contaminated Sites 2016 Standards Derivation Methods, Version3. April 30, 2024 (current version).
- BCELTAC, 2022. In Vitro Bioaccessibility (IVBA) Round Robin II Testing for Lead and Arsenic in soil Samples. BCELTAC Bioaccessibility Subcommittee, prepared for Health Canada and the BC Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy. March 2022.
- Boreland et al. 2008. Managing Environmental Lead in Broken Hill: A Public Health Success. NSW Public Health Bulletin. Volume 19 (9-10). 2008. 10.1071/NB07099.
- Brown, SL, Chaney, RL and Hettiarachchi, GM. 2016. Lead in urban soils: a real or perceived concern for urban agriculture? J Environ Qual 45(1):26-36.
- Butte-Silver Bow Department of Health and University of Cincinnati. 1992. The Butte-Silver Bow County Environmental Health Lead Study. Final Report. Butte-Silver Bow Department of Health/University of Cincinnati Department of Environmental Health.
- CCME. 2006. A Protocol for the Derivation of Environmental and Human Health Soil Quality Guidelines. 2006. Winnipeg. Manitoba. ISBN-10 1-896997-45-7 PDF
- CDC, 1992. Impact of Lead-Contaminated Soil on Public Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Charles Xintaras, Sc.D. Publication date: 05/01/1992. Available at https://wonder.cdc.gov/wonder/prevguid/p0000015/p0000015.asp



- City of Trail, 2021. Trail 2021 Annual Water Report. Available at City of Trail 2021 Annual water report (esolg.ca).
- Colorado Department of Health; University of Colorado; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (1989). Leadville Heavy Metals Exposure Study. November 1989.
- Dalton, C., & Bates, L. (2005). Impact of closure of a large lead–zinc smelter on elevated blood lead levels of children in adjacent suburbs, Boolaroo, Australia. Environmental Exposure Health, 85, 377–387
- Declercq, C<sup>\*</sup>; Prouvost, H<sup>\*</sup>; Ladrière, L<sup>†</sup>; Brigaud, T<sup>‡</sup>; Labat, L<sup>§</sup>; Haguenoer, J M<sup>¶</sup>. Children's Blood Lead levels Around a Primary Lead Smelter in Northern France. Epidemiology 17(6):p S488-S489, November 2006.
- Dobrescu et al., 2022. Effectiveness of interventions for the remediation of lead-contaminated soil to prevent or reduce lead exposure – A systematic review. Science of the Total Environment. 806. 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150480
- Dong, C., Taylor, M.P., Gulson, B. 2020. A 25-year record of childhood blood lead exposure and its relationship to environmental sources. Environmental Research. 186. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109357
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority). 2013. Scientific Opinion on Lead in Food: EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM). Parma, Italy. EFSA J 8:1570. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1570.
- Etchevers et al., 2015. Environmental determinants of different blood lead levels in children: A quantile analysis from a nationwide survey. Environmental International, Vol 74 (2015) 152-159.
- Erraguntla NK, RL Sielken, C Valdez-Flores, and RL Grant. 2012. An updated inhalation unit risk factor for arsenic and inorganic arsenic compounds based on a combined analysis of epidemiology studies. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 64:329–341. DOI:10.1016/j.yrtph.2012.07.001.
- Exponent. 1997. Human Health Risk Assessment for Trail, British Columbia. Phase 1: Problem Formulation. Prepared by Exponent. Boulder, Colorado. September 1997.
- Exponent. 1998. Human Health Risk Assessment for Trail, British Columbia. Phase 2: Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculations. Prepared by Exponent. Boulder, Colorado. October 1998.
- Exponent. 2000. Human Health Risk Assessment for Trail, British Columbia. Phase 2: Revised Screening-Level Deterministic Risk Calculation. Prepared by Exponent. Boulder, Colorado. March 2000.
   Integral. 2008. Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) for Offsite Impacts from Trail, B.C.,
   Smelter Phase 4—Additional Data Collection and Probabilistic Risk Calculations. Integral.
   Mercer Island, Washington. August 2008.
- Environ. 2010. Addendum to the August 12, 2008 Trail Phase 4 Human Health Risk Assessment Response to Comments from Dr. Glyn Fox, Senior Science Advisor, B.C. Ministry of Environment. Environ. Seattle, Washington. March 2010.
- Environ. 2014. Evaluation of Trail Homegrown Produce Consumption Final Draft. Environ. Seattle, Washington. August 2014.
- Gagne. 1994. Blood lead levels in Noranda children following removal of smelter-contaminated yard soil. Canadian Journal of Public Health= Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique, 85(3), 163-166.
- Goodarzi, F., Sanei, H., Garrett, R.G., Labonte, M. & Duncan, W.F. 2006. A review of the mossmonitoring survey around the Trail smelter, British Columbia, Canada. Geochemistry: Exploration, Environment, Analysis, Vol. 6, pp. 249-257.



- Goodison, K. (2024). Medical Health Officer Recommendation Under Contaminated Sites Regulation Sections 18 and 18.1 – Risk-based Standards for Lead (Pb) for the Environmental Management Area Surrounding Teck Trail Operations. Interior Health, BC.
- Gulson BL, Jameson CW, Mahaffey KR, et al. 1997. Pregnancy increases mobilization of lead from maternal skeleton. J Lab Clin Med 130:51-62.
- Gulson, B., Anderson, P., & Taylor, A. 2013. Surface dust wipes are the best predictors of blood leads in young children with elevated blood lead levels. Environmental research, 126, 171-178.
- Gulson and Taylor. 2017. A simple lead dust fall method predicts children's blood lead level: New evidence from Australia. Environmental Research. 159. 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.07.047
- Health Canada. 2010. Federal Contaminated Site Risk Assessment in Canada, Part V: Guidance on Human Health Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment for Chemicals (DQRACHEM). Health Canada. 2010. ISBN: 978-1-100-17926-1
- Health Canada, 2013. Final Human Health state of the Science Report on Lead. February 2013. ISBN: 978-1-100-21304-0.
- Health Canada, 2018. Federal Contaminated Site Risk Assessment in Canada. Supplemental Guidance on Human Health Risk Assessment of Indoor Settled Dust (HHRADust). Prepared by the Contaminated Sites Division, Safe Environments Directorate.
- Health Canada, 2021a. Federal Contaminated Site Risk Assessment in Canada. Toxicological Reference Values. Version 3.0.
- Health Canada, 2021b. Lead in Canadians. Ottawa, ON. Available at https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/services/environmental-workplace-health/reports-publications/environmentalcontaminants/human-biomonitoring-resources/lead-canadians.html.
- Health Canada, 2024. Federal Contaminated Site Risk Assessment in Canada. Guidance on Human Health Preliminary Quantitative Risk Assessment (PQRA). Version 4.0.
- Hilts, SR, Pan, UW, White, ER and Yates, CL. 1995. Trail Lead Program, Exposure Pathways Investigations, Final Report.
- Hilts, SR, Pan, UW, White, ER and Yates, CL. 2001. Trail Lead Program, Identification, Evaluation and Selection of Remedial Options. January 2001.
- Holstege et al., 2020. Available at https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/2060369-overview.
- Interior Health, 2021. Blood Lead Levels in Trail, Fall 2021. Available at Microsoft PowerPoint Trail Blood Lead Levels Presentation\_IH\_2021 kg edits [Read-Only] (thep.ca)
- Interior Health, 2023. Blood lead levels in Trail Fall 2023. Interior Health. 2023. Available at: https://thep.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/BIPb-presentation-Fall-2023-FINAL-Dec-7th.pdf
- Interior Health (2024). Analysis of Variables Influencing Children's Blood Lead Levels in Trail BC. Prepared by J. LeNoble for Interior Health.
- Integral, 2008 HHRA Phase 4: Additional Data Collection and Probabilistic Risk Calculations. Integral Consulting Inc. 2008.
- Intrinsik 2019. Assessment of Elevated concentrations of Lead in Soil in Winnipeg Neighbourhoods. Submitted to Oversight Committee, Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living. November 19, 2019.



- Kelly, A., H. Larratt, F. Cid Yanez, and K. Hawes. 2023. Lower Columbia River 2021 Aquatic Effects Monitoring Program for the Teck Metals Ltd. Trail Smelter – 2021 Annual Data Collection and Interpretation Report. Ecoscape Environmental Consultants Ltd. 198pp + Appendices.
- Lanphear et al., 1997. Bruce P. Lanphear, Thomas D. Matte, John Rogers, Robert P. Clickner, Brian Dietz, Robert L. Bornschein, Paul Succop, Kathryn R. Mahaffey, Sherry Dixon, Warren Galke, Michael Rabinowitz, Mark Farfel, Charles Rohde, Joel Schwartz, Peter Ashley, David E. Jacobs. The Contribution of Lead-Contaminated House Dust and Residential Soil to Children's Blood Lead Levels, A Pooled Analysis of 12 Epidemiologic Studies. Environmental Research, Volume 79, 1998, Pages 51 to 68.
- Lanphear et al., 2003. The effect of soil abatement on blood lead levels in children living near a former smelting and milling operation. Public Health Rep. 2003 Mar-Apr;118(2):83-91. doi: 10.1093/phr/118.2.83. PMID: 12690062; PMCID: PMC1497522.
- Lewis AS, LA Beyer, and K Zu. 2015. Considerations in deriving quantitative cancer criteria for inorganic arsenic exposure via inhalation. Environment International 74:258–273. DOI:10.1016/j.envint.2014.09.009.
- Lewis and Clark Country Health Department, Montana Department of Health and Environmental Sciences, US Centers for Disease Control, US Environmental Protection Agency. 1986. East Helena, Montana: Child Lead Study – Summer 1983.
- Lyle et al. 2021 Blood lead levels among Broken Hill children born 2009–2015: a longitudinal study to inform prevention strategies. Public Health Research and Practice. March 2022. Volume 31 (1). https://doi.org/10.17061/phrp31122107.
- Mielke et al., 2007. Nonlinear association between soil lead and blood lead of children in metropolitan New Orleans, Louisiana: 2000–2005. Science of the Total Environment 388 (2007) 43–53.
- Mielke et al., 2011 Nonlinear association between soil lead and blood lead of children in metropolitan New Orleans, Louisiana: 2000–2005. Science of the Total Environment. 388. 2007. Doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.08.012
- Mushak, Paul. Lead and Public Health, Science, Risk and Regulation. Elsevier, Oxford, UK. ISBN: 978-0-444-51554-4.
- Native Land Digital. 2022. Available at: https://native-land.ca/
- OMOE. 2007. Ontario Air Standards for Lead and Lead Compounds. Standards Development Branch. Ontario Ministry of the Environment. Available at: http://www.ontla.on.ca/library/repository/mon/20000/277829.pdf.
- OMOE. 2012. Ontario's Ambient Air Quality Criteria. Standards Development Branch. Ontario Ministry of the Environment. Available at: http://www.ene.gov.on.ca/stdprodconsume/groups/lr/@ene/@resources/documents/re source/std01\_079182.pdf.
- Oomen AG, Lijzen JPA (2004) Relevancy of human exposure via house dust to the contaminants lead and asbestos. Report no: 711701037, available at http://www.rivm.nl/en/, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands.

Oomen, AG, Janssen, PJCM, Dusseldorp A, Noorlander, A (2008). Exposure to chemicals via house dust. Report no. 609021064/2008, available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK568952/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK568952.pdf, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven, The Netherlands.



- Panhandle District Health Department, Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, US Centers for Disease Controlm US Environmental Protection Agency (1986). Kellogg Revisited – 1983: Childhood Blood Lead and Environmental Status Report. July 1986.
- Rabito et al., 2007. The association between demolition activity and children's blood lead levels. Environmental Research, Vol 103, Issue 3. (2007), 345-351.
- Ramboll, 2020. Preliminary Review of Background Soil Lead Levels in Urban Areas Similar to Trail, British Columbia. Prepared for Teck Metals, Ltd. July 3, 2020.
- Ramboll, 2023. Technical Note, Updated Screening Assessment of Arsenic Inhalation Cancer Risk. Prepared for Teck Metals Ltd. August 18, 2023.
- Richardson. 1997. Compendium of Canadian Human Exposure Factors for Risk Assessment. O'Connor Associates Environmental Inc. 1997.
- Ruckart et al., 2021. Update of the blood lead reference value—United States, 2021. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 70(43), 1509.
- Schoof et al., 2015. Rosalind A. Schoof, Dina L. Johnson, Emma R. Handziuk, Cynthia Van Landingham, Alma M. Feldpausch, Alexa E. Gallagher, Linda D. Dell, Amy Kephart, Assessment of blood lead level declines in an area of historical mining with a holistic remediation and abatement program, Environmental Research, Volume 150, 2016, Pages 582-591
- Sheldrake and Stifelman, 2003. A case study of lead contamination cleanup effectiveness at Bunker Hill. Sci Total Environ. 2003 Feb 15;303(1-2):105-23. doi: 10.1016/s0048-9697(02)00354-6. PMID: 12568767.
- SNC-Lavalin, 2018. Determination of Concentration Limits for Teck Trail WARP Boundary, July 23, 2018.
- Stanek et al. 2012. Equation Reliability of Soil Ingestion Estimates in Mass-Balance Soil Ingestion Studies. Risk Analysis: An International Journal, 32(3), 448-463.
- Statistics Canada. 2021. 2021 Census of Population, Trail, British Columbia. Available at https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dppd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=Trail&DGUIDlist=2021S0504910&GENDERlist=1,2, 3&STATISTIClist=1&HEADERlist=0.
- Teck. 2019. 2019 Annual Report. Available at https://www.teck.com/media/2019-Annual-Report.pdf.
- THEP, 2014. Trail Area Health and Environment Program. September 9, 2014.
- Trail and District Chamber of Commerce, 2022. Available at https://www.trailchamber.bc.ca/area-info/thegreater-trail-area/
- Trail Historical Society, 2019. Available at Trail Historical Society History (trailhistory.com). Website accessed January 27, 2023.
- Tu et al.,2000. Objective ranges of soil-to-dust transfer coefficients for lead-impacted sites. Environmental Research. 184. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109349
- University of Cincinnati. 1990. Midvale community Lead Study Final Report. Department of Environmental Health. July 1990.
- US EPA. 2007. Estimation of Relative Bioavailability of Lead in Soil and Soil-like Materials Using In Vivo and In Vitro Methods. OSWER 9285.7-77. Available online at https://semspub.epa.gov/work/11/175416.pdf. US EPA, 2014. (Soil exposures in top few cm of soil, Section 4.1)



US EPA. 2017 Update for Chapter 5 of the Exposure Factors Handbook Soil and Dust Ingestion. September 2017. EPA/600/R-17/384FUS HUD (US Department of Housing and Urban Development). 2012. The Healthy Homes Program Guidance Manual, Office of Healthy Homes and Lead Hazard Control. Available at:

http://www.healthyhousingsolutions.com/Portals/0/HUD\_Guidance\_Manual\_July\_2012.pdf.

- von Lindern et al. 2003. Assessing remedial effectiveness through the blood lead:soil/dust lead relationship at the Bunker Hill Superfund Site in the Silver Valley of Idaho. Sci Total Environ. 2003 Feb 15;303(1-2):139-70. doi: 10.1016/s0048-9697(02)00352-2. PMID: 12568769.
- von Lindern et al. 2016. Estimating Children's Soil/Dust Ingestion Rates through Retrospective Analyses of Blood Lead Biomonitoring from the Bunker Hill Superfund Site in Idaho. Environ Health Perspect. 2016 Sep;124(9):1462-70. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1510144. Epub 2016 Jan 8. PMID: 26745545; PMCID: PMC5010415.
- Weitzman et al. 1993. Lead-contaminated soil abatement and urban children's blood lead levels. Jama, 269(13), 1647-1654.
- Whitaker, Simon (2010) Error in the estimation of intellectual ability in the low range using the WISC-IV and WAIS-III. Personality and Individual Differences, 48 (5). pp. 517-521. ISSN 01918869. Available at https://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/7044/2/WhitakerError.pdf
- WHO. 2000. WHO Air Quality Guidelines for Europe. Chapter 6.1 Arsenic. 2nd edition. Copenhagen, Denmark. World Health Organization.
- WHO (World Health Organization). 2011. WHO Food Additive Series: 64 Safety Evaluation of Certain Food Additives and Contaminants. Prepared by the Seventy-third Meeting of JECFA. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. ISBN 978 924 166064 8.
- WHO, 2023. Available at https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/lead-poisoning-and-health
- Wilson and Richardson. 2013. Lead (Pb) Is Now a Non-Threshold Substance: How Does this Affect Soil Quality Guidelines? Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal. 2013. DOI:10.1080/10807039.2013.771534
- Wilson et al. 2013. Revisiting dust and soil ingestion rates based on hand-to-mouth transfer. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal, 19(1), 158-188.
- Yeoh et al., 2009. Cochrane review: Household interventions for prevention of domestic lead exposure in children. Evidence-Based Child Health: A Cochrane Review Journal, 4(2), 951-999.
- Ziegler, E., Edwards, B., Jensen, R. *et al.* Absorption and Retention of Lead by Infants. *Pediatr Res* **12**, 29–34 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-197801000-00008



# TABLES

## (Provided in Separate Excel File)

- 1: Soil Management Program Property Status 2007 to 2022
- 2: 2022 Family and Property Status Update
- 3: 2022 Summary of Soil Assessment and Ground Cover Evaluation
- 4: 2022 Summary of Soil Remediation Activities
- 5: 2023 Prioritization and Remediation Planning of P1 Properties
- 6: 2023 Secondary Prioritization of P2 Properties

# DRAWINGS

## (Provided in Separate File)

- Map Book 1 THEP Surface Soil Status
- Map Book 2 THEP Excavation Base Soil Status
- Map Book 3 THEP Remediation Priority Status

# **APPENDIX A**

Risk Estimates for Central Tendency (CT), Reasonable Maximum (RM) and Protocol 1 Scenarios (Tables I-1 to I-60)

### TABLE I-1. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	628	251.2	0.14	3.6E-05	0.009	2.8E-03	1.3E-02	0.2	0.24

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean **Bold** HQ > 1

### TABLE I-2. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.057	84.4	25.3	0.01	3.9E-06	0.001	2.2E-04	1.0E-02	0.02	0.02

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-3. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration μg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	1.65	5.5E-05	0.445	2.1E-02	1.1E-01	2.2	2.7

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-4. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	84.4	25.3	0.24	2.2E-05	0.099	6.1E-03	7.7E-02	0.4	0.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-5. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child Receptor in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	0.82	4.8E-05	0.169	1.0E-02	9.3E-02	1.1	1.32

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-6. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	84.4	25.3	0.12	1.9E-05	0.038	3.1E-03	6.8E-02	0.2	0.28

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-7. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	0.04	1.0E-05	0.002	8.3E-04	2.0E-02	0.06	0.08

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean Bold HQ > 1
## TABLE I-8. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	84.4	25.3	0.01	4.3E-06	0.001	2.6E-04	1.5E-02	0.02	0.03

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-9. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Montrose	0.077	62.6	0.709	4.7E-02	6.4E-02	0.8	0.98

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-10. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 0

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Montrose	0.077	25.3	0.185	1.2E-02	4.1E-02	0.2	0.29

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-11. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	0.12	3.1E-05	0.008	2.4E-03	1.7E-02	0.1	0.17
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	0.11	3.0E-05	0.007	2.3E-03	1.7E-02	0.1	0.17
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	0.08	2.2E-05	0.006	1.7E-03	1.7E-02	0.1	0.13
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	0.16	4.2E-05	0.010	3.2E-03	1.7E-02	0.2	0.23
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	0.12	3.1E-05	0.008	2.4E-03	1.7E-02	0.1	0.17
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	0.08	2.2E-05	0.005	1.7E-03	1.7E-02	0.1	0.13

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-12. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	308.3	92.5	0.02	1.4E-05	0.002	8.1E-04	1.4E-02	0.04	0.04
Casino	0.077	169.9	51.0	0.01	7.8E-06	0.001	4.4E-04	1.4E-02	0.03	0.03
Columbia Gardens	0.077	212.4	63.7	0.01	9.7E-06	0.001	5.5E-04	1.4E-02	0.03	0.04
Oasis	0.077	383.8	115.1	0.02	1.8E-05	0.002	1.0E-03	1.4E-02	0.04	0.05
Waneta	0.077	260.2	78.1	0.02	1.2E-05	0.002	6.8E-04	1.4E-02	0.03	0.04
Warfield	0.077	205.5	61.7	0.01	9.4E-06	0.001	5.4E-04	1.4E-02	0.03	0.03

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I -13. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	5.73	1.9E-04	1.546	7.2E-02	1.1E-01	7.5	8.9
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	5.45	1.8E-04	1.473	6.9E-02	1.1E-01	7.1	8.5
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	4.08	1.4E-04	1.103	5.2E-02	1.1E-01	5.3	6.4
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	7.74	2.6E-04	2.091	9.8E-02	1.1E-01	10.0	12.0
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	5.67	1.9E-04	1.530	7.2E-02	1.1E-01	7.4	8.9
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	4.03	1.3E-04	1.088	5.1E-02	1.1E-01	5.3	6.3

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-14. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration μg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood	<u> </u>									
Annable	0.077	308.3	92.5	0.89	7.9E-05	0.363	2.2E-02	7.7E-02	1.3	1.6
Casino	0.077	169.9	51.0	0.49	4.3E-05	0.200	1.2E-02	7.7E-02	0.8	0.9
Columbia Gardens	0.077	212.4	63.7	0.61	5.4E-05	0.250	1.5E-02	7.7E-02	1.0	1.1
Oasis	0.077	383.8	115.1	1.10	9.8E-05	0.452	2.8E-02	7.7E-02	1.7	2.0
Waneta	0.077	260.2	78.1	0.75	6.6E-05	0.306	1.9E-02	7.7E-02	1.2	1.4
Warfield	0.077	205.5	61.7	0.59	5.2E-05	0.242	1.5E-02	7.7E-02	0.9	1.1

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-15. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.48	2.86	1.7E-04	0.587	3.6E-02	9.3E-02	3.6	4.30
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.12	2.73	1.6E-04	0.559	3.5E-02	9.3E-02	3.4	4.10
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.12	2.04	1.2E-04	0.419	2.6E-02	9.3E-02	2.6	3.10
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.08	3.87	2.3E-04	0.794	4.9E-02	9.3E-02	4.8	5.77
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	2.83	1.6E-04	0.581	3.6E-02	9.3E-02	3.5	4.25
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.04	2.02	1.2E-04	0.413	2.6E-02	9.3E-02	2.5	3.06

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-16. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	308.3	92.49	0.44	6.9E-05	0.138	1.1E-02	6.8E-02	0.7	0.79
Casino	0.077	169.9	50.97	0.24	3.8E-05	0.076	6.2E-03	6.8E-02	0.4	0.47
Columbia Gardens	0.077	212.4	63.72	0.31	4.7E-05	0.095	7.7E-03	6.8E-02	0.5	0.57
Oasis	0.077	383.8	115.14	0.55	8.6E-05	0.171	1.4E-02	6.8E-02	0.8	0.97
Waneta	0.077	260.2	78.06	0.37	5.8E-05	0.116	9.5E-03	6.8E-02	0.6	0.68
Warfield	0.077	205.5	61.65	0.30	4.6E-05	0.092	7.5E-03	6.8E-02	0.5	0.56

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-17. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood									·	
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	0.14	3.6E-05	0.008	2.9E-03	2.0E-02	0.2	0.21
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	0.14	3.4E-05	0.008	2.8E-03	2.0E-02	0.2	0.20
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	0.10	2.6E-05	0.006	2.1E-03	2.0E-02	0.1	0.16
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	0.19	4.8E-05	0.011	3.9E-03	2.0E-02	0.2	0.27
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	0.14	3.5E-05	0.008	2.9E-03	2.0E-02	0.2	0.21
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	0.10	2.5E-05	0.006	2.0E-03	2.0E-02	0.1	0.15

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE 18. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m3	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	308.3	92.5	0.02	1.6E-05	0.002	9.5E-04	1.5E-02	0.04	0.05
Casino	0.077	169.9	51.0	0.01	8.7E-06	0.001	5.3E-04	1.5E-02	0.03	0.04
Columbia Gardens	0.077	212.4	63.7	0.02	1.1E-05	0.001	6.6E-04	1.5E-02	0.03	0.04
Oasis	0.077	383.8	115.1	0.03	2.0E-05	0.003	1.2E-03	1.5E-02	0.05	0.06
Waneta	0.077	260.2	78.1	0.02	1.3E-05	0.002	8.0E-04	1.5E-02	0.04	0.05
Warfield	0.077	205.5	61.7	0.02	1.0E-05	0.001	6.4E-04	1.5E-02	0.03	0.04

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-19. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Annable	0.077	217.5	2.464	1.6E-01	6.4E-02	2.7	3.2
Casino	0.077	207.1	2.346	1.6E-01	6.4E-02	2.6	3.1
				_	_		
Columbia Gardens	0.077	155.1	1.757	1.2E-01	6.4E-02	1.9	2.3
Oasis	0.077	294.1	3.331	2.2E-01	6.4E-02	3.6	4.3
Waneta	0.077	215.2	2.438	1.6E-01	6.4E-02	2.7	3.2
Warfield	0.077	153.0	1.734	1.2E-01	6.4E-02	1.9	2.3

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-20. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 1

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Annable	0.057	92.5	0.677	4.5E-02	3.1E-02	0.8	0.90
Casino	0.057	51.0	0.373	2.5E-02	3.1E-02	0.4	0.51
				_	_		
Columbia Gardens	0.057	63.7	0.467	3.1E-02	3.1E-02	0.5	0.63
				_			
Oasis	0.057	115.1	0.843	5.6E-02	3.1E-02	0.9	1.12
Waneta	0.057	78.1	0.572	3.8E-02	3.1E-02	0.6	0.77
Warfield	0.057	61.7	0.451	3.0E-02	3.1E-02	0.5	0.61

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-21. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	0.19	5.1E-05	0.013	3.9E-03	1.7E-02	0.2	0.3
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	0.05	1.2E-05	0.003	9.4E-04	1.7E-02	0.1	0.1
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	0.31	8.4E-05	0.021	6.4E-03	1.7E-02	0.4	0.4
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	0.17	4.4E-05	0.011	3.3E-03	1.7E-02	0.2	0.2

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE 22. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	461.2	138.4	0.03	2.1E-05	0.003	1.2E-03	1.4E-02	0.05	0.06
Miral Heights	0.077	106.9	32.1	0.01	4.9E-06	0.001	2.8E-04	1.4E-02	0.02	0.03
Shavers Bench	0.077	747	224.1	0.05	3.4E-05	0.005	2.0E-03	1.4E-02	0.07	0.08
Sunningdale	0.077	431.7	129.5	0.03	2.0E-05	0.003	1.1E-03	1.4E-02	0.05	0.05

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-23. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	9.35	3.1E-04	2.525	1.2E-01	1.1E-01	12.1	14.5
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	2.25	7.5E-05	0.609	2.9E-02	1.1E-01	3.0	3.6
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	15.31	5.1E-04	4.133	1.9E-01	1.1E-01	19.7	23.7
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	8.04	2.7E-04	2.172	1.0E-01	1.1E-01	10.4	12.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

# TABLE I-24. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	461.2	138.4	1.32	1.2E-04	0.543	3.4E-02	7.7E-02	2.0	2.4
Miral Heights	0.077	106.9	32.1	0.31	2.7E-05	0.126	7.8E-03	7.7E-02	0.5	0.6
Shavers Bench	0.077	747	224.1	2.15	1.9E-04	0.880	5.4E-02	7.7E-02	3.2	3.8
Sunningdale	0.077	431.7	129.5	1.24	1.1E-04	0.508	3.1E-02	7.7E-02	1.9	2.2

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-25. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	4.68	2.7E-04	0.959	5.9E-02	9.3E-02	5.8	6.94
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	1.13	6.6E-05	0.231	1.4E-02	9.3E-02	1.5	1.76
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	7.65	4.4E-04	1.569	9.7E-02	9.3E-02	9.4	11.30
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	4.02	2.3E-04	0.824	5.1E-02	9.3E-02	5.0	5.99

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-26. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration μg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood	·				•		-			
Glenmerry	0.077	461.2	138.4	0.66	1.0E-04	0.206	1.7E-02	6.8E-02	1.0	1.1
Miral Heights	0.077	106.9	32.1	0.15	2.4E-05	0.048	3.9E-03	6.8E-02	0.3	0.3
Shavers Bench	0.077	747	224.1	1.08	1.7E-04	0.334	2.7E-02	6.8E-02	1.5	1.8
Sunningdale	0.077	431.7	129.5	0.62	9.6E-05	0.193	1.6E-02	6.8E-02	0.9	1.1

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-27. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	0.23	5.8E-05	0.013	0.00	0.02	0.3	0.3
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	0.06	1.4E-05	0.003	0.00	0.02	0.1	0.1
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	0.38	9.6E-05	0.021	0.01	0.02	0.4	0.5
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	0.20	5.0E-05	0.011	0.00	0.02	0.2	0.3

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-28. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	461.2	138.4	0.04	2.3E-05	0.003	1.4E-03	0.02	0.06	0.07
Miral Heights	0.077	106.9	32.1	0.01	5.4E-06	0.001	3.3E-04	0.02	0.02	0.03
Shavers Bench	0.077	747	224.1	0.06	3.8E-05	0.005	2.3E-03	0.02	0.08	0.10
Sunningdale	0.077	431.7	129.5	0.03	2.2E-05	0.003	1.3E-03	0.02	0.05	0.06

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-29. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Glenmerry	0.077	355.2	4.0	2.7E-01	6.4E-02	4.4	5.2
Miral Heights	0.077	85.6	1.0	6.5E-02	6.4E-02	1.1	1.3
Shavers Bench	0.077	581.3	6.6	4.4E-01	6.4E-02	7.1	8.5
Sunningdale	0.077	305.4	3.5	2.3E-01	6.4E-02	3.8	4.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-30. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Glenmerry	0.077	138.4	1.0	6.7E-02	4.1E-02	1.1	1.3
Miral Heights	0.077	32.1	0.2	1.6E-02	4.1E-02	0.3	0.4
Shavers Bench	0.077	224.1	1.6	1.1E-01	4.1E-02	1.8	2.1
Sunningdale	0.077	129.5	0.9	6.3E-02	4.1E-02	1.1	1.3

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-31. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	0.71	1.9E-04	0.047	1.4E-02	1.7E-02	0.8	0.9
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	0.25	6.6E-05	0.016	5.0E-03	1.7E-02	0.3	0.3
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	0.70	1.9E-04	0.046	1.4E-02	1.7E-02	0.8	0.9
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	0.35	9.4E-05	0.023	7.2E-03	1.7E-02	0.4	0.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-32. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	1575	472.5	0.10	7.2E-05	0.010	4.1E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.2
Rivervale	0.077	550.2	165.1	0.04	2.5E-05	0.004	1.4E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.07
Tadanac	0.077	1535	460.5	0.10	7.0E-05	0.010	4.0E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.2
West Trail	0.077	897	269.1	0.06	4.1E-05	0.006	2.3E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.1

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-33. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	34.67	1.2E-03	9.360	4.4E-01	1.1E-01	44.6	53.5
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	12.09	4.0E-04	3.265	1.5E-01	1.1E-01	15.6	18.7
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	34.31	1.1E-03	9.263	4.3E-01	1.1E-01	44.1	52.9
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	17.25	5.7E-04	4.657	2.2E-01	1.1E-01	22.2	26.7

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-34. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	1575	472.5	4.5	4.0E-04	1.9	1.1E-01	7.7E-02	6.6	7.9
Rivervale	0.077	550.2	165.1	1.6	1.4E-04	0.6	4.0E-02	7.7E-02	2.3	2.8
Tadanac	0.077	1535	460.5	4.4	3.9E-04	1.8	1.1E-01	7.7E-02	6.4	7.7
West Trail	0.077	897	269.1	2.6	2.3E-04	1.1	6.5E-02	7.7E-02	3.8	4.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-35. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Mean Annual TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	17.3	1.0E-03	3.6	2.2E-01	9.3E-02	21.2	25.4
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	6.0	3.5E-04	1.2	7.7E-02	9.3E-02	7.5	8.9
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	17.2	1.0E-03	3.5	2.2E-01	9.3E-02	21.0	25.2
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	8.6	5.0E-04	1.8	1.1E-01	9.3E-02	10.6	12.7

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-36. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood					•		•			
East Trail	0.077	1575	472.5	2.3	3.5E-04	0.7	5.7E-02	6.8E-02	3.1	3.7
Rivervale	0.077	550.2	165.1	0.8	1.2E-04	0.2	2.0E-02	6.8E-02	1.1	1.4
Tadanac	0.077	1535	460.5	2.2	3.4E-04	0.7	5.6E-02	6.8E-02	3.0	3.6
West Trail	0.077	897	269.1	1.3	2.0E-04	0.4	3.3E-02	6.8E-02	1.8	2.2

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-37. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	0.9	2.2E-04	0.05	1.8E-02	2.0E-02	1.0	1.1
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	0.3	7.6E-05	0.02	6.1E-03	2.0E-02	0.3	0.4
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	0.9	2.1E-04	0.05	1.7E-02	2.0E-02	0.9	1.1
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	0.4	1.1E-04	0.02	8.7E-03	2.0E-02	0.5	0.6

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-38. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 2

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	1575	472.5	0.12	8.0E-05	0.011	4.9E-03	1.5E-02	0.2	0.2
Rivervale	0.077	550.2	165.1	0.04	2.8E-05	0.004	1.7E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.1
Tadanac	0.077	1535	460.5	0.12	7.8E-05	0.010	4.7E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.2
West Trail	0.077	897	269.1	0.07	4.6E-05	0.006	2.8E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.1

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

### TABLE I-39. Reasonable Maximum Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood	<u> </u>			<u> </u>			
East Trail	0.077	1316.4	14.9	4.0E-01	6.4E-02	15.4	18.4
Rivervale	0.077	459.3	5.2	1.4E-01	6.4E-02	5.4	6.5
Tadanac	0.077	1302.9	14.8	3.9E-01	6.4E-02	15.2	18.3
West Trail	0.077	655.0	7.4	2.0E-01	6.4E-02	7.7	9.2

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-40. Central Tendancy Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 3

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
East Trail	0.077	472.5	3.5	9.2E-02	4.1E-02	3.6	4.3
Rivervale	0.077	165.1	1.2	3.2E-02	4.1E-02	1.2	1.5
Tadanac	0.077	460.5	3.4	9.0Ē-02	4.1E-02	3.5	4.2
West Trail	0.077	269.1	2.0	5.3E-02	4.1E-02	2.0	2.4

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-41. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 0 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	628	251.2	0.11	2.9E-05	0.005	2.2E-03	1.0E-02	0.1	0.2

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean **Bold** HQ > 1

## TABLE I-42. Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 0 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration μg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	0.90	3.0E-05	0.246	1.5E-02	7.7E-02	1.2	1.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

## TABLE I-43. Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child Receptor in Assessment Area 0 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	0.11	2.6E-05	0.093	7.6E-03	6.8E-02	0.3	0.34

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean
#### TABLE I-44. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 0 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Montrose	0.077	156.6	62.6	0.03	8.0E-06	0.001	6.5E-04	1.5E-02	0.05	0.06

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean Bold HQ > 1

#### TABLE I-45. Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 0 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Montrose	0.077	62.6	0.458	3.1E-02	4.1E-02	0.5	0.64

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-46. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 1 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood	JII									
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	0.09	2.5E-05	0.005	1.9E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.14
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	0.09	2.4E-05	0.004	1.8E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.13
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	0.07	1.8E-05	0.003	1.4E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.10
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	0.13	3.4E-05	0.006	2.6E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.18
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	0.09	2.5E-05	0.005	1.9E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.14
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	0.07	1.8E-05	0.003	1.3E-03	1.4E-02	0.1	0.10

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-47. Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 1 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	3.12	1.0E-04	0.854	5.3E-02	7.7E-02	4.1	4.9
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	2.97	9.9E-05	0.813	5.0E-02	7.7E-02	3.9	4.7
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	2.23	7.4E-05	0.609	3.8E-02	7.7E-02	3.0	3.5
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	4.22	1.4E-04	1.155	7.1E-02	7.7E-02	5.5	6.6
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	3.09	1.0E-04	0.845	5.2E-02	7.7E-02	4.1	4.9
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	2.20	7.3E-05	0.601	3.7E-02	7.7E-02	2.9	3.5

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-48. Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 1 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.48	0.39	9.1E-05	0.324	2.6E-02	6.8E-02	0.8	0.97
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.12	0.37	8.7E-05	0.308	2.5E-02	6.8E-02	0.8	0.93
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.12	0.28	6.5E-05	0.231	1.9E-02	6.8E-02	0.6	0.72
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.08	0.53	1.2E-04	0.438	3.6E-02	6.8E-02	1.1	1.29
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	0.39	9.0E-05	0.320	2.6E-02	6.8E-02	0.8	0.96
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.04	0.28	6.4E-05	0.228	1.9E-02	6.8E-02	0.6	0.71

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-49. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 1 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood									·	
Annable	0.077	543.7	217.5	0.11	2.8E-05	0.005	2.2E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.16
Casino	0.077	517.8	207.1	0.11	2.6E-05	0.005	2.1E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.15
Columbia Gardens	0.077	387.8	155.1	0.08	2.0E-05	0.003	1.6E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.12
Oasis	0.077	735.2	294.1	0.15	3.7E-05	0.007	3.0E-03	1.5E-02	0.2	0.21
Waneta	0.077	538	215.2	0.11	2.7E-05	0.005	2.2E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.16
Warfield	0.077	382.6	153.0	0.08	1.9E-05	0.003	1.6E-03	1.5E-02	0.1	0.12

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-50. Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 1 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Annable	0.077	217.5	1.592	1.1E-01	4.1E-02	1.7	2.09
Casino	0.077	207.1	1.517	1.0E-01	4.1E-02	1.7	1.99
Columbia Gardens	0.077	155.1	1.136	7.6E-02	4.1E-02	1.3	1.50
Oasis	0.077	294.1	2.153	1.4E-01	4.1E-02	2.3	2.81
Waneta	0.077	215.2	1.576	1.0E-01	4.1E-02	1.7	2.07
Warfield	0.077	153.0	1.121	7.5E-02	4.1E-02	1.2	1.48

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-51. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 2 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	0.15	4.1E-05	0.008	3.1E-03	1.4E-02	0.2	0.21
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	0.04	9.8E-06	0.002	7.5E-04	1.4E-02	0.1	0.06
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	0.25	6.6E-05	0.012	5.1E-03	1.4E-02	0.3	0.34
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	0.13	3.5E-05	0.007	2.7E-03	1.4E-02	0.2	0.19

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-52. Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 2 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration μg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	5.10	1.7E-04	1.394	8.6E-02	7.7E-02	6.7	8.0
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	1.23	4.1E-05	0.336	2.1E-02	7.7E-02	1.7	2.0
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	8.35	2.8E-04	2.282	1.4E-01	7.7E-02	10.9	13.0
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	4.39	1.5E-04	1.199	7.4E-02	7.7E-02	5.7	6.9

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-53. Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 2 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	0.64	1.5E-04	0.529	4.3E-02	6.8E-02	1.3	1.54
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	0.15	3.6E-05	0.127	1.0E-02	6.8E-02	0.4	0.43
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	1.05	2.4E-04	0.865	7.1E-02	6.8E-02	2.1	2.46
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	0.55	1.3E-04	0.455	3.7E-02	6.8E-02	1.1	1.33

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-54. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 2 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
Glenmerry	0.077	887.9	355.2	0.18	4.6E-05	0.010	0.00	0.02	0.2	0.25
Miral Heights	0.077	214	85.6	0.04	1.1E-05	0.002	0.00	0.02	0.1	0.08
Shavers Bench	0.077	1453.2	581.3	0.30	7.5E-05	0.017	0.01	0.02	0.3	0.40
Sunningdale	0.077	763.6	305.4	0.16	3.9E-05	0.009	0.00	0.02	0.2	0.22

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-55. Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 2 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) µg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
Glenmerry	0.077	355.2	2.6	1.7E-01	4.1E-02	2.8	3.4
Miral Heights	0.077	85.6	0.6	4.2E-02	4.1E-02	0.7	0.9
Shavers Bench	0.077	581.3	4.3	2.8E-01	4.1E-02	4.6	5.5
Sunningdale	0.077	305.4	2.2	1.5E-01	4.1E-02	2.4	2.9

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-56. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adult in Assessment Area 3 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	0.57	1.5E-04	0.028	1.1E-02	1.4E-02	0.6	0.74
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	0.20	5.3E-05	0.010	4.0E-03	1.4E-02	0.2	0.27
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	0.56	1.5E-04	0.028	1.1E-02	1.4E-02	0.6	0.74
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	0.28	7.5E-05	0.014	5.7E-03	1.4E-02	0.3	0.38

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-57. Risk Estimates for a Residential Young Child in Assessment Area 3 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Oral/Dermal TRV	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
	ug/kg/d										
Neighbourhood											
East Trail	0.5	0.077	3291	1316.4	18.91	6.3E-04	5.168	3.2E-01	7.7E-02	24.5	29.4
Rivervale	0.5	0.077	1148.2	459.3	6.60	2.2E-04	1.803	1.1E-01	7.7E-02	8.6	10.3
Tadanac	0.5	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	18.71	6.2E-04	5.115	3.2E-01	7.7E-02	24.2	29.1
West Trail	0.5	0.077	1637.4	655.0	9.41	3.1E-04	2.571	1.6E-01	7.7E-02	12.2	14.7

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-58. Risk Estimates for a Residential Older Child in Assessment Area 3 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Mean Annual TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	2.4	5.5E-04	2.0	1.6E-01	6.8E-02	4.6	5.5
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	0.8	1.9E-04	0.7	5.6E-02	6.8E-02	1.6	2.0
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	2.3	5.5E-04	1.9	1.6E-01	6.8E-02	4.5	5.4
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	1.2	2.7E-04	1.0	8.0E-02	6.8E-02	2.3	2.8

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-59. Risk Estimates for a Residential Adolescent in Assessment Area 3 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Soil Concentration µg/g	Indoor Dust Concentration µg/g	HQ Soil Ingestion	HQ Soil Particulate Inhalation	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood										
East Trail	0.077	3291	1316.4	0.7	1.7E-04	0.03	1.4E-02	1.5E-02	0.7	0.9
Rivervale	0.077	1148.2	459.3	0.2	5.8E-05	0.01	4.7E-03	1.5E-02	0.3	0.3
Tadanac	0.077	3257.2	1302.9	0.7	1.7E-04	0.03	1.3E-02	1.5E-02	0.7	0.9
West Trail	0.077	1637.4	655.0	0.3	8.3E-05	0.01	6.8E-03	1.5E-02	0.4	0.4

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

#### TABLE I-60. Risk Estimates for a Residential Infant in Assessment Area 3 - Protocol 1 Scenario

	Air Concentration (Annual Mean TSP) μg/m <sup>3</sup>	Indoor Dust Concentration μg/g	HQ Indoor Dust Ingestion	HQ Indoor Dust Inhalation	HQ Air Inhalation	HQ All Routes	Predicted Blood Pb (ug/dL) (based on HQ)
Neighbourhood							
East Trail	0.077	1316.4	9.6	2.6E-01	4.1E-02	9.9	11.9
Rivervale	0.077	459.3	3.4	9.0E-02	4.1E-02	3.5	4.2
Tadanac	0.077	1302.9	9.5	2.5E-01	4.1E-02	9.8	11.8
West Trail	0.077	655.0	4.8	1.3E-01	4.1E-02	5.0	6.0

HQ = Hazard Quotient

UCLM = Upper Confidence Limit of the Mean

# **APPENDIX B**

# ProUCL Outputs

	A	В	С	DE	F	G H I J K	L
1				UCL Statis	stics for Und	ensored Full Data Sets	
2							
3		User Sel	ected Options				
4	D	ate/Time of (	Computation	ProUCL 5.12023-11-23 1	11:54:14 AM		
5			From File	PredictedAndActualLabL	eadBySamp	bleByNhood_ForProUCL_20231123.xls	
6		F	ull Precision	OFF			
7		Confidence	e Coefficient	95%			
8	Number	r of Bootstrap	Operations	2000			
9							
10							
11	Annable						
12							
12					General	Statistics	
14			Total	Number of Observations	502	Number of Distinct Observations	329
14						Number of Missing Observations	0
10	1			Minimum	1.4	Mean	308.3
17				Maximum	2420	Median	275.5
17				SD	200.7	Std. Error of Mean	8.956
10				Coefficient of Variation	0.651	Skewness	3.089
19							
20					Normal	GOF Test	
21			S	hapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.853	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
22			-	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
23				Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0986		
24			5	% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0399	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
25			•	Data Not	Normal at l	5% Significance Level	
26				2313 140			
27				٨٩	sumina Nor	mal Distribution	
28			95% N	ormal UCI		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skowness)	
29			3070 INC	95% Student's-t LIC	323 1	95% Adjusted_CLTTLCL (Chas 1905)	324 4
30					520.1	95% Modified t LICL (Johnson-1978)	323.3
31							
32					Gamma	GOF Test	
33				A-D Test Statistic	2 667	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
34				5% A-D Critical Value	0.765	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	
35				K-S Test Statistic	0.0603	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOE Test	
36				5% K-S Critical Value	0.0408	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
37				Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
38							
39					Gamma	Statistics	
40				k hat (MLE)	2.435	k star (bias corrected MLE)	2.422
41				Theta hat (MLE)	126.6	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	127.3
42				nu hat (MLE)	2445	nu star (bias corrected)	2431
43			MI	LE Mean (bias corrected)	308.3	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	198.1
44						Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	2318
45			Adjus	sted Level of Significance	0.0495	Adjusted Chi Square Value	2317
40							
48				As	suming Gan	nma Distribution	
49		95% Approx	imate Gamma	UCL (use when n>=50))	323.4	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	323.5
50	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
51					Lognorma	I GOF Test	
52			S	hapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.879	Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
53				5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
54				Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.11	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
55			5	% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0399	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
56				Data Not L	.ognormal a	t 5% Significance Level	
57							
59	1				Lognorma	al Statistics	
50	1			Minimum of Logged Data	0.336	Mean of logged Data	5.512
60	1		N	laximum of Logged Data	7.792	SD of logged Data	0.776
61					<u> </u>	1	
62	1			Ass	uming Logn	ormal Distribution	
62	1			95% H-UCL	358.1	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	374
64			95%	Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	391.9	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	416.8
65	1		99%	Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	465.6		
66							
67	1			Nonparame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
68	1			Data do not f	follow a Disc	cernible Distribution (0.05)	
69							
70				Nonpa	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
71				95% CLT UCL	323.1	95% Jackknife UCL	323.1
72			95%	Standard Bootstrap UCL	323	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	325.3
73			9	5% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	324.7	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	324.1
74			(	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	324.2		
75			90% Ch	ebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	335.2	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	347.4
76			97.5% Ch	ebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	364.3	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	397.4
77							
78					Suggested	UCL to Use	
79			95% Che	ebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	347.4		
80							
81		Note: Sugg	estions regard	ing the selection of a 95%	5 UCL are pr	ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL	
82			F	Recommendations are bas	sed upon da	ta size, data distribution, and skewness.	
83		These rec	ommendations	s are based upon the resu	Ilts of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	
84	'	However, sim	ulations result	s will not cover all Real W	orld data se	ts; tor additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	an.

85				
86				
87	Casino			
88				
80		General	Statistics	
00	Total Number of Observations	53	Number of Distinct Observations	48
90			Number of Missing Observations	0
91	A fire income	0.40		100.0
92		8.42	Wean	169.9
93	Maximum	1700	Median	50.8
94	SD	330.2	Std. Error of Mean	45.36
95	Coefficient of Variation	1.944	Skewness	3.239
06				
90		Normal	ROF Test	
97	Shanira Wilk Tast Statistia	0.504	Shapira Wilk COE Test	
98		0.504		
99	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
100	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.373	Lilliefors GOF Test	
101	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.121	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
102	Data Not	Normal at	5% Significance Level	
102				
103	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
104	95% Normal LICI	ouning iter	05% LICLs (Adjusted for Skownees)	
105		0.45-0	35% OCLS (Aujusted for Skewness)	
106	95% Student's-t UCL	245.8	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	266
107			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	249.2
108				
109		Gamma	GOF Test	
110	A-D Test Statistic	4.848	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
110	5% A-D Critical Value	0.801	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
111	K S Tost Statistic	0.001	Kelmagaray Smirnay Comma COE Test	
112	K-S Test Statistic	0.244	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
113	5% K-S Critical Value	0.128	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
114	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
115				
116		Gamma	Statistics	
110	k hat (MLE)	0.658	k star (bias corrected MLE)	0.633
117	Theta hat (MLE)	258.3	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	268.3
118		256.5		200.5
119	nu hat (MLE)	69.72	nu star (bias corrected)	67.1
120	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	169.9	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	213.5
121			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	49.25
122	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0455	Adjusted Chi Square Value	48.82
122				
123				
	A 6	eumina Gan	ma Distribution	
124		suming Gan		222 5
124 125	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	suming Gan 231.4	ma Distribution 95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	233.5
124 125 126	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	suming Gan 231.4	mma Distribution 95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	233.5
124 125 126 127	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	231.4 Lognorma	I GOF Test	233.5
124 125 126 127 128	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909	I GOF Test Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4	I GOF Test Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139	I GOF Test Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121	I GOF Test Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121	I GOF Test	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	231.4 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a	I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Significance Level Significance Level	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Staping Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         List S% Significance Level	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognorma	I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a 2.131	I GOF Test  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics  Mean of logged Data	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognorma 2.131 7.438	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognorma 2.131 7.438	Market Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data	233.5 4.208 1.196
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognorma 2.131 7.438	I GOF Test I GOF Test I GOF Test I Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	233.5 4.208 1.196
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal 2.131 7.438 Juning Lognorma	I GOF Test I GOF Test I GOF Test I Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics I Statisti	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1	Image: Stapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 205.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal 2.131 7.438 Jming Logno 210.1 253.5	Image: Statistics         I Statistics         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3	Image: Statistics         I Statistics	233.5 
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Jming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3	Image: Stapic	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Test Statistic S% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         tion Free UCL Statistics	233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Solution 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal 2.131 7.438 Juming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribution collow a Disconstructure	Image: Statistics         I GOF Test         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ST Statistics         I Statistis	233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Image: Statistics         I Statistics	233.5 
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data SSR 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	Suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           Lognormal a           2.131           7.438           Jming Lognormal           210.1           253.5           406.3           etric Distribution           follow a Disconservation	Image: Distribution         95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         tilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         I Statistics         Ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         sternible Distribution (0.05)	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	Suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           Lognormal a           2.131           7.438           uming Logno           210.1           253.5           406.3           atric Distribution           collow a Disconservation	Image: Distribution         95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         tilliefors Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         sernible Distribution (0.05)         tribution Free UCLs	233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 244.5	Market Statistics         Ormal Distribution         I GOF Test         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148	As: 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Test Statistic S% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic S% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	Suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           2.131           7.438           uming Lognor           210.1           253.5           406.3           etric Distribution           collow a Disconservice           rametric Distribution           244.5           247.4	Image: Stribution         95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         Statistics         I Statistics         I Statistics         I Statistics         SD of logged Data         ST of logged Data	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Test Statistic S% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 1000 Nonparame 1000 Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 244.5 247.4 270.5	Image: Distribution         95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         Statistics         I Statistics         I Statistics         I Statistics         SD of logged Data         ST Stribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Log	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc 244.5 247.4 270.5 275.5	Image: Statistic statisti	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 216.4 302.7 249.3
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Log	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc paretric Dis 244.5 247.4 270.5 275.5 305.9	Internation	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Second Data Not L 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc paretric Dis 244.5 247.4 270.5 275.5 305.9 453.1	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)         I GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         tilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         tota Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         tota Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         I Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data <th>233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 302.7 249.3</th>	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 302.7 249.3
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc 244.5 247.4 270.5 275.5 305.9 453.1	Internation Stribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level  S% Significance Level  I Statistics  I Statistics  I Statistics  I Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data I ST	233.5 233.5 233.5
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ssa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc 244.5 247.4 270.5 247.5 305.9 453.1	Inma Distribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level  I Statistics	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 305.1 30
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 uning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc 244.5 247.4 270.5 247.4 275.5 305.9 453.1	Internal Distribution	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124 125 126 127 128 129 130 131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143 144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153 154 155	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a 2.131 7.438 uming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc 244.5 247.4 270.5 247.4 270.5 247.5 305.9 453.1 Suggested 367.6	Inma Distribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level  5% Significance Level  I Statistics  I	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 etric Distribu follow a Disc parametric Dis 244.5 247.4 270.5 247.4 275.5 305.9 453.1 Suggested 367.6	Inma Distribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level  5% Significance Level  S% Significance Level S% Significance Level S% Significance Level S% Significance Level S% Significance Level S% S% Significance Level S% S	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         144         145         144         145         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lillefors Test Statistic 5% Lillefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Jming Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 Jming Logno 200.2 Jming Logno 200.2 200.2 Jming Logno 200.2 Jming Logno 200.2	Inma Distribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level to Significance Level  I Statistics  I	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 302.7 249.3
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan 231.4 Lognorma 0.909 4.1288E-4 0.139 0.121 .ognormal a Lognormal a 2.131 7.438 Juning Logno 210.1 253.5 406.3 Juning Logno 200 210.1 253.5 406.3 Juning Logno 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 20	Inma Distribution	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157         158	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           2.131           7.438           uming Lognormal           210.1           253.5           406.3           etric Distribut           follow a Disc           244.5           247.4           270.5           305.9           453.1           Suggested           367.6	Inma Distribution  95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)  I GOF Test  I GOF Test  Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t5% Significance Level  I Statistics  I	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157         158         159	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           2.131           7.438           Juning Lognormal           210.1           253.5           406.3           atric Distribut           follow a Disc           cametric Dis           244.5           247.4           270.5           305.9           453.1           Suggested           367.6           OUCL are prised upon data           atts of the sin           atts of the sin	Inma Distribution 95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50) IGOF Test IGOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level IS% Signifi	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         144         145         144         145         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157         158         159         160	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not I Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	Suming Gan           231.4           Lognorma           0.909           4.1288E-4           0.139           0.121           .ognormal a           2.131           7.438           Jming Lognor           210.1           253.5           406.3           etric Distribu           follow a Disc           244.5           247.4           270.5           305.9           453.1           Suggested           367.6           OUCL are pr           Sed upon data           (orld data se	Inma Distribution 95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50) IGOF Test IGOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level tota Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level IStatistics IGOF Test IST Statistics IGOF Test IGOF Test IST Statistics IST ST S	233.5 233.5 4.208 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2
124         125         126         127         128         129         130         131         132         133         134         135         136         137         138         139         140         141         142         143         144         145         146         147         148         149         150         151         152         153         154         155         156         157         158         159         160         161	As 95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)) Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Cheby	suming Gan         231.4         Lognorma         0.909         4.1288E-4         0.139         0.121         .ognormal a         Lognormal a         2.131         7.438         Juning Logno         210.1         253.5         406.3         atric Distribution         follow a Disc         244.5         247.4         270.5         305.9         453.1         Suggested         367.6         UCL are prised upon data         forlid data se	Inma Distribution 95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50) IGOF Test IGOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level tota Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level IS S%	233.5 233.5 4.208 1.196 216.4 305.1 216.4 305.1 245.8 302.7 249.3 367.6 621.2 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10

100	Columbia Gardens	F	G H I J K	L
163				
164		General	Statistics	
165	Total Number of Obsorvations	38	Number of Distinct Observations	36
166		50	Number of Distinct Observations	0
167	Minimum	10		212.4
168	Maviaura	1490	Median	212.4
169	Maximum	1480	Median	141.5
170	SD	262.2	Std. Error of Mean	42.54
171	Coefficient of Variation	1.235	Skewness	3.695
172				
173		Normal (	GOF Test	
174	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.568	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
175	5% Shapiro Wilk Critical Value	0.938	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
176	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.268	Lilliefors GOF Test	
177	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.142	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
178	Data Not	Normal at §	5% Significance Level	
179				
180	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
181	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
182	95% Student's-t UCL	284.2	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	309.6
183			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	288.4
184			L	
185		Gamma	GOF Test	
186	A-D Test Statistic	1.73	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
187	5% A-D Critical Value	0.769	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	əl
188	K-S Test Statistic	0.168	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
189	5% K-S Critical Value	0.146	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	əl
190	Data Not Gam	na Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
101				
192		Gamma	Statistics	
102	k hat (MLE)	1.374	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.283
104	Theta hat (MLE)	154.5	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	165.5
194	nu hat (MLE)	104.5	nu star (bias corrected)	97.54
195	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	212.4	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	187.5
196			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	75.76
197	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0434	Adjusted Chi Square Value	74.96
198				
199	Δο	suming Gan	nma Distribution	
200	95% Approximate Gamma LICL (use when n>=50)	273 5	95% Adjusted Gamma LICL (use when n<50)	276.4
201		275.5	33 / Adjusted Calinia CCL (use when 11-50)	270.4
202		Lognorma	I GOE Test	
203	Chapira Wilk Tast Statistia		Shanira Wilk Lagnarmal COE Taat	
204		0.920		
205	5% Shapiro Wilk Chucal Value	0.930		
206		0.162	Dete Net Legnermel et 5% Significance Level	
207	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.142	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
208		.ognormai a		
209			1 On-Al-Al-Al-A	
210		Lognorma		4.050
211	Minimum of Logged Data	2.303	Mean of logged Data	4.952
212	Maximum of Logged Data	7.3	SD of logged Data	0.908
213				
214	Assu		ormal Distribution	040.1
215	95% H-UCL	300.8	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	316.4
216	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	364.4	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	430.9
217	99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	561.7		
218				
219	Nonparame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
220	Data do not f	ollow a Disc	ernible Distribution (0.05)	
221				
222	Nonpa	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
223	95% CLT UCL	282.4	95% Jackknife UCL	284.2
224	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	279.3	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	369.3
225	95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	594.9	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	288.3
226	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	308.7		
227	90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	340	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	397.8
228	97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	478	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	635.6
229			ı	
230		Suggested	UCL to Use	
200	95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	397.8		
201			I	
232	Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	UCL are pr	ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.	
233	Recommendations are bas	sed upon dat	a size, data distribution, and skewness.	
234	These recommendations are based upon the resu	Its of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh. Maichle. and Lee (2006)	
235	However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	orld data se	ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	n.
236				
237				

		I	G II I J K	L
238	Fast Trail			
239				
240		General	Statistics	
241	Total Number of Observations	7511	Number of Distinct Observations	3157
243			Number of Missing Observations	0
244	Minimum	0.092	Mean	1575
245	Maximum	24652	Median	1220
246	SD	1376	Std. Error of Mean	15.87
247	Coefficient of Variation	0.873	Skewness	2.814
248				
249	Lilliofore Test Statistic			
250	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.127	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
251	Data Not	Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
252				
253	As	suming Nori	mal Distribution	
255	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
256	95% Student's-t UCL	1601	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	1602
257			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	1601
258				
259		Gamma	GOF Test	
260	A-D Test Statistic	23.42	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
261	5% A-D Critical Value	0.778	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	/el
262	K-S Test Statistic	0.0451	Colmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	(ol
263	Data Not Gam	0.0100	ed at 5% Significance Level	
264				
265		Gamma	Statistics	
267	k hat (MLE)	1.308	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.308
268	Theta hat (MLE)	1204	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	1205
269	nu hat (MLE)	19649	nu star (bias corrected)	19642
270	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	1575	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	1378
271			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	19318
272	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.05	Adjusted Chi Square Value	19317
273			ne Distribution	
274	AS:		P5% Adjusted Commo LICL (use when p50)	1602
275	95% Approximate Gamma OCE (use when h>=50))	1002	95% Adjusted Gamma OCL (use when h<50)	1002
276		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
277	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.11	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
270	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0103	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
280	Data Not L	ognormal at	t 5% Significance Level	
281				
282		Lognorma	I Statistics	
283	Minimum of Logged Data	-2.386	Mean of logged Data	6.934
284	Maximum of Logged Data	10.11	SD of logged Data	1.205
285				
286				2227
287	95% Chebyshey (MV/UE) UCL	2289	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	2237
288	99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	2506		2000
289				
290 201	Nonparame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
292	Data do not f	ollow a Disc	ernible Distribution (0.05)	
293				
294	Nonpa	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
295	95% CLT UCL	1601	95% Jackknife UCL	1601
296	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	1602	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	1602
297	95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	1602	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	1603

-				
298	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	1602		
299	90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1623	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1644
300	97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1674	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1733
301				
302		Suggested	UCL to Use	
303	95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	1644		
304				
305	Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	6 UCL are pr	ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL	
306	Recommendations are bas	sed upon dat	ta size, data distribution, and skewness.	
307	These recommendations are based upon the resu	ilts of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	
308	However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	/orld data se	ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statistici	an.
309				

				-
310	Clasman			
311				
312				
313		General	Statistics	
314	Total Number of Observations	3722	Number of Distinct Observations	1113
315			Number of Missing Observations	0
316	Minimum	0.34	Mean	461.2
317	Maximum	3390	Median	365
210	SD	364.9	Std. Error of Mean	5.98
318	Coefficient of Variation	0.791	Skewness	2 451
319				
320		Normal (	20E Tost	
321	Lillisform Toot Ototionia			
322		0.124		
323	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0147	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
324	Data Not	Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
325				
326	As	suming Nori	mal Distribution	
327	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
328	95% Student's-t UCL	471.1	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	471.3
320			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	471.1
329				
330		Gamma	COE Test	
331			Anderson Deding Commo COE Test	
332	A-D Test Statistic	7.469		
333	5% A-D Critical Value	0.768	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	'el
334	K-S Test Statistic	0.0285	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
335	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0184	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
336	Data Not Gam	ma Distribute	ed at 5% Significance Level	
337				
338		Gamma	Statistics	
220	k hat (MLE)	1.906	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.904
339	Theta hat (MLE)	242	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	242.2
340	nu hat (MLF)	14185	nu star (bias corrected)	14175
341	MLE Mean (hias corrected)	/61.2	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	334.2
342		401.2	Approvimete Chi Squere Volue (0.05)	12000
343		0.0400	Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	13699
344	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0499	Adjusted Chi Square Value	13899
345				
346	As	suming Gam	nma Distribution	
347	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	470.4	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	470.4
348				
349		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
350	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0573	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
251	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0147	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
351	Data Not L	.ognormal at	t 5% Significance Level	
352		•		
353		Lognorma	I Statistics	
354	Minimum of Loggod Data	1 070	Moon of logged Data	5 840
355		-1.079		0.049
356	Maximum of Logged Data	8.129	SD of logged Data	0.834
357				
358	Assu	uming Logno	ormal Distribution	
359	95% H-UCL	N/A	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	514.5
360	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	525.1	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	539.7
361	99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	568.6		
363				
262	Nondarame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
303	Data do not f	ollow a Disc	ernible Distribution (0.05)	
364				
365		rametria Dia	tribution Eree LICLs	
366				171 1
367	95% CLTUCL	4/1.1	95% Jackknife UCL	4/1.1
368	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	470.9	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	471.8
369	95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	471.6	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	471.3

370	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	471.3		
371	90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	479.2	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	487.3
372	97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	498.6	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	520.7
373				
374		Suggested	UCL to Use	
375	95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	487.3		
376				
377	Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	5 UCL are pr	rovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL	
378	Recommendations are bas	sed upon dat	ta size, data distribution, and skewness.	
379	These recommendations are based upon the resu	Ilts of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	
380	However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	/orld data se	ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statistici	an.
381				

382		Г	G H I J K	L
202	Miral Hts			
303				
384		0	Obstication	
385		General	Statistics	
386	Total Number of Observations	326	Number of Distinct Observations	195
387			Number of Missing Observations	0
388	Minimum	3.84	Mean	106.9
389	Maximum	745	Median	85.8
300	SD	88.12	Std. Error of Mean	4.881
201	Coefficient of Variation	0.824	Skewness	2.475
391				
392		Normal (	GOF Test	
393	Chaning Wills Tank Otatistic			
394		0.809		
395	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
396	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.166	Lilliefors GOF Test	
397	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0495	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
398	Data No	t Normal at §	5% Significance Level	
399				
400	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
401	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
402	95% Student's-t UCL	114.9	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	115.6
402			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	115
403			. ,	
404		Gamma	GOF Test	
405	Λ D Toot Statiatia	1 27	Anderson-Darling Gamma COE Toot	
406		0.700		
407	5% A-D Critical Value	0.768		el
408	K-S Test Statistic	0.0705	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
409	5% K-S Critical Value	0.051	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
410	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
411				
412		Gamma	Statistics	
413	k hat (MLE)	1.845	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.83
110	Theta hat (MLE)	57.95	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	58.42
415	nu hat (MLE)	1203	nu star (bias corrected)	1193
415	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	106.9	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	79.02
416			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	1114
41/	Adjusted Level of Significance	0 0493	Adjusted Chi Square Value	1113
418		0.0400		1110
419	A-		ne Distribution	
420				4445
421	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	114.5	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	114.5
422				
423		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
424	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.979	Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
425	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0.123	Data appear Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
426	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0984	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
427	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0495	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
428	Data appear Appro	oximate Logi	normal at 5% Significance Level	
429				
420		Lognorma	al Statistics	
430		-	Mean of logged Data	4.377
	Minimum of Logged Data	1.345		
431	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	1.345 6.613	SD of logged Data	0.805
431	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	1.345 6.613	SD of logged Data	0.805
431 432 433	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	1.345 6.613	SD of logged Data	0.805
431 432 433 434	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass	1.345 6.613 uming Logno	SD of logged Data	0.805
431 432 433 434 435	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2	SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 07.5% Obstantian (MVUE) UCL	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.805 126.7 145
431 432 433 434 435 436 437	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.805 126.7 145
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ttion Free UCL Statistics	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a Nonpa	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tition Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115.8
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 445 446	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL STRIDUTION Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level Stribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 446 446	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ittion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level ittibution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 145 115.8 115.8 128.2
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 446 447 449	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Intion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level Stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Distribution Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ittion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level ittibution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449 450	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4 Suggested 120.2	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Distribution at 5% Significance Level tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4 Suggested 120.2	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Intion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345 6.613 uming Logno 120.2 134.4 165.8 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 114.9 115.2 116.1 115.2 121.5 137.4 Suggested 120.2	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ittion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level ittibution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.805 126.7 145 145 145 115.8 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452 453	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribut         Discernible         rametric Distribut         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are presed upon data	SD of logged Data SD of logged	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452 453 454	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribu         Discernible         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon dat	SD of logged Data SD of logged	0.805
431 432 433 434 435 436 437 438 439 440 441 442 443 440 441 442 443 444 445 444 445 446 447 448 444 445 446 447 448 449 450 451 452 453 454 455	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribu         Discernible         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         ults of the sin	SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL SD Stribution at 5% Significance Level Stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use Covided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	0.805
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribue         rametric Distribue         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         Jord data se	SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ittion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level itribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use vovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	0.805 126.7 145 145 114.9 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 89% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real V	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribu         Discernible         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         vorld data se	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Tribution At 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  stribution Free UCLs  UCL so Use  UCL to Use  ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457         458	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based upon the rest However, simulations results will not cover all Real V	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribu         Discernible         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         ults of the sin         vorld data se         uts H-statisti	SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  ttribution Free UCLs  95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use  UCL to Use  tovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.	0.805 126.7 145 145 114.9 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457         458         459	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are ba These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real V	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribue         rametric Distribue         rametric Distribue         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         ults of the sin         /orld data se         uts H-statistiand low) value	SD of logged Data SD of logged	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115 128.2 155.4 in.
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457         458         459         460	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 85% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real V ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribue         rametric Distribue         rametric Distribue         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are prised upon data         Jits of the sin         Vorld data se         uts H-statistia         and low) value	SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL stribution at 5% Significance Level stribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use covided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia ic based UCLs for historical reasons only. ues of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide. the use of H-statistic based 95% UCLs.	0.805 126.7 145 145 115.8 115 128.2 155.4
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457         458         459         460         461	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparam Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real V ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend Use of nonparametric methods are preferred to cor	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribu         Discernible         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         uts H-statisti         and low) value         ed to avoid 1         npute UCL93	SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% to use UCL to Use UCL to Use UCL to Use it size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). its; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia ic based UCLs for historical reasons only. ies of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide. ithe use of H-statistic based 95% UCLs. 5 for skewed data sets which do not follow a gamma distribution	0.805 126.7 145 145 114.9 115.8 115 128.2 155.4 in. in.
431         432         433         434         435         436         437         438         439         440         441         442         443         444         445         446         447         448         449         450         451         452         453         454         455         456         457         458         459         460         461         462	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the rest However, simulations results will not cover all Real V ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend Use of nonparametric methods are preferred to cor	1.345         6.613         uming Logno         120.2         134.4         165.8         etric Distribue         rametric Dis         114.9         115.2         116.1         115.2         121.5         137.4         Suggested         120.2         6 UCL are pr         sed upon data         uits of the sin         /orld data se         uts H-statistiand low) valued to avoid to npute UCL9	SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use  UCL to Use  ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia ic based UCLs for historical reasons only. Les of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide. the use of H-statistic based 95% UCLs. 5 for skewed data sets which do not follow a gamma distribution	0.805

463				L
	Montrose			
464				
465		Conorol	Statistics	
466	Tatal Number of Observations	170	Number of Distinct Observations	105
467		179	Number of Distinct Observations	125
468	Minimum	0	Number of Missing Observations	0
469	Minimum	0	Mean Mealing	64.39
470	Maximum	825	Median	59
471	SD	96.3	Std. Error of Mean	7.198
472	Coefficient of Variation	1.141	Skewness	4.624
473				
474		Normal	GOF Test	
475	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.604	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
476	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
477	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.215	Lilliefors GOF Test	
478	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0666	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
479	Data No	t Normal at	5% Significance Level	
480				
481	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
482	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
483	95% Student's-t UCL	96.29	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	98.89
484			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	96.71
485				
486		Gamma	GOF Test	
487	A-D Test Statistic	2.161	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
488	5% A-D Critical Value	0.77	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
489	K-S Test Statistic	0.0871	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
490	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0703	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
491	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
492				
493		Gamma	Statistics	
494	k hat (MLE)	1.562	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.54
495	Theta hat (MLE)	54.02	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	54.81
496	nu hat (MLE)	559.3	nu star (bias corrected)	551.2
497	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	84.39	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	68.01
498			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	497.8
499	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0487	Adjusted Chi Square Value	497.4
500				
501	As	suming Gan	nma Distribution	
502	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	93.45	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	93.53
503				
504		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
505	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.988	Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
506	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0.868	Data appear Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
507	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0448	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
508	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0666	Data appear Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
509	Data appea	r Lognormal	at 5% Significance Level	
510				
511			al Statiation	
÷ · ·		Lognorma	ar Statistics	
512	Minimum of Logged Data	Lognorma 1.792	Mean of logged Data	4.082
512 513	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	Lognorma 1.792 6.715	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	4.082 0.817
512 513 514	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	Lognorma 1.792 6.715	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	4.082 0.817
512 513 514 515	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	4.082 0.817
512 513 514 515 516	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87
512 513 514 515 516 517	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 516 517 518	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ition Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ition Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 522 523	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a Nonpa	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ution Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 522 523 524	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ution Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 99.29
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 522 523 524 525	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 07.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Jackknife UCL 05% Jackknife UCL 05% Bootstrap-t UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 522 522 523 524 525 526	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 526 527	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 522 523 524 525 526 527 528	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ition Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 529	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Ition Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level Stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 529 529 530	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Distribution at 5% Significance Level stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 524 525 524 525 526 527 528 529 523 529 530	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 01 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 524 525 526 527 528 527 528 529 530 531	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level stribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 522 522 523 524 525 526 527 526 527 528 529 523 529 530 531 532	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Distribution at 5% Significance Level 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 530 531 532 533	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are pr	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Intion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         Stribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 523 529 531 532 533 534 535	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 85% CLT UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon da	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         intion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         rovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 523 524 525 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 530 531 532 531 532 533	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are pr sed upon da ilts of the sin	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Intion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         rovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 530 531 532 533 533 534 535 536	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 00% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are pr sed upon da ults of the sin /orld data se	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         ucl to Use         covided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         tts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 522 522 522 522 522 522 522 522	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are pr sed upon da ults of the sin /orld data se	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         ittion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         ittribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         09% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1000 chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 520 521 523 523 524 525 523 523 523 523 531 532 533 533 533 533 533 533 533	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon dar ilts of the sin /orld data se	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         itrion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         itribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         rovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         tts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia         ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 520 521 522 523 524 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 523 524 523 524 523 524 523 524 523 524 523 523 524 523 523 523 533 533 533 533 533 533 533	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon dar ults of the sin /orld data se	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         ittion Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         ittibution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         Induction studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         its; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia         ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.         use of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide.	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 520 521 523 524 525 523 524 525 523 524 525 523 524 525 523 524 525 523 531 532 533 534 535 536 537 538 539 540 541	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are based These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon dar its of the sin /orld data se	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         stribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1000000000000000000000000000000000000	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 524 522 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 520 523 524 523 523 524 523 523 533 534 533 534 535 535 538 537 538 539 540 541	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (Mean and 10% 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and output H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend Use of nonparametric methods are preferred to com	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon dar its of the sin /orld data se uts H-statisti and low) value ed to avoid the npute UCL9	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         stribution Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         Image: Summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         tts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia         ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.         ues of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide.         the use of H-statistic based 95% UCLs.         5 for skewed data sets which do not follow a gamma distribution	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156 156
512 513 514 515 516 517 518 519 520 521 522 523 522 523 524 525 523 524 525 526 527 528 526 527 528 529 520 521 523 523 524 525 525 524 530 532 532 534 535 535	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are bas These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and outp H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommend Use of nonparametric methods are preferred to com	Lognorma 1.792 6.715 uming Logno 93.64 107.7 140 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 96.23 96.23 96.38 104.3 98.36 106 129.3 Suggested 93.64 6 UCL are prised upon da its of the sin /orld data se uts H-statistic and low) value et to avoid to npute UCL98	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Introp Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         stribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         Intervention         Intervention         size, data distribution, and skewness.         nutation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         its; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia         ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.         ues of UCL95 as shown in examples in the Technical Guide.         the use of H-statistic based 95% UCLs.         5 for skewed data sets which do not follow a gamma distribution	4.082 0.817 99.87 118.6 96.29 101 96.94 115.8 156 156      

	A		В		C	<u> </u>	D		E	F	0	G	Н		1		J		ĸ		L
544	Oasis																				
545																					
546										Genera	al Statis	tics									
548					Total	Num	ber of	Obsei	vations	139					Num	ber c	of Distin	ct Obs	servatio	ns	129
549															Num	ber o	f Missir	ng Obs	servatio	ns	0
550								Μ	inimum	15									Me	an	383.8
551								Ma	aximum	2130									Medi	an	330
552									SD	281.5							Sto	d. Erro	r of Me	an	23.87
553						Co	efficier	nt of V	ariation	0.733								5	3kewne	SS	2.582
554										Normo											
555						Shani	ro Wilk	Tost	Statistic			est		Sha	niro	Wilk		oet			
556						5% ξ	Shapiro	Wilk	P Value	0.010			Data N	lot No	rmal	at 5%	6 Sianif	icance	Level		
557						Li	lliefors	Test	Statistic	0.168				L	illiefo	ors G	OF Tes	st			
558					5	5% Li	lliefors	Critica	al Value	0.0755			Data N	lot No	rmal	at 5%	5 Signif	icance	Level		
560								0	ata No	t Normal a	t 5% Sig	nificanc	e Level				-				
561																					
562									A	ssuming No	ormal Di	stributic	n								
563					95% No	orma	IUCL						95%	% UCL	_s (A	djust	ed for S	Skewn	iess)		
564						9	95% Stu	udent'	s-t UCL	423.3				95%	Adju	isted-	CLT U	CL (Cł	1en-199	95)	428.7
565														95%	6 Mo	dified	-t UCL	(Johns	son-197	78)	424.2
566											0053										
567								T	Otatiatia	Gamma	a GOF 1	est	A		Ded			005	Test		
568								Critic		0.941		Dat		erson-	Dan	ing G		GUF	icanco		
569							K-S	Test	Statistic	0.704		Da			-Smi	rnov	Gamm	a GOF	F Test	Leve	71
570						5	% K-S	Critica	al Value	0.0803	D	etected	data appe	ear Ga	mma	a Dist	ributed	at 5%	Signific	canc	e Level
571						Det	ected d	lata fo	pllow Ar	opr. Gamm	a Distrib	oution at	5% Signi	ificanc	e Le	evel					
573										-											
574										Gamm	a Statis	tics									
575								k ha	t (MLE)	2.28						k sta	ar (bias	correc	cted ML	.E)	2.236
576							The	eta ha	t (MLE)	168.3					The	eta sta	ar (bias	correc	cted ML	.E)	171.7
577								nu ha	t (MLE)	633.9						I	nu star	(bias d	correcte	ed)	621.5
578					Μ	LE M	ean (bi	as co	rected)	383.8						N	ILE Sd	(bias o	correcte	ed)	256.7
579					A diu	otodi		( Cian	ficence	0.0492				Appr	oxim		ni Squ	are Va		)5)	564.7
580					Adjus		_evel of	r Sign		0.0483						Adjt	Isted C	ni Squ		ue	304.1
581									As	sumina Ga	mma D	istributio	on								
582		95% A	pproxi	imate	Gamm	a UC	L (use	when	n>=50)	422.4			95% A	djuste	ed Ga	amma	UCL (	use wł	hen n<{	50)	422.8
584																				,	
585										Lognorm	al GOF	Test									
586					S	Shapir	ro Wilk	Test	Statistic	0.953			Sha	apiro V	Vilk I	Logno	ormal G	OF T	est		
587						5% S	Shapiro	Wilk	Value	5.2246E-4	ł		Data No	t Logn	orma	al at 5	5% Sigr	nificano	ce Leve	el	
588						Li	lliefors	Test	Statistic	0.0865			L	illiefor	's Lo	gnorr	nal GO	F Tes	t		
589					5	5% Li	lliefors	Critica	al Value	0.0755			Data Not	t Logn	orma	al at 5	5% Sigr	nificano	ce Leve	el	
590								Da	ta Not	Lognormal	at 5% S	Significa	nce Level								
591										Lognorn	al Stati	otion									
592						Minir	num of		ed Data	2 708		SUCS					Mear			ata	5 715
593					N	Maxir	num of	Logg	ed Data	7.664							SE	$\frac{101}{00}$ of loc	Jaed Da	ata	0.74
594								33													
595									Ass	uming Log	normal	Distribut	ion								
597								95%	H-UCL	452					90	)% Cł	nebysh	ev (M\	/UE) U	CL	481.8
598					95%	Chet	yshev	(MVU	E) UCL	519.8					97.5	i% Cł	nebysh	ev (M\	/UE) U	CL	572.5
599					99%	Cheb	yshev	(MVU	E) UCL	676.1											
600																					
601								Nor	ıparam	etric Distrit	oution F	ree UCL	Statistics	S							
602						Data	a appe	ar to f	ollow a	Discernible	e Distrib	oution at	5% Signi	ificanc	e Le	vel					
603	l																				

000				
604	Nonpar	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
605	95% CLT UCL	423.1	95% Jackknife UCL	423.3
606	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	423.5	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	433
607	95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	431.4	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	425.1
608	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	428.7		
609	90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	455.4	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	487.9
610	97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	532.9	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	621.4
611				
612		Suggested	UCL to Use	
613	95% Approximate Gamma UCL	422.4		
614				
615	When a data set follows an approxi	imate (e.g.,	normal) distribution passing one of the GOF test	
616	When applicable, it is suggested to use a UCL ba	ased upon a	distribution (e.g., gamma) passing both GOF tests in ProUCL	
617				
618	Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	UCL are pr	ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL	
619	Recommendations are bas	sed upon dat	a size, data distribution, and skewness.	
620	These recommendations are based upon the resu	Its of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	
621	However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	orld data se	ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	an.
622				

623		•		
	Piyonyolo			
624				
625				
626		General	Statistics	
627	Total Number of Observations	545	Number of Distinct Observations	422
628			Number of Missing Observations	0
620	Minimum	2.1	Mean	550.2
620	Maximum	9920	Median	363
030	SD	687.4	Std. Error of Mean	29.44
631	Coefficient of Variation	1 2/10	Skowness	6.23
632		1.249	Skewiess	0.23
633				
634		Normal	GOF Test	
635	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.605	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
636	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
637	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.219	Lilliefors GOF Test	
620	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0383	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
030	Data Not	Normal at	5% Significance Level	
639				
640		ourning Nor	mal Distribution	
641		Summy NO		
642	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLS (Adjusted for Skewness)	
643	95% Student's-t UCL	598.7	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	607
644			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	600
645				
646		Gamma	GOF Test	
647	A-D Test Statistic	5.223	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
047	5% A-D Critical Value	0 778	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	<u>ə</u> l
648	K S Tost Statistic	0.7764	Kolmogorov Smirnov Germa GOE Test	
649		0.0704		
650	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0403	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
651	Data Not Gam	na Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
652				
653		Gamma	Statistics	
654	k hat (MLE)	1.279	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.273
054	Theta hat (MLE)	430.2	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	432.2
655	nu hat (MLE)	1394	nu star (bias corrected)	1388
656		550.0		497.6
657		55U.Z	MLE Sd (blas corrected)	407.0
658			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	1302
659	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0496	Adjusted Chi Square Value	1302
660				
661	Ass	suming Gan	nma Distribution	
662	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	586.3	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	586.4
662				
663		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
664	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0 002	Shaniro Wilk Lognormal GOE Test	
665		0.002		
666		0.99		
000		0.0396	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
667	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0000		
667 668	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0383	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
667 668 669	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro	0.0383 ximate Logi	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
667 668 669 670	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro	0.0383 ximate Logi	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
667 668 669 670	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro	0.0383 ximate Logi	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics	
667 668 669 670 671	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data	5.871
667 668 669 670 671 672 672	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	5.871 0.957
667 668 669 670 671 672 673	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value <b>Data appear Appro</b> Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	5.871 0.957
667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	5.871 0.957
667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Assu	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution	5.871 0.957
667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Assu 95% H-UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6
667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 677	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
667 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 676 677 678	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 670 671 672 673 674 675 675 676 677 678 679	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 674 675 676 677 678 679 680	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  Al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data  ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 674 675 676 677 678 679 680 681	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Juning Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribut Discernible	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Ition Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 677 678 677 678 679 680 681 682	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Distribution at 5% Significance Level	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 670 671 672 673 674 675 676 677 678 677 678 679 680 681 682 682	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  Al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2
677 668 669 670 671 672 673 674 675 674 675 676 677 678 677 678 679 680 681 682 683	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a Nonpar	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  95% Jackknife UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           684	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610 7
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           684           685	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.2	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics  I Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 620.7	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  A Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  95% Jackknife UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Juning Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 ptric Distribut Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         ition Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         tribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sector Assu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Understand         Statistics         Distribution         Statistics         Statististics         St	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           688           688           688           689	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sector Assu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         1         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 otric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Ition Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         tribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data appear to follow a 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics  I Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data Distribution  Ormal Distribution  Ormal Distribution  Office UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  SST Statistics  SST Statistics  SST Statistics  SST Statistics  SST Statistics  SST Statistics  Distribution Statistics  Distribution Free UCLs  SST Statistics  Distribution Statistics  Distribution Free UCLs  SST Statistics  S	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           602	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level al Statistics   Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 10  ttion Free UCL Statistics Distribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
667           668           667           668           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 otric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         sD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Ition Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         tribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693           694	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693           694           695	Lillefors Test Statistic 5% Lillefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 0 UCL are prised upon dat	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level normal at 5% Significance Level  al Statistics  Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution  90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution at 5% Significance Level  tribution Free UCLs  95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           6890           691           692           693           694           695           696	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         Ution Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         tribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         000000000000000000000000000000000000	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           6711           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           6890           6911           692           693           694           695           696           697	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MUUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 0 UCL are prised upon data lts of the sin forld data se	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         1         1         1         95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1         95% Lobyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           697           698           697           698           697           698	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 0.742 0.	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         1         1         1         95% Significance Level         1      <	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           697           698           697           698           697           698           697           698           697           698           697           698           697	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Assu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 095% H-UCL 095% H-UCL 095% H-UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 504.1 Suggested 610.4 505.7 638.5 734.1	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Distribution at 5% Significance Level         tribution Free UCL Statistics         Distribution at 5% Significance Level         4         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         00vided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL.         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia         ic based UCLs for historical reasons only.	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           6890           691           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           699	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Assu 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 00% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 00% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 0.742 0.774 0.742	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1         1         1         1         95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         0         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         0         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         0	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           6890           6901           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           699           700	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and outpu H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 Jming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 610.4 0.742 0.	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         prmal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 678.5 843.2
6000           6667           6668           6670           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           688           689           690           691           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           699           700           701	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and output H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommended	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 508.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 0.742 0.7742 0.74	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         1	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 843.2
603           667           668           669           670           671           672           673           674           675           676           677           678           679           680           681           682           683           684           685           686           687           690           691           692           693           694           695           696           697           698           699           700           701           702	Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data appear Appro Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL 95% H-UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W ProUCL computes and output H-statistic often results in unstable (both high a It is therefore recommended Use of nonparametric methods are preferred to corr	0.0383 ximate Logi Lognorma 0.742 9.202 uming Logno 610.4 680.1 834.5 etric Distribu Discernible rametric Dis 598.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 508.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 508.6 598.3 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 610.4 500.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 610.4 610.4 610.4 610.4 610.4 617.3 606.7 638.5 734.1 Suggested 610.4 6	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         normal at 5% Significance Level         al Statistics         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         pormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         Image: Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL         1000000000000000000000000000000000000	5.871 0.957 642.6 732.2 598.7 610.7 601.6 678.5 843.2 678.5 843.2

704	A B C D E	F	G H I J K	L
704	Shavers Bench			
705				
706		General	Statistics	
707	Total Number of Observations	1790	Number of Distinct Observations	1003
708		1730	Number of Distinct Observations	1095
709	Minimum	0.41		747
710		0.41	Mean	/4/
711	Maximum	4200	Median	634
712	SD	543.7	Std. Error of Mean	12.85
713	Coefficient of Variation	0.728	Skewness	1.458
714				
715		Normal (	GOF Test	
716	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.895	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
717	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
710	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0935	Lilliefors GOF Test	
710	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0211	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
719	Data Not	t Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
720				
/21	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
722	95% Normal LICI		95% LICLs (Adjusted for Skowness)	
723		760 0	05% Adjusted CLT LICL (Chap 1005)	769 7
724	95% Student S-r OCL	700.2	95% Adjusted-CLT OCL (Chen-1995)	700.7
725			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	/08.3
726		_		
727		Gamma		
728	A-D Test Statistic	4.941	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
729	5% A-D Critical Value	0.771	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
730	K-S Test Statistic	0.0345	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
731	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0235	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
732	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
733				
734		Gamma	Statistics	
735	k hat (MLE)	1.611	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.609
736	Theta hat (MLE)	463.7	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	464.4
737	nu hat (MLE)	5767	nu star (bias corrected)	5759
738	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	747	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	589
739			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	5583
739	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0499	Adjusted Chi Square Value	5583
740				
742	As	suming Gam	nma Distribution	
743	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	770.5	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	770.5
744				
745		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
746	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.824	Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
747	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
748	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0987	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
749	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0211	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
743	Data Not L	_ognormal a	t 5% Significance Level	
750		_	-	
751		Lognorma	al Statistics	
752	Minimum of Logged Data	-0.892	Mean of logged Data	6.275
753	Maximum of Logged Data	8.343	SD of logged Data	1.051
/54		0.0.10		
/55	Δοοι	umina Loana	ormal Distribution	
756	95% H-UC			1008
757		$N/\Delta$		
758		N/A	07 50/ Chabyahay (M)/UE)/202	1100
750	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	N/A 1046	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1100
759	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	N/A 1046 1206	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1100
759	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	N/A 1046 1206	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1100
759 760 761	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1100
759 760 761 762	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1100
759 760 761 762 763	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1100
759 760 761 762 763 764	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1100
759 760 761 762 763 764 765	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL	768.2
759 760 761 762 763 763 764 765 766	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL	1100 768.2 768.4
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5 768.2	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 767 768	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.2 768.2	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL etion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 767 768 769	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL attion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 767 768 769 770	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not 1 000000000000000000000000000000000000	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 827.3	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 768 769 770 771	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 827.3	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 767.5 785.6 827.3	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.3 827.3	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 766 768 769 770 771 772 773	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 767.5 785.6 827.3 Suggested 803.1	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribut follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 827.3 Suggested 803.1 6 UCL are pr	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1046           1206           etric Distribution           follow a Disconstruction           rametric Dis           768.2           768.2           768.2           768.3           768.4           827.3           Suggested           803.1           6           UCL are prised upon data	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL attion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 100 UCL to Use	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775 776	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1046           1206           etric Distribution           follow a Disc           rametric Dis           768.2           768.5           768.2           768.5           768.6           827.3           Suggested           803.1           6           UCL are prised upon data           its of the sin	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL attion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh. Maichle. and Lee (2006)	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775 776 777	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.2 768.3 802.1 Suggested 803.1 6 UCL are pr sed upon data lits of the sin /orld data se	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticie	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9
759 760 761 762 763 764 765 766 766 766 767 768 769 770 771 772 773 774 775 776 777 778	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not f Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A 1046 1206 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 768.2 768.2 768.5 768.2 768.5 768.2 767.5 785.6 827.3 Suggested 803.1 6 UCL are pr sed upon dat its of the sin /orld data se	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 1000 USE 1000 UCL to Use 1000 U	1100 768.2 768.4 768 803.1 874.9

790	A B C D E	F	G H I J K	L
780	Sunningdale			
781				
782		General	Statistics	
783	Total Number of Observations	1988	Number of Distinct Observations	770
784		1300	Number of Distinct Observations	
785	Minimum	0.07		421 7
786		0.27	Mean	431.7
787	Maximum	3400	Median	395
788	SD	275.5	Std. Error of Mean	6.179
789	Coefficient of Variation	0.638	Skewness	2.366
790				
791		Normal (	GOF Test	
792	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.867	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
793	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
794	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.11	Lilliefors GOF Test	
795	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0201	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
796	Data Not	t Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
797				
708	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
700	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
×00	95% Student's-t UCL	441.9	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	442.2
800			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	442
801				
802		Gamma	GOF Test	
803	A.D Test Statistic	7.86	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
804		0.764	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Low	el
805		0.704	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma COE Tost	51
806		0.0400	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Law	
807			ad at 5% Significance Level	61
808		ma Distributi	ed at 5% Significance Level	
809		0	Ototiotics	
810		Gamma		
811	k hat (MLE)	2.485	k star (bias corrected MLE)	2.481
812	I heta hat (MLE)	1/3.8	I heta star (bias corrected MLE)	1/4
813	nu hat (MLE)	9878	nu star (bias corrected)	9865
814	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	431.7	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	274.1
815			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	9635
816	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0499	Adjusted Chi Square Value	9635
817				
818	As	suming Gar	Ima Distribution	
819	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	442	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	442
820				
821		Lognorma		
822	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.885	Snapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
823	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Lilliefere Legnermel OOF Test	
824		0.0931		
825	5% Lillefors Critical Value	0.0201	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
826		_ognormal a		
827				
828		Lognorma		- 050
829	Minimum of Logged Data	-1.309	Mean of logged Data	5.853
830	Maximum of Logged Data	8.132	SD of logged Data	0.76
831				
832	Ass	uming Logno	ormal Distribution	
833	95% H-UCL	N/A	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	491.9
834	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	504.1	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	521
835	99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	554.3		
836				
837	Nonparame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
838	Data do not f	follow a Disc	ernible Distribution (0.05)	
839				
840	Nonpa	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
841	95% CLT UCL	441.9	95% Jackknife UCL	441.9
842	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	441.8	95% Bootstrap-t UCL	442.4
843	95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	442.6	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	442.1
844	95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	442.8		
845	90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	450.3	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	458.7
846	97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	470.3	99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	493.2
847				
848		Suggested	UCL to Use	
840	95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	458.7		
850		I	<u> </u>	
000	Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	6 UCL are pr	ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL	
001	Recommendations are bas	sed upon dat	a size, data distribution, and skewness.	
002	These recommendations are based upon the resu	Its of the sin	nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	
003	However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	/orld data set	ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	an.
× • · ·				
854 855				

050		I	G II I J K	L
856	Tadanac			
857				
858		General	Statistics	
859	Total Number of Observations	1097	Number of Distinct Observations	856
860		1007	Number of Distinct Observations	000
861	Minimum	0.04	Number of Missing Observations	1505
862	Minimum	0.34	Mean	1535
863	Maximum	19500	Median	1164
864	SD	1660	Std. Error of Mean	50.36
865	Coefficient of Variation	1.082	Skewness	4.255
866		•		
867		Normal (	GOF Test	
868	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.716	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
869	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
870	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.178	Lilliefors GOF Test	
070	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0271	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
071	Data Not	Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
872			<b>.</b>	
8/3	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
874	95% Normal LICI	ourning i ton	95% LICLs (Adjusted for Skowness)	
875	95% Student's t LCL	1618	95% Adjusted CLT LICL (Chen 1995)	1624
876	95% Student S-r OCL	1010	95% Adjusted-CLT OCL (Chen-1995)	1610
877			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	1619
878				
879		Gamma	GOF Test	
880	A-D Test Statistic	8.751	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
881	5% A-D Critical Value	0.79	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
882	K-S Test Statistic	0.0663	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
883	5% K-S Critical Value	0.029	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
884	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
885				
886		Gamma	Statistics	
887	k hat (MLE)	0.89	k star (bias corrected MLE)	0.888
007	Theta hat (MLE)	1724	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	1728
000	nu hat (MLE)	1935	nu star (bias corrected)	1931
009	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	1535	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	1628
890			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	1830
891	Adjusted Level of Significance	0 0498	Adjusted Chi Square Value	1830
892		0.0400		1000
893	A	suming Com	ma Distribution	
894				1000
895	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	1619	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when h<50)	1620
896				
000		Lognorma		
897			Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
897 898	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.849		
897 898 899	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0.849	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
897 898 899 900	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.849 0 0.145	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
897 898 899 900 901	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
897 898 899 900 901 902	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level	
897 898 899 900 901 902 903	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level	
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level	
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognorma	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level	6.678
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 cognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level Il Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	6.678
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	6.678 1.529
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data Dormal Distribution	6.678 1.529
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 909	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data State 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 909 910 911	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 cognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level Il Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 909 910 911	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data State 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 909 910 911 912	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data State 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level Il Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data Ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 914	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sasa 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL statistics tion Free UCL Statistics	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 914 915	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data State 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Data do not f	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level Il Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 911 912 913 914 915 916	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Skill 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL stion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	6.678 1.529 3071 3633
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 916 917	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Use Monparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 100 Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 1618
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 907 908 909 910 911 912 911 912 913 914 915 916 917 918	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Statistic Statistic Nonparame Data do not f Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1621	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 914 915 917 918 919	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Sess 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 atric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL common Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 916 917 918 919 919	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data State 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1622	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level INStatistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 303 1618 1626 1621
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 916 917 917 918 919 919	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Second Data Second Data Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 atric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 4275	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1754
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 917 918 919 920 921 922	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1621
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 902 903 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 914 915 916 917 918 919 920 921 922 922	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Second Data Second Data Nonparame Data do not 1 Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 .ognormal at Lognormal at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 303 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 906 907 906 907 908 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 911 915 917 915 916 917 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 924	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 atric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 100 Free UCL Statistics remible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 917 917 918 917 918 919 920 921 922 922 922	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested 1754	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level al Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL Statistics sernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
893           897           898           899           900           901           902           903           904           905           906           907           908           909           910           911           912           913           914           915           916           917           918           919           920           921           922           923           924           925           926	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not I Data Not I Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal at 1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested 1754	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 303 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 917 917 918 919 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 922 923	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000 Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognorma at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 atric Distribu follow a Disc follow a Disc f	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 100 Free UCL Statistics remible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 911 912 913 914 915 917 918 917 918 917 918 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 924 925 926 927 928	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal at -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested 1754 5 UCL are prised upon dat	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level t 5% Significance Level I Statistics Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 303 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036
897           897           898           899           900           901           902           903           904           905           906           907           908           909           910           911           912           913           914           915           916           917           918           919           920           921           922           923           924           925           926           927           928           929	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not L Data Not L Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal at 1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested 1754 5 UCL are presed upon dat its of the sim	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         Il Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         Ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         1000000000000000000000000000000000000	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1621 1754 2036 1021 1754 2036
897 897 898 899 900 901 902 903 904 905 904 905 906 907 908 909 910 911 912 913 914 915 917 918 917 918 917 918 917 918 919 920 921 922 923 924 925 926 927 928 929 930	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic 5% Shapiro Wilk P Value Lilliefors Test Statistic 5% Lilliefors Critical Value Data Not I Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.849 0 0.145 0.0271 ognormal at Lognormal at Lognormal -1.079 9.878 uming Logno N/A 3306 4275 etric Distribut follow a Disc rametric Dis 1618 1616 1631 1622 1686 1849 Suggested 1754 5 UCL are pro- sed upon dat lts of the sim /orld data set	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test         Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level         t 5% Significance Level         Il Statistics         Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         ormal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         UCL to Use         ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL         asize, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statistical	6.678 1.529 3071 3633 3633 1618 1626 1621 1754 2036 1621 

022		F	G H I J K	L
932	Waneta			
933				
035		General	Statistics	
933	Total Number of Observations	353	Number of Distinct Observations	261
930			Number of Missing Observations	0
937	Minimum	0.26	Mean	260.2
938	Maximum	2050	Median	194
939	SD	250.5	Std. Error of Mean	13.34
940	Coefficient of Variation	0.963	Skewness	2.716
941				
942		Normal (	GOF Test	
943	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.778	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
944	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
945		0 153		
946	5% Lilliofore Critical Value	0.135	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Lovel	
947		Normal at F		
948				
949			mal Distribution	
950	05% Normal LICI		05% LICLs (Adjusted for Skowness)	
951	95% Normal OCL	202.2	95% OCLS (Adjusted for Skewness)	204.2
952	95% Student S-t UCL	282.2	95% Adjusted-CLT OCL (Chen-1995)	284.2
953			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	282.5
954				
955		Gamma	GOF Test	
956	A-D Test Statistic	0.61	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
957	5% A-D Critical Value	0.777	Detected data appear Gamma Distributed at 5% Significand	ce Level
958	K-S Test Statistic	0.0293	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
959	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0495	Detected data appear Gamma Distributed at 5% Significand	ce Level
960	Detected data appea	r Gamma Di	stributed at 5% Significance Level	
961				
962		Gamma	Statistics	
963	k hat (MLE)	1.304	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.295
964	Theta hat (MLE)	199.6	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	201
965	nu hat (MLE)	920.6	nu star (bias corrected)	914.1
966	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	260.2	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	228.7
967		1	Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	845
968	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0493	Adjusted Chi Square Value	844.7
969				
970	As	suming Garr	nma Distribution	
971	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50)	281.5	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	281.6
972				
973		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
974	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.935	Shapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
975	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
976	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.0639	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
977	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0475	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
978	Data Not L	ognormal at	t 5% Significance Level	
979				
980		Lognorma	I Statistics	
981	Minimum of Logged Data	-1.347	Mean of logged Data	5.131
082	Maximum of Logged Data	7.626	SD of logged Data	1.064
902				
084	Ass	uming Logno	ormal Distribution	
00F	95% H-UCL	337.2	90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	360
300	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	388.4	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	427.9
300	99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	505.4		
30/	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			
900	Nonparame	etric Distribu	tion Free UCL Statistics	
989	Data appear to follow a	Discernible	Distribution at 5% Significance Level	
990			•	
991	Nonna	rametric Dis	tribution Free UCLs	
992	95% CI T LICI	282.2	95% Jackknife LICI	282.2
993		282.4	95% Bootetran-t LICL	284.3
994	45% Standard Rootstran 101	202.7	95 / Botostiap-t OCL	282.0
	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	28/1 0		202.3
995	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	284.9	95% Percentile Bootstrap OCL	
995 996	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	284.9 284.4	95% Chabyahay/Maan Sd/ LOL	318 /
995 996 997	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	318.4
995 996 997 998	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5	95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 Suggested	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 <b>Suggested</b> 281.5	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001 1002	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 Suggested 281.5	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001 1002 1003	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95%	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 <b>Suggested</b> 281.5	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001 1002 1003 1004	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Approximate Gamma UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are bas	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 <b>Suggested</b> 281.5 6 UCL are prised upon dat	95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness.	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001 1002 1003 1004 1005	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Approximate Gamma UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL Note: Suggestions regarding the selection of a 95% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 <b>Suggested</b> 281.5 6 UCL are prised upon dat its of the sim	95% Percentile Bootstrap OCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	318.4 392.9
995 996 997 998 999 1000 1001 1002 1003 1004 1005 1006	95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Approximate Gamma UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL 95% Approximate Gamma UCL 85% Recommendations are base These recommendations are based upon the resu However, simulations results will not cover all Real W	284.9 284.4 300.2 343.5 Suggested 281.5 6 UCL are prised upon dat ilts of the sim /orld data set	95% Percentile Bootstrap OCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	318.4 392.9

1008	A B C D E	F	G H I J K	L
1008	Warfield			
1009				
1011		General	Statistics	
1012	Total Number of Observations	1825	Number of Distinct Observations	554
1013			Number of Missing Observations	0
1014	Minimum	0.051	Mean	205.5
1015	Maximum	2020	Median	164
1016	SD	170.4	Std. Error of Mean	3.988
1017	Coefficient of Variation	0.829	Skewness	3.255
1018				
1019		Normal (	GOF Test	
1020	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.75	Shapiro Wilk GOF Test	
1021	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
1022	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.151	Lilliefors GOF Test	
1023	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0209	Data Not Normal at 5% Significance Level	
1024	Data No	t Normal at 5	5% Significance Level	
1025				
1026	As	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
1027	95% Normal UCL		95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
1028	95% Student's-t UCL	212	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	212.3
1029			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	212.1
1030			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1031		Gamma	GOF Test	
1032	A-D Test Statistic	9.204	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
1033	5% A-D Critical Value	0.767	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
1034	K-S Test Statistic	0.0561	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
1035	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0232	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Lev	el
1036	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
1037				
1038		Gamma	Statistics	
1039	k hat (MLE)	2.026	k star (bias corrected MLE)	2.023
1040	Theta hat (MLE)	101.4	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	101.5
1041	nu hat (MLE)	7396	nu star (bias corrected)	7386
1042	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	205.5	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	144.4
1043			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	7187
1044	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.0499	Adjusted Chi Square Value	7187
1045				
1046	As	suming Gam	nma Distribution	
1047	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	211.1	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	211.1
1048		<u>.</u>		
1049		Lognorma		
1050	Shapiro Wilk Test Statistic	0.958	Snapiro Wilk Lognormal GOF Test	
1051	5% Shapiro Wilk P Value	0	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
1052	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0472	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Lovel	
1053	5 % Einiefors Critical Value	ognormal at	t 5% Significance Level	
1054				
1055		Lognorma	al Statistics	
1056	Minimum of Logged Data	Lognonna		5 059
1057		-2 976	Mean of logged Data	0.000
1058	Maximum of Logged Data	-2.976 7.611	Mean of logged Data	0 778
1000	Maximum of Logged Data	-2.976 7.611	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	0.778
1059	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data	-2.976 7.611 umina Loana	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data	0.778
1059 1060	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.778
1059 1060 1061	Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062	Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063	Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064	Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	0.778 226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not Nonpa	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL	226.2 240.5
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL ition Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 212 212.2
1050 1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data Ass 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212 212.1 211.9	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 212 212.2 212.4
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1 212.1 211.9 217.4	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 07.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Percentile Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8
1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% CLT UCL 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc 212 212 212 212.1 211.9 217.4 230.4	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1055 1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074 1075	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1 212.1 211.9 217.4 230.4	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% Percentile Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1000 1060 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074 1075 1076	Minimum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc 212 212 212 212.1 211.9 217.4 230.4	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL errnible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1055 1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074 1075 1076 1077	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 095% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 05% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212 212.1 212.1 211.9 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL constrained of the second of the s	0.778 226.2 240.5 212 212.2 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1000 1060 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074 1075 1076 1077 1078	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1 212.1 212.1 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL with the statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1055 1059 1060 1061 1062 1063 1064 1065 1066 1067 1068 1069 1070 1071 1072 1073 1074 1075 1076 1077 1078 1079	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 01 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212 212 212.1 212.1 211.9 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data ormal Distribution 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Bootstrap UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1050           1059           1060           1061           1062           1063           1064           1065           1066           1067           1068           1069           1070           1071           1072           1073           1074           1075           1076           1077           1078           1079           1080	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1 212.1 212.1 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8 6 UCL are prised upon dat	Mean of logged Data SD of logged Data SD of logged Data 90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL UCL Statistics sernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1059           1059           1060           1061           1062           1063           1064           1065           1066           1067           1068           1069           1070           1071           1072           1073           1074           1075           1076           1077           1078           1079           1080           1081	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212 212.1 212.1 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8 6 UCL are prised upon dat ults of the sim	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         prmal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         trion Free UCL Statistics         szernible Distribution (0.05)         tribution Free UCLs         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         uCL to Use         ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1
1050           1059           1060           1061           1062           1063           1064           1065           1066           1067           1068           1069           1070           1071           1072           1073           1074           1075           1076           1077           1078           1079           1081           1082	Maximum of Logged Data Maximum of Logged Data 95% H-UCL 95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 09% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 00% CLE UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	-2.976 7.611 uming Logno N/A 232.2 256.9 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 212 212 212.1 212.1 212.1 217.4 230.4 Suggested 222.8 6 UCL are prised upon dat ults of the sim /orld data set	Mean of logged Data         SD of logged Data         SD of logged Data         prmal Distribution         90% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL         stion Free UCL Statistics         tribution Free UCLs         95% Jackknife UCL         95% Bootstrap-t UCL         95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL         95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL         uCL to Use         ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL         ta size, data distribution, and skewness.         nulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006).         ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	0.778 226.2 240.5 240.5 212 212.2 212.4 222.8 245.1 

1001		I	G II I J K	L
1084	West Trail			
1085				
1086		Ganaral	Statistica	
1087	Total Number of Observations	5105	Number of Distinct Observations	1022
1088		5165	Number of Distinct Observations	0
1089	Minimum	0.17	Number of Missing Observations	807
1090	Movimum	0.17	Median	797
1091	Maximum	622.2	Median Std. Error of Moon	704 9.642
1092	SD Coofficient of Vioriation	022.3	Sta. Error of Mean	0.043
1093		0.694	Skewness	1.827
1094		Normal		
1095	Lilliofore Test Statistic			
1096	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0679	Data Nat Narmal at 5% Significance Level	
1097	5% Linefors Critical Value			
1098				
1099	Δς	suming Nor	mal Distribution	
1100	95% Normal UCL	, canning rich	95% UCLs (Adjusted for Skewness)	
1101	95% Student's-t UCL	911.2	95% Adjusted-CLT UCL (Chen-1995)	911.4
1102			95% Modified-t UCL (Johnson-1978)	911.2
1103				
1104		Gamma	GOF Test	
1105	A-D Test Statistic	33.84	Anderson-Darling Gamma GOF Test	
1100	5% A-D Critical Value	0.769	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
1107	K-S Test Statistic	0.0594	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Gamma GOF Test	
1100	5% K-S Critical Value	0.0185	Data Not Gamma Distributed at 5% Significance Leve	el
1110	Data Not Gam	ma Distribut	ed at 5% Significance Level	
1111			-	
1112		Gamma	Statistics	
1113	k hat (MLE)	1.789	k star (bias corrected MLE)	1.788
1114	Theta hat (MLE)	501.4	Theta star (bias corrected MLE)	501.7
1115	nu hat (MLE)	18549	nu star (bias corrected)	18540
1116	MLE Mean (bias corrected)	897	MLE Sd (bias corrected)	670.8
1117			Approximate Chi Square Value (0.05)	18224
1118	Adjusted Level of Significance	0.05	Adjusted Chi Square Value	18224
1119				
1120	As	suming Garr	nma Distribution	
1121	95% Approximate Gamma UCL (use when n>=50))	912.5	95% Adjusted Gamma UCL (use when n<50)	912.5
1122				
1123		Lognorma	I GOF Test	
1124	Lilliefors Test Statistic	0.125	Lilliefors Lognormal GOF Test	
1125	5% Lilliefors Critical Value	0.0124	Data Not Lognormal at 5% Significance Level	
1126	Data Not I	ognormal a	t 5% Significance Level	
1127				
1128		Lognorma	I Statistics	0.404
1129	Minimum of Logged Data	-1.772	Mean of logged Data	6.494
1130	Maximum of Logged Data	8.753	SD of logged Data	1.01
1131	A		rmal Distribution	
1132				1150
1133	95% H-UCL			1100
	95% Chehychey (MV/LIE) LICI	1184	97 5% Chahychay (M\/LE) LICI	1220
1134	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1184 1290	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1220
1134	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1184 1290	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1220
1134 1135 1136	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame	1184 1290	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL	1220
1134 1135 1136 1137	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not	1184 1290 etric Distribu	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1220
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not	1184 1290 etric Distribu follow a Disc	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1220
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f	1184 1290 etric Distribu follow a Disc	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics cernible Distribution (0.05)	1220
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL	tric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL	911.2
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL	tric Distribu otric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 911.2 911.4	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL	1220 911.2 911
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1142	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	tric Distribution follow a Disconstruction follow a Disconstruction fol	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 911.2
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL	1184 1290 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 911.2 911.4 911.3 911.9	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 911.2
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1184 1290 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 911.2 911.4 911.3 911.9 922.9	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 911.2 934.6
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1184 1290 etric Distribu follow a Disc rametric Dis 911.2 911.4 911.3 911.9 922.9 950.9	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 934.6 983
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146 1147	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1184           1290           etric Distribution           follow a Disconstruction           rametric Dis           911.2           911.4           911.3           911.9           922.9           950.9	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146 1147 1148	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f Nonpa 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1184           1290           etric Distribu           follow a Disc           rametric Dis           911.2           911.3           911.9           922.9           950.9           Suggested	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 934.6 983
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146 1147 1148 1149	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1184           1290           etric Distribution           follow a Disconstruction           rametric Dis           911.2           911.4           911.3           911.9           922.9           950.9           Suggested           934.6	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146 1147 1148 1149 1150	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A           1184           1290           etric Distribution           follow a Disc           rametric Dis           911.2           911.4           911.3           911.9           922.9           950.9           Suggested           934.6	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics ernible Distribution (0.05) tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911.2 934.6 983
1134         1135         1136         1137         1138         1139         1140         1141         1142         1143         1144         1145         1146         1147         1148         1149         1150         1151	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A         1184         1290         etric Distribution         follow a Disconstruction         rametric Dis         911.2         911.4         911.3         911.9         922.9         950.9         Suggested         934.6         6         0	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983
1134         1135         1136         1137         1138         1139         1140         1141         1142         1143         1144         1145         1146         1147         1148         1149         1150         1151	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A         1184         1290         etric Distribution         follow a Disconstruction         rametric Dis         911.2         911.4         911.3         911.9         922.9         950.9         Suggested         934.6         6 UCL are presed upon date	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 000000000000000000000000000000000000	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983
1134 1135 1136 1137 1138 1139 1140 1141 1142 1143 1144 1145 1146 1147 1148 1149 1150 1151 1152 1153	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A         1184         1290         etric Distribution         follow a Disconstruction         rametric Dis         911.2         911.4         911.3         911.9         922.9         950.9         Suggested         934.6         6         UCL are prised upon data         ults of the sim	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use uCL to Use	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983
1134         1135         1136         1137         1138         1139         1140         1141         1142         1143         1144         1145         1146         1147         1148         1149         1150         1151         1152         1153         1154	95% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL 99% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL Nonparame Data do not f 95% CLT UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Standard Bootstrap UCL 95% Hall's Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 95% BCA Bootstrap UCL 90% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 97.5% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL 95% Chebyshev (Mean, Sd) UCL	N/A         1184         1290         etric Distribution         follow a Disc         rametric Dis         911.2         911.4         911.3         911.9         922.9         950.9         Suggested         934.6         6 UCL are prised upon data         its of the sim         /orld data se	97.5% Chebyshev (MVUE) UCL tion Free UCL Statistics tribution Free UCLs 95% Jackknife UCL 95% Bootstrap-t UCL 95% Percentile Bootstrap UCL 95% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL 99% Chebyshev(Mean, Sd) UCL UCL to Use UCL to Use ovided to help the user to select the most appropriate 95% UCL. ta size, data distribution, and skewness. hulation studies summarized in Singh, Maichle, and Lee (2006). ts; for additional insight the user may want to consult a statisticia	1220 911.2 911 911.2 934.6 983

# **APPENDIX C**

## Worked Calculations

# Appendix C. Human Health Risk Assessment

## C.1 Example Risk Calculations and Results

This appendix provides information to support the Human Health Risk Assessment (HHRA) results presented in this document.

## C.2 Worked Examples of Risk Calculations

The following worked examples provide the risk estimation for exposure to lead (Pb) through direct contact with soil and dust via ingestion and inhalation pathways. The examples show calculations for non-carcinogenic exposures associated risks for toddlers exposed to Pb. The central tendency exposure point concentration for Glenmerry (461.2  $\mu$ g/g), along with the central tendency receptor characteristics (see report text) have been used.

The following were used as exposure point concentrations:

- Mean soil Pb concentration measured in Glenmerry = 461.2 µg/g.
- Indoor dust Pb concentration for Glenmerry (estimated as soil EPC \* 0.3 (soil to indoor dust partition coefficient from Tu et al., 2020) = 138.4 µg/g
- Maximum annual mean total suspended particulate (TSP) outdoor ambient air concentration of Pb in the Study Area = 0.057 µg/m<sup>3</sup>

As detailed in Section 7.0 of the report, the Health Canada (2021a) recommended provisional oral toxicological reference value (TRV) for Pb of 0.5  $\mu$ g/kg body weight[bw]/day was used for a toddler in this HHRA.

The following presents worked calculations for each of the operable exposure pathways evaluated in this HHRA.

# C.3 Estimation of Risks from Incidental Ingestion of Soil

Incidental soil ingestion exposures to Pb were estimated according to the following Health Canada (2021a) equation:

$$EIG = \frac{C_S \times IG_S \times RAF_{ORAL} \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EIG	=	exposure from the ingestion pathway (μg/kg bw/day)
Cs	=	soil Pb concentration (461.2 µg/g)

- IGs = soil ingestion rate (0.03 g/day; toddler)



1

RAF<sub>ORAL</sub> = relative absorption factor from gastrointestinal tract (0.79; unitless, chemicalspecific; RRU, 2017 and BCELTAC, 2022)

 $D_2$  = days per week exposed 7/7 days (1; unitless)

D<sub>3</sub> = weeks per year exposed 52/52 weeks (1; unitless)

BW = body weight of person (16.5 kg; toddler)

Non-Carcinogenic Exposures (Toddler)

$$EIG_{toddler} = \underline{461.2 \ \mu g/g \times 0.03 \ g/day \times 0.79 \times 7 \ days/7 \ days \times 52 \ weeks/52 \ weeks}$$

16.5 kg

 $= 0.66 \,\mu g/kg \, BW/day$ 

Exposure to Pb through the soil ingestion pathway for a toddler resident receptor in the Glenmerry neighbourhood was estimated to be  $0.66 \mu g/kg bw/day$ . Soil ingestion risk was then estimated as a HQ according to the following equation:

 $EIG_{toddler}$  (0.66  $\mu g/kg$  bw/day)

HQ =\_\_\_\_\_

TRV (0.5  $\mu g/kg$  bw/day)

A HQ of 1.3 was estimated for a toddler resident receptor in the Glenmerry neighbourhood exposed to Pb via incidental soil ingestion.

### C.4 Estimation of Risks from Incidental Ingestion of Indoor Dust

Incidental indoor dust ingestion exposures to Pb were estimated according to the following Health Canada (2021a) equation:

$$EIG = \frac{C_D \times IG_D \times RAF_{ORAL} \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EIG	=	exposure from th	ne ingestion	pathway	(µg/kg bw/day)
-----	---	------------------	--------------	---------	----------------

 $C_D$  = indoor dust Pb concentration (138.4 µg/g)

IG<sub>D</sub> = indoor dust ingestion rate (0.041 g/day; toddler)

 $RAF_{ORAL}$  = relative absorption factor from gastrointestinal tract (0.79; unitless, chemicalspecific; RRU, 2017 and BCELTAC, 2022)

 $D_2$  = days per week exposed 7/7 days (1; unitless)

D<sub>3</sub> = weeks per year exposed 52/52 weeks (1; unitless)

BW = body weight of person (16.5 kg; toddler)



2
Non-Carcinogenic Exposures (Toddler)

 $EIG_{toddler} = 138.4 \ \mu g/g \times 0.041 \ g/day \times 0.79 \times 7 \ days/7 \ days \times 52 \ weeks/52 \ weeks$ 

16.5 kg

 $= 0.27 \,\mu g/kg \, bw/day$ 

Exposure to Pb through the indoor dust ingestion pathway for a toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood was estimated to be 0.27 µg/kg bw/day. Indoor dust ingestion risk was then estimated as a HQ according to the following equation:

 $EIG_{toddler}$  (0.27  $\mu g/kg$  bw/day)

HQ =\_\_\_\_\_

TRV (0.5  $\mu g/kg$  bw/day)

A HQ of 0.54 was estimated for a toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood exposed to Pb via incidental ingestion of indoor dust.

#### C.5 Estimation of Risks from Inhalation of Soil Particulate Matter

Human receptors at grade may inhale soil particulate matter originating from surface soils and dust. The inhalation of soil particulate and dust was evaluated through the calculation of a dose ( $\mu$ g/kg bw/d) due to the absence of an inhalation-specific TRV for lead (Pb). As per Health Canada guidance (2021a), an inhalable soil particulate matter concentration of 0.76  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> was assumed for all exposure scenarios.

Pb exposure via inhalation of soil particulate matter concentration was estimated as per the following equation (Health Canada, 2021a):

$$EID = \frac{C_s \times P_{air} \times IR \times RAF_{INH} \times D_1 \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EID	=	exposure from the inhalation pathway for soil (μg/kg bw/day)
Cs	=	soil chemical concentration (461.2 µg/g)
PAir	=	particulate matter concentration in air (7.6x10 <sup>-7</sup> g/m <sup>3</sup> )
IR	=	inhalation rate (8.3 m³/day; toddler)
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (1; unitless, chemical-specific)
D1	=	hours per day exposed 8/24 hours (0.33; unitless)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed 7/7 days (1; unitless)
D <sub>3</sub>	=	weeks per year exposed 52/52 weeks (1; unitless)
BW	=	body weight (16.5 kg; toddler)



3

Non-Carcinogenic Exposures (Toddler)

$$EID_{toddler} = \frac{461.2 \ \mu g/g \times 7.6 \ x \ 10^{-7} \ g/m^3 \times 8.3 \ m^3/day \times 1.0 \times 8 \ hr/24 \ hr \times 7 \ days/7 \ days \times 52 \ weeks/52 \ week$$

16.5 kg

 $= 5.9 x 10^{-5} \mu g/kg bw/day$ 

Exposure to Pb via the inhalation of soil particulate pathway was estimated as a dose for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbhourhood at  $5.9 \times 10^{-5} \mu g/kg bw/day$ . Soil particulate matter inhalation risk was then estimated as a HQ according to the following equation:

 $EID_{toddler}$  (5.9 × 10<sup>-5</sup> µg/kg bw/day)

HQ = \_\_\_\_\_

TRV (0.5  $\mu g/kg$  bw/day)

A HQ of 1.2 x 10<sup>-4</sup> was estimated for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood exposed to the Pb in soil via inhalation of soil particulate matter.

# C.6 Estimation of Risks from Inhalation of Indoor Dust

Residential toddler receptors may also inhale indoor dust. The inhalation of dust was evaluated through the calculation of a dose ( $\mu$ g/kg bw/d) due to the absence of an inhalation-specific TRV for Pb.

Dust inhalation exposure was estimated as per the following equation, which was modified from Health Canada (2021a):

$$EID = \frac{C_D \times IR_D \times RAF_{INH} \times D_1 \times D_2 \times D_3}{BW}$$

Where:

EID	=	exposure from the dust inhalation pathway (μg/kg bw/day)			
CD	=	dust chemical concentration (138.4 µg/g)			
IRd	=	dust inhalation rate (0.002 g/day; toddler)			
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (1; unitless, chemical-specific)			
D1	=	hours per day exposed 24/24 hours (1; unitless)			
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed 7/7 days (1; unitless)			
D <sub>3</sub>	=	weeks per year exposed 52/52 weeks (1; unitless)			
BW	=	body weight (16.5 kg; toddler)			
Non-Carcinogenic Exposures (Toddler)					

 $EID_{toddler} = \frac{138.4 \ \mu g/g \times 2.0 \ x \ 10^{-3} \ g/day \times 1.0 \times 24 \ hr/24 \ hr \times 7 \ days/7 \ days \times 52 \ weeks/52 \ weeks/52$ 

16.5 kg

 $= 1.7 x \, 10^{-2} \, \mu g/kg \, bw/day$ 



4

Exposure to Pb via the inhalation of dust pathway was estimated as a dose for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood at  $1.7 \times 10^{-2} \mu g/kg$  bw/day. Dust inhalation risk was then estimated as a HQ according to the following equation:

 $EID_{toddler} (1.7 \times 10^{-2} \ \mu g/kg \ bw/day)$ 

HO = \_\_\_\_\_

*Reference Dose*  $(0.5 \,\mu g/kg \, bw/day)$ 

A HQ of 0.034 was estimated for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbhourhood exposed to the Pb via inhalation of indoor dust.

### C.7 Estimation of Risks from Inhalation of Outdoor Ambient Air

Human receptors at grade may also be exposed to Pb via inhalation of outdoor ambient air. Exposure to concentrations of Pb in outdoor air was estimated using the following Health Canada (2021a) equation:

$$EIV_{air} = \frac{C_{air} \times IR_A \times RAF_{INH} \times D_1 \times D_2 \times D_3 \times D_4}{BW}$$

Where:

EIVAIR	=	exposure from the inhalation of lead (Pb) in outdoor air ( $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup> )
CAIR	=	outdoor air Pb concentration (0.057 µg/m³)
IRA	=	inhalation rate (8.3 m³/day)
RAFINH	=	relative absorption factor by inhalation (1; unitless, chemical-specific)
D1	=	hours per day exposed 24/24 hours (1; unitless)
D <sub>2</sub>	=	days per week exposed 7/7 days (1; unitless)
D <sub>3</sub>	=	weeks per year exposed 52/52 weeks (1; unitless)
BW	=	body weight (16.5 kg; toddler)

Non-Carcinogenic Exposures

 $EIVair = 0.077 ug/m3 \times 8.3 m3/day \times 1.0 \times 24 hr/24 hr \times 7 days/7 days \times 52 weeks/52 weeks/5$ 

16.5 kg

 $= 3.9 x 10^{-2} \mu g/kg bw/day$ 

Exposure to Pb via the inhalation of outdoor ambient air pathway was estimated as a dose for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood at  $2.9 \times 10^{-2} \mu g/kg$  bw/day. Inhalation risk from outdoor airborne Pb exposure was then estimated as a HQ according to the following equation:

 $EID_{toddler}$  (3.9 × 10<sup>-2</sup> µg/kg bw/day)

HQ = \_\_\_\_\_

Reference Dose  $(0.5 \,\mu g/kg \, bw/day)$ 



5

ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT

A HQ of 7.7 x  $10^{-2}$  was estimated for the toddler resident receptor in the Glennmerry neighbourhood exposed to the maximum concentration of Pb via inhalation of outdoor ambient air.

## C.8 Estimation of Risks from the Assessed Exposure Pathways

The total non-carcinogenic risk (i.e., the sum of the HQs) for a toddler residential exposed to lead (Pb) via the studied exposure pathways is presented below as the Hazard Index (HI):

Total HI for all pathways	= 2.0
HQ for inhalation of outdoor air	= 7.7 x 10 <sup>-2</sup>
HQ for inhalation of indoor dust	= 0.03
HQ for inhalation of soil particulate	= 1.2 x 10 <sup>-4</sup>
HQ for ingestion of dust	= 0.54
HQ for ingestion of soil	= 1.3

The central tendency total HI for a toddler receptor exposed to Pb in the Glennmerry neighbourhood via all studied exposure pathways is **2.0**.



ATKINSRÉALIS - DRAFT





#### AtkinsRéalis Canada Inc.

1300 - 3777 Kingsway Burnaby, BC V5H 3Z7 Canada 604.662.3555

atkinsrealis.com

© AtkinsRéalis Canada Inc. except where stated otherwise